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Consort Medical plc is  
a healthcare company 
focused on medical device 
technologies for drug  
delivery and management  
of patient airways.

Our Story
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Revenue from continuing 
operations (adjusted)* £m

Cash generated from 
continuing operations £m

Profit before tax before 
special items £m

Earnings per share 
(adjusted) Pence

Consort Medical plc at a glance

Financial Highlights 2009

Bespak

£81m
Revenue

Our Divisions Who we are Market overview

King Systems

£39m
Revenue

•  Leading drug delivery device 
manufacturer

•  Blue chip pharmaceutical  
customer base

•  High volume device manufacturer  
to FDA standards

•  High margins and good cash flow
•  Defensive markets and high  

barriers to entry
•  Manufactures 500m devices pa  

•  Current focus on devices for  
treatment of asthma and COPD

•  300m patients world wide, growing  
at 2-3% per annum

•  $14bn pharmaceutical market
•  Treatment by either Metered Dose 

Inhaler (MDI) or Dry Powder Inhaler (DPI)
•  Bespak is a leading supplier of both  

MDI and DPI technologies

•  Leading US manufacturer of disposable 
devices for the establishment and 
maintenance of airways 

•  Strong brand and reputation for 
premium quality 

•  Direct sales force for US market and 
distribution for overseas market

•  Manufactures over 17m devices pa 
from Indiana and Ohio facilities

•  $0.5bn market for anaesthesia  
medical devices

•  Strong growth in supraglottic  
airway and visualisation sectors

•  Lower regulatory requirements allow 
rapid introduction of new products
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United States

£46.6m

=36%

Europe

£72.5m

=56%

Rest of World

£10.8m

=8%

 2009 2008**

Revenue from products and services 119,843 114,109 
(adjusted)* £000

Profit before tax before special items £000 17,859 17,602
Earnings per share Pence
– basic 26.2 9.3
– adjusted 45.1 44.7
Cash generated from continuing operations £000 23,117 25,264

* Revenue from continuing operations has been adjusted to exclude income from Nektar (£44m over the five year period).  
No adjustment has been made to cash generated from operations or PBT before special items for the impact of Nektar.

Revenue

£120m

Adjusted basic 
earnings per share

45.1p

Profit before tax  
before special items

£18m

Cash generated from 
continuing operations

£23m

Key products Business highlights Looking forward

•  MDI: precision valves to deliver  
metered dose, actuators, dose  
counters and other services

•  DPI: design for mass manufacture  
and manufacture of DPI devices

•  Medical check valves for other  
medical devices

•  Achieved forecast revenues and earnings 
despite loss of major product in 2008

•  Increased capacity in valve manufacture
•  Commercial launch of a device  

services programme and a new  
development programme won

•  Extension to key customer contract, 
albeit at lower pricing

•  Dose counter enters patient clinical trials 
along with new valve technology

•  Investment in innovation team  
to drive long-term growth

•  Flattening MDI market but  
opportunities for growing share  
and expanding product offering

•  Continuing progress to commercialisation 
of multiple organic growth opportunities

•  Cost reduction programme to reduce 
costs and maintain earnings following 
contract renegotiation

•  Anaesthesia circuits and masks
•  Supraglottic airway devices
•  Disposable visualisation devices
•  Other related accessories

•  New CEO Don Dumoulin appointed
•  Robust sales in difficult markets
•  Launch of new laryngeal airway  

device and HME filter
•  Strong growth in international sales

•  Launch of three-year investment 
programme to automate and  
transform manufacturing operations, 
increasing business margins

•  Increased investment in R&D and 
product launch rate

•  Increased focus on international  
sales portfolio

Revenue by Destination

**Re-presented following the declassification of business held-for-sale
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Bespak is a leading drug delivery 
device company which currently 
focuses on the respiratory market.

King Systems is a leading US 
manufacturer of medical devices  
to establish and maintain airways.



Peter Fellner
Chairman
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Chairman’s Statement

n my first statement to you as Chairman, I am very pleased to 
report that the Company has delivered robust results for the last 
financial period, notwithstanding challenging market conditions. 

Consort Medical’s businesses possess strong franchises and 
profitable platforms, which will underpin a range of opportunities  
for organic growth over the medium term.

Good results in slower markets
The Group entered the last financial period still adjusting to the 
changes required following the loss of one of its largest products,  
the Exubera® delivery device for inhaled insulin. This followed Pfizer’s 
decision to withdraw the product from the market. An extensive  
cost reduction and site closure programme successfully delivered 
significant cost savings on time. As a result, I am pleased to report 
that Consort Medical exceeded its target of maintaining level 
earnings, and increased profit before tax and special items by  
1.5% to £17.9m. Profit after tax but before special items rose 3%  
to £13.0m and adjusted earnings per share increased by 1% to 
45.1p. Including special items, profit after tax rose 188% to £7.6m 
and earnings per share by 182% to 26.2p. These results were 
achieved in the face of difficult market conditions for both Divisions, 
with revenues from products and services down 5%. Like-for-like 
revenues increased 6.9%.

Bespak performed particularly well in a period of change,  
increasing margins from 15.1% to 16.6%, although operating profit 
before special items fell 6% to £13.5m due to the Exubera® impact. 
This was achieved despite a period of customer destocking in the 
second half and increasing pricing pressures. 

King Systems also had a challenging period and earnings fell  
slightly in dollar terms to $8.5m, reflecting a particularly weak first 
half. Second half trading was stronger, as previously forecast, and 
margins returned to historic levels. King Systems’ reported results 
benefited from the weakness of sterling last year, and operating 
profit before special items, hence rose 13% to £5.4m. 

Group cash flows continue to be strong, with an EBITDA of £22.0m 
(2008 re-presented: £21.1m), and net debt remains tightly managed, 
and is below 1 x EBITDA. This low leverage can be used to help us 
deliver our future growth plans.

New opportunities for value creation
The two Divisions have strong and profitable positions in defensive 
markets. However, these markets, within both the respiratory and 
anaesthesia sectors, are relatively mature, and we are therefore  
alert to opportunities to increase our share of the value chain in  
our current markets, and to utilise the strength of our businesses  
to expand them into higher growth areas.

The Bespak Division has exceptional capabilities in high-volume 
precision manufacture in tightly regulated markets. These 
capabilities can be leveraged into related healthcare segments,  
or can be supplemented by adjusting the business model over  
time to seek a larger part of the value chain. King Systems also  
has opportunities to broaden its product offering through its  
quality US sales force, and additionally to expand internationally. 

We have announced a restructuring and investment programme 
which is expected to protect margins in Bespak and significantly 
increase them in King Systems, through investments in automation 
and other efficiency measures. The exceptional cost of £8m  
will be taken over the next three years and, when complete,  
will deliver significant annual cost reductions of over £5m per  
annum in addition to other commercial benefits.

Board appointments
I was appointed Chairman on 1 May 2009, succeeding John 
Robinson who served as Consort Medical plc’s Chairman for  
the past five years. I would like, on behalf of the Board, to thank 
John for his outstanding leadership through some challenging 
periods in the Company’s development, particularly Exubera®.

George Kennedy CBE, already a non-executive director, was 
appointed Senior Independent Director and Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee on 1 May 2009. George has an 
outstanding record in the medical technology sector, and  
I welcome his new appointment.
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I am also pleased to welcome Dr William Jenkins following his 
recent appointment as a non-executive director. William has 
exceptional experience in pharmaceutical innovation and new 
product development. He was formerly Head of Worldwide Clinical 
Development and Regulatory Affairs for Novartis Pharma AG, and 
previously Head of Worldwide Clinical Research at Glaxo. William  
has joined the Remuneration and Nomination Committees.

In addition, in October 2008 we appointed Toby Woolrych as Group 
Finance Director. Toby has wide and relevant experience with Acta 
SpA and Johnson Matthey plc, and I welcome him to the Board.

Outlook
The Group’s strong cashflows and balance sheet mean that 
Consort Medical is well positioned not only to withstand a 
recession but also to be able to invest in new organic or acquisition 
opportunities which may become available. Market conditions, 
particularly in North America, remain challenging but new product 
flow and cost reductions throughout the organisation will assist  
in achieving growth in the coming years.

Finally, I would like to pay tribute to the loyalty and determination  
of our workforce, who deliver hundreds of millions of products of 
exceptional quality that daily enhance and save lives all over the 
world. I would also like to thank our shareholders for their continued 
commitment to, and support for, the Company during a period  
of significant change, notwithstanding uncertain global markets,  
and a demanding business environment.

Peter Fellner
Chairman
23 June 2009
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I am very pleased to report that the 
Company has delivered robust results  
for the last financial period.

•  Robust financial performance

•  Strengthened management team

•  Strong balance sheet and cash flows

•  Restructuring programme to transform 
King Systems manufacturing and 
protect margins in Bespak

•  Strategy for growth and diversification



Jonathan Glenn
Chief Executive

onsort Medical is a leader in the markets in which it operates 
and we are very proud that what we do has a direct impact 
on the lives of millions of people every day. As a Group  

we handle over seven million components every day. Annually,  
we produce over 500 million devices for our customers. All this  
is done to exacting standards and requires an expertise that has 
taken years to develop. Our Bespak Division is celebrating its  
50th anniversary this year, having been founded in 1959.

Consort Medical has good defensive characteristics that allow us to 
weather this unprecedented global economic environment. Together 
with low borrowings and high cash generation, we believe that we 
have a platform from which to leverage significant shareholder value. 

Strategic review
Notwithstanding this strong base, over the past decade the Group  
has struggled to deliver sustained growth – and the withdrawal of 
the Exubera® drug and our device from the market highlighted the 
risks of seeking growth from a narrow platform of opportunity.  
The acquisition of King Systems was the start of a programme of 
diversification and we must build on this to deliver an adequate  
return to our shareholders.

During the past period we have strengthened the management team 
across the Group and spent time defining the strategy of the Group 
and the Divisions going forward.

Management team
Peter Fellner has highlighted the addition of Toby Woolrych to the 
Board in October as Group Finance Director. The executive team 
was also strengthened with the appointment of Lisa King as Group 
Director of HR. Lisa has over 20 years’ of experience in HR with 
large companies including Prudential and UCB. In October Don 
Dumoulin joined us as Chief Executive Officer, King Systems 
Division. Don previously worked for leading healthcare companies, 
running Roche’s North American diabetes business and holding 
senior sales and marketing roles with SmithKline Beecham and 
Procter & Gamble. In January, Joe Barry was appointed Managing 
Director Bespak Division, having previously run the King Systems 
international business and delivered significant growth in this 
business segment in a short period. Joe previously gained  
broad multinational experience in a wide range of roles at GE,  
Dow Chemical and US Can. 

Strategy
Consort Medical plc is a healthcare company focused on  
medical device technologies for drug delivery and management  
of patient airways. Our strategy moving forward is to build and 
strengthen our core business through new product innovation, 
increased market reach and higher value business models. We will 
diversify the Group into adjacent markets and technologies which 
leverage our competencies in drug delivery. We will also continue 
aggressively to manage costs, to maintain and increase margins  
in the current challenging economic environment, whilst not losing 
sight of the fact that we must deliver sales growth in the longer 
term in order to successfully grow the business and provide an 
adequate return to our shareholders. 

Review of the period
Very few, if any, businesses are immune from the current global 
economic difficulties and we have encountered increasingly 
challenging conditions, including increased price pressure, a 
reduction in US surgeries (particularly in elective surgery), and both 
customer and patient destocking in both divisions. In response, we 
have continued to take cost out of the business, but ensured that 
we have increased our investment where necessary so that when 
the markets start to recover we will be well positioned to capitalise 
on the opportunities this will present. 

We are laying the foundations for growth by investing our strong 
cash flow in additional innovation, product development and 
targeting of new markets. King Systems will significantly increase 
its R&D expenditure in 2009/10 and will rapidly increase its rate of 
new product introduction. Bespak has several important products 
entering Phase III clinical trials or final customer trials and we are 
confident that they will deliver new opportunities for growth.

The period ended 30 April 2009 was a successful one: we delivered 
an increase in adjusted earnings despite the loss of the Exubera® 
contract and a deteriorating market environment. We have achieved 
results in line with the market’s expectations whilst successfully 
maintaining a strong balance sheet, with both cash and borrowing 
facilities available for investment in growth opportunities.

The Bespak Division achieved its financial targets and maintained  
its valve business in an environment of some destocking. Two  
new valves entered late-stage trials with customers and the dose 
counter has also entered clinical trials with a significant customer. 

Chief Executive’s Statement

Consort Medical plc Annual Report & Accounts 200904
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Device services revenues were strong, with one new (second 
source) product being launched and one significant development 
programme being won with one of the world’s largest pharma 
companies. The portfolio of programmes remains at four, as one  
of our customers decided to discontinue a programme for their 
own strategic reasons. We also renewed a major manufacturing 
contract for some years, albeit on inferior terms. We are addressing 
the margin drop through cost and manufacturing efficiencies.

King Systems had a difficult first half, but recovered in the second  
half with improving circuit sales and reducing material costs. A 
fundamental investment in R&D and marketing is expected to  
underpin a robust sales performance in very difficult current 
markets and position the business well for growth thereafter.

Our business is not just about fiscal strength. The Group takes  
its corporate responsibilities very seriously. We are proud that our 
products help so many tens of millions of people around the world  
and our people are determined that they should have the highest 
quality products. We seek to be responsible employers and have 
taken numerous steps to enhance and protect our workforce. We 
remain committed to our communities and the environment and  
the new Corporate Responsibility Committee (chaired by one of  
our non-executive directors, Jim Dick) reports its progress later  
in the Annual Report.

Looking forward
We are pleased to announce our major restructuring and investment 
programme, which will protect and enhance the profitability of  
both Divisions. The cornerstone of this programme is an extensive 
investment in King Systems over the next three years to reduce  
cost and increase capacity and quality. This programme has the 
capability to transform the manufacturing costs of King Systems  
and to increase capacity and improve quality.

The market in 2009/10 will continue to be challenging. Pharmaceutical 
customers seek to reduce cost and inventory in their supply chains 
where possible and we expect the hospital environment in the US  
to continue to be challenging. We anticipate that the coming year will 
see further progress towards launch for a number of Bespak’s new 
products, but we have not forecast significant revenue from them 
before the end of 2010. The shorter regulatory timescales that King 
Systems operates under allow for a quicker development cycle and 
we anticipate a number of new product launches in the coming years.
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In summary
We now have the team and the strategy in place to take the business 
forward to the next stage of its evolution. As a Group we must 
diversify: we have a solid platform to build on, but the Bespak 
business is relatively mature. Bespak will protect and grow its current 
business with delivery of our emerging market valve, primeless valve, 
dose counter and device service programmes. It will also explore 
opportunities to enter higher-value business models. King Systems 
will increase the product offering, both in the US and internationally. 
This will be through a combination of organic innovation, product 
licensing and acquisition and company acquisitions.

Consort Medical plc, as a Group, will seek to diversify into adjacent 
markets and technologies which leverage our competencies in  
drug delivery and device technologies and provide the potential  
for even greater return for our shareholders.

Jonathan Glenn
Chief Executive
23 June 2009

We are laying the foundations for growth  
by investing our strong cash flow in 
additional innovation, product development 
and targeting of new markets.



espak is a leading drug delivery device manufacturer 
which has many of the world’s top pharmaceutical 
companies as its largest customers. It currently focuses 

on the inhalation market, with devices used to treat asthma 
and COPD (Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease). Over 
300 million people world wide have been diagnosed with 
these diseases and Bespak devices deliver around one third 
of their medication. Bespak moulds or sources over 3bn parts 
a year in making 500m units, from valves and actuators to 
complete devices. In January 2009 Joe Barry was appointed 
as Managing Director of Bespak. Joe had previously delivered 
success within Bespak’s medical check valve business and 
subsequently in driving strong international growth for King 
Systems. He has broad operational and commercial 
experience gained at companies such as GE.

Operating Review
 Bespak Division

a

a

DPI Market: 150-200m units

a: Bespak   25%

MDI Market: 450-500m units

a: Bespak  40%

Only Bespak is a major supplier of both MDI and DPI products

free
to
 be
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Strategy
Bespak is making progress in delivering the overall Group strategy, 
reducing costs and increasing efficiencies in mature segments of 
the business and investing in both organic and acquisitive growth 
opportunities. Bespak is increasing the breadth of its offering in the 
metered dose inhaler (MDI) market to consolidate its position as a 
market leader. This increased offering includes the development  
of new valve ranges, dose counters and other services.  It is also 
engaged with major pharmaceutical companies to develop new 
dry powder inhaler (DPI) technologies for mass manufacture.  
Bespak’s exceptional competences in high volume, high quality 
manufacturing and pharmaceutical regulatory compliance have to 
date been focused on the respiratory sector. However, we believe 
that strategically it makes sense to leverage this skill set by 
diversifying the Division into adjacent markets and technologies.

Review of the period 
Bespak performed strongly during 2008/09. Operating profit before 
special items for the period of £13.5m was just 6% below the prior 
period, despite the loss of Exubera®, one of its largest products, in 
the second half of 2007/08. Underlying revenue, excluding Exubera® 
and other discontinued products, remained flat at £81.2m, reflecting 
the final withdrawal of CFC propellant inhalers from the market and 
customer destocking due to the macroeconomic environment. 
Strong cost reduction initiatives, including the closure of the Milton 
Keynes site, meant that margins increased from 15.1% to 16.6%.

Valve Technology had a solid year in slower markets. Our valve 
customers have broadly maintained market share in the core US 
albuterol market despite increasing competition. Our valve capacity 
expansion programme was completed during the period and we 
now have capacity in place sufficient to meet our forecasts for the 
next five years. Device services continued to perform well, with 
revenue growing from £23.5m to £25.6m (excluding discontinued 
products). A new product for one of the world’s largest pharma 
companies was launched during the period, and this has the 
potential to generate mid-single digit millions of pounds in revenue.  
In March 2009 we announced that a major contract had been 
extended by a number of years. We are delighted to have secured 
the continuing commitment of this core customer, but the impact  
of the revised terms will place additional margin pressure on the 
business over the next two financial years. We will manage the 
impact of this through cost reduction and manufacturing efficiencies. 
During the period we also completed the construction of a new 
building to house one of our device services programmes, partnered 
with one of the world’s largest pharma companies, and were 
pleased to win a further development contract with another key 
global pharmaceutical customer. The device services portfolio 
remains at four, as one customer discontinued a programme  
for their own strategic reasons.

Delivering the growth strategy objectives
Bespak made good progress during the period with its novel  
dose counter technology for MDIs. We estimate that the world  
wide market for MDI inhalers is approximately 450-500m units  
per annum, of which approximately 100m units are in the US market. 
The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) is anticipating that existing 
inhaler systems will be fitted with a dose counter within the next few 
years. Furthermore, a number of pharmaceutical customers see the 
dose counter as a marketing advantage and are introducing them 
voluntarily in other markets. Bespak has dose counter projects  
with several customers. Good technical progress was made in the 
period and the first dose counters entered into clinical trials with  
a major customer. In order to meet increasing volumes for clinical 
trial activities, we have commissioned a pilot line for dose counters 
capable of meeting demand for the next two years. Our dose 
counter programmes are subject to the clinical timelines of our 
customers and inevitably some of our customers’ programmes 
have slipped during the period. New valve technologies have also 
seen encouraging progress. The primeless valve has entered into 
phase III clinical trials and samples of the emerging market valve 
are also on customer trial.

Delivering strategic cost objectives
In closing the Milton Keynes facility on time and on budget, the 
Bespak Division demonstrated its ability to deliver significant change 
without disruption to operations. The Milton Keynes closure saved  
the business over £7m last year. Following the decision to retain  
and integrate IAC Ltd, a critical component manufacturer in our  
valve supply chain, in December, Bespak additionally took out 
significant cost and made good progress in reducing operating 
losses. The ongoing continuous improvement manufacturing 
efficiency programme again delivered savings of over £0.7m  
for the Division.

Looking forward: innovation
Bespak already has a broad portfolio of organic growth 
opportunities, but the strategic intent is to expand this further.  
To that end, we are aligning resources from maturing programmes 
to support our objective for increasing innovation in new device 
areas. This will include the establishment of a small innovations 
group whose task will be the accelerated development of novel 
concepts for both the respiratory market and related areas.  
Further progress is anticipated with new valve, device and  
dose counter technologies.

As part of the programme, Bespak has instigated a restructuring  
to ensure that the business efficiently weathers the current global 
economic environment and also that it is positioned for the upturn 
when it comes. The savings from this programme are expected to 
largely offset the margin pressures experienced by the Division and 
will allow continued investment in R&D and new commercial activities. 

Operating Review
 Bespak Division

Bespak is increasing the breadth of its 
offering in the metered dose inhaler  
(MDI) market to consolidate its position  
as a market leader.
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Asthma and COPD  
affect over 300m people  
world wide. Diagnosis is 
increasing at around 2% per 
annum in the developed 
world but over 15% per 
annum in the emerging 
markets. The treatment  
of these diseases is long 
term: often over 60 years 
for an asthma patient  
and five to ten years  
for a COPD patient. 

Two principal device 
technologies are used to 
treat asthma/COPD: the 
pressurised Metered Dose 
Inhaler (MDI) or the Dry 
Powder Inhaler (DPI). 
Around 70% by volume  
of the market is MDI. The 
MDI can be broken down 
into its component pieces: 
drug, can, actuator and 
valve. New MDIs will also 
have a dose counter. The 
valve is the technical heart 
of the MDI because it has  
to withstand pressurised 
conditions for several  
years and yet still deliver  
an identical metered  
dose from the first to  
the last shot.

Bespak is the world’s 
leading manufacturer  
of MDI valves, with an 
estimated market share  
of 40%. Its valves are  
used on a wide range of 
marketed products and  
are in development with a 
further 50 trials, including 
important new primeless 
valve and emerging market 
technologies. Bespak 
additionally manufactures 
actuators and has a leading 
technology in the embryonic 
dose counter market. All its 
MDI products are proprietary 
technology with extensive 
IP protection. Since the 
products are also cited  
in clinical trials, there are 
significant regulatory 
barriers to entry.

Bespak also works  
with the world’s leading 
pharmaceutical companies 
on DPI technologies and 
has been a major supplier 
of the GSK Diskus® device 
over the past decade. 

Combined, around a third 
of the world’s asthmatics 
are believed to use a 
Bespak device to enjoy 
continued good health.

Above  MDI with dose counter

Top left  Medical check valves

Top right  Diskus dry powder inhaler
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Market background

Treating asthma and COPD

 Bespak Division
•  Delivered £13.5m operating profit before 
special items in difficult markets

• Strong cash generation

•  Dose counters and new valves enter 
clinical trials

• Key device services contract extended

•  New device services development 
contract won

•  Significant cost reductions in current 
period and further planned efficiencies



ing Systems is a leading US manufacturer of medical 
devices used by anaesthetists and emergency 
practitioners to establish, manage and maintain 

airways: our products are used in over 10m operations  
every year. Products include anaesthesia circuits, masks, 
breathing bags, laryngeal tubes and visualisation devices. 
King Systems is one of the market leaders in the US, serving 
the market with its own direct sales force. International sales 
are driven through a growing network of distributors. The 
business is headquartered near Indianapolis, Indiana and 
employs over 500 people. As previously mentioned, during 
the year we appointed Don Dumoulin as King Systems Chief 
Executive Officer. Don has a strong record of achievement  
at Procter & Gamble, SmithKline Beecham and Roche.  
He has outlined an exciting strategy for growth based  
on a targeted investment programme.

Operating Review
 King Systems Division

d

e

a

b

c

Breakdown of $340m US 
anaesthesia products market 

a: Circuits 19%
b: Masks 7%
c: Airways 25%
d: Filters 10%
e: Other 39%

breath
of
life
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Montgomery Harrison,  
DO, board certified  
pediatric anesthesiologist  
and Director of Pediatric 
Anesthesia Specialists at 
Peyton Manning Children’s 
Hospital at St. Vincent’s 
Hospital in Indianapolis, IN

Every day I provide anaesthesia 
care for paediatric and 
neonatal patients. Depending 
on the complexity of the case, 
I can provide care to as many 
as ten or more patients a day; 
ranging from general surgery 
to cardiovascular procedures. 

The safety of my paediatric 
patients is most important  
to me and is always my 
primary goal.

Being completely reliant  
on the tools that I use, I  
feel good knowing that  
King Systems’ paediatric 
products have been designed 
specifically for the anatomy 
of infants and children. King 
Systems’ focus on forward-
thinking and high-quality 
products is excellent and I 
trust using their circuits, masks, 
and airway devices on even 
my smallest patients.

11
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Strategy
King Systems intends to continue growing revenue through the 
rapid introduction of new products through the existing sales 
channels and an increasing focus on supplying an enhanced 
product portfolio that addresses the specific nuances of different 
international market places in order to accelerate international  
sales growth. In order to drive this growth, King Systems will invest 
in improved and automated manufacturing processes to provide 
increased capacity using a smaller footprint and at a lower unit 
cost. Some of these savings will flow directly to the bottom line, 
with some of the savings being invested in increased R&D and 
marketing spend. Growth is expected over the medium term  
from three key current areas of the business: breathing circuits  
and masks, supraglottic airway devices and disposable airway 
visualisation products and this will be supplemented by selective 
product, technology and business acquisitions.

Review of the period
The strengthening of the dollar over the period means that operating 
profit before special items increased in sterling terms by 13%  
to £5.4m. Nonetheless, King Systems endured a difficult period, 
particularly in the first half when high oil prices, a minor product 
recall and the restructure of the organisation all contributed to a  
fall in margin. As expected, the business returned to historic margin 
levels in the second half but for the financial period recorded a fall  
in US dollar profits from $9.6m to $8.5m. 

Total sales grew by 1% at constant exchange rates (23% at actual 
exchange rates) in a market that is believed to have contracted,  
at least temporarily, due to the current global economic crisis.  
The patented Universal Flex2 circuit product recovered strongly 
from the impact of the first half recall to show strong growth  
over the period and achieved record volumes in the second half. 
Mask sales remained consistent and there was strong growth, 
from a low base, in the Company’s unique laryngeal tube devices. 
International sales grew by 6% in the period, rising to a total of  
11% of King Systems’ sales, with particularly strong growth in  
sales in Europe, up 15%. 

Division margins were reduced to 8% in the first half but recovered 
to historic levels of >14% in the second half. Material costs in 
particular rose sharply during 2008 but fell back to 2007 levels  
by the period end.

Delivering the growth strategy objectives
During the period King Systems has launched new products.  
The King Systems Laryngeal Airway Device (LAD) was launched  
in November, along with three variants of the AIRTRAQ® disposable 
visualisation system. In March the company launched its own HME 
filter in order to bring an important product line in-house. However, 
the new product development and launch have been slower than  
we would have liked. To address this, we are investing more heavily 
in product innovation and recruiting a new Director of Product 
Development who will be given challenging deliverables for new 
product delivery. Internationally, King Systems has continued to 
expand into new markets via distribution agreements in China, 
Turkey and Egypt.

Delivering strategic cost objectives
King Systems has an active continuous improvement programme 
which last period saved nearly $1m. Improved sourcing capabilities 
were put in place that are expected to save over $0.5m next period. 
The most important activity has been the detailed manufacturing 
strategic review which has been concluded in the period and which  
is expected to deliver significant benefits over the next three years  
as part of the programme.  

Looking forward: innovation
King Systems has a broad range of organic growth opportunities 
through product range enhancement and international growth. King 
Systems is making major investments in enhanced commercial and 
technical innovation. The sales force will be expanded and retrained 
with new commercial tools. Investment in product development  
is budgeted to increase to more than double the investment in the 
prior financial period, producing a range of new products that are 
targeted for launch over the next 24 months. These will include 
products designed for the international markets, range extensions  
to existing products and new innovative offerings in the airway 
management market.

Looking forward: manufacturing transformation
The manufacturing strategic review at King Systems has identified 
an extensive three-year programme of investment in automation 
that will revolutionise the business’s operational capability. Over 
three years the business will automate its key assembly operations, 
allowing King Systems to simultaneously reduce headcount, 
increase capacity, improve quality, lower lead times and generate 
cost savings that will fund investment to open new market segments 
and protect existing ones. Once complete, the investment will  
save over £3.5m ($5.3m) of cost per annum and King System’s 
margins are forecast to rise from the current 14% by at least three 
percentage points.

Operating Review
 King Systems Division

King Systems has identified an extensive 
three-year programme of investment in 
automation that will revolutionise the 
business’s operational capability.
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Above  Airtraq visualisation device

Top left  King Systems’ market leading ‘Big Blue mask’

Top right  King Systems’ patented Flex2 circuit

King Systems is a leading 
manufacturer of disposable 
products used to establish 
and maintain patient airways. 
The market is broken out into 
the following segments:

Circuits: Anaesthesia 
circuits supply the patient 
with anaesthetic gasses 
during procedures. Circuits 
can be two limb (one tube  
for inhalation and one for 
exhalation) or single limb 
(where the inhalation tube 
runs inside the exhalation 
tube). King Systems was  
a leader in launching the 
single limb circuit and  
now markets the patented 
Universal Flex2 product, 
which offers operational 
and patient benefits.

Masks: Face masks are  
used widely during surgical 
procedures, especially when 
placing a patient under 
anaesthetic. Masks are 
increasingly a commoditised 
item, but King Systems  
has been successful in 
maintaining both market 
share and premium pricing 
for its ‘Big Blue mask’ and 
range of paediatric masks.

Filters: A range of filters are 
used alongside circuits to 
conserve heat and moisture 
and prevent the spread of 
germs. King Systems has  
a niche position in the filter 
market but has recently 
launched a new HME Filter. 

Airways: In longer 
procedures, anaesthetic 
gasses will be supplied  
to the patient directly into  
the trachea. Endotracheal 
tubes pass through the 
vocal cords, but increasingly 
for shorter operations, 
anaesthetists prefer to  
use supraglottic devices  
(or laryngeal tubes) which 
instead supply gasses to  
the lungs by sealing the 
oesophagus. These latter 
devices can also be used  
in emergency situations to 
quickly and safely establish 
an airway. King Systems  
has launched an LAD to 
match the current industry 
standard, but has additionally 
launched the Laryngeal Tube  
Device (LTD) which offers 
additional patient benefits 
and performance.

Other: Other products 
include a wide range  
of accessories, such as 
breathing bags. They  
also include a range of 
visualisation devices that 
allow anaesthetists to see 
where they are placing 
endotracheal tubes. King 
Systems markets a unique 
disposable visualisation 
device, the AIRTRAQ®, which 
competes with expensive 
capital alternatives.

 King Systems Division
• Sales grow 1% in difficult markets

• Strong growth in international sales

•  Strong growth in core Flex2 and 
laryngeal tube products

•  Appointment of Don Dumoulin 
as Chief Executive Officer

•  Investment in three-year automation 
programme to increase margins

Market overview

Anaesthesia products  
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Finance Review

Consort Medical plc had a successful period ended 30 April 2009, 
delivering its forecast earnings and completing a major restructuring 
on time and on budget following the withdrawal of Pfizer’s Exubera® 
drug from the market. The Group operates in defensive markets with 
resilient end customer demand and it further benefits from a strong 
balance sheet and cash flows. Nonetheless, no market is completely 
immune from these exceptional economic conditions and volumes 
and margins in some parts of the business have come under 
moderate pressure. We continue to take action on costs in order  
to largely mitigate these pressures. Additionally, we are pleased to 
announce a three-year restructuring and investment programme to 
increase margins in both Divisions, most particularly in King Systems 
where an extensive automation project is expected to yield compelling 
returns. This period we have consolidated the results of IAC Ltd, a 
subsidiary which was previously accounted for as an asset held for 
sale, and we have re-presented the prior period income statement 
comparatives. The impact of this is disclosed separately below.

Income statement
Revenue from products and services in 2008/09 fell by 5.2% to 
£120.3m (2008 re-presented: £126.9m) as expected. The reduction 
was entirely due to the loss of Exubera®. Revenue excluding 
discontinued products in Bespak grew by 0.4% to £81.2m and 
revenue in King Systems grew by 23.4% to £39.4m (1% at constant 
exchange rate (CER)).  

Operating profit (before special items) fell 1% to £18.9m in line with 
expectations. Bespak contributed an operating profit of £13.5m,  
an operating margin of 16.6%, significantly up from 15.1% last year. 
Excluding IAC Ltd the operating margin was 18.7% (2008: 16.1%), 
slightly ahead of expectations. King Systems contributed an operating 
profit of £5.4m, with an operating margin of 13.7% (2008: 14.9%).  
The lower margin was a result of higher material costs, a minor product 
recall and the termination costs of the Chief Executive Officer, which 
were incurred mainly in the first half.

Profit before tax and special items increased 1.5% to £17.9m (2008 
re-presented: £17.6m) and was in line with expectations. Finance 
income increased to £0.8m (2008 re-presented: £0.7m), with cash 
deposits being locked in at high interest rates for most of the financial 
period. Finance expenses fell to £1.5m (2008 re-presented: £1.9m) as 
lower interest rates on the Group’s dollar borrowings more than offset 
the adverse translation effect. Other finance expense represented the 
non-cash IAS 19 pension charge arising from the Company’s pension 
deficit, which is expected to rise again in 2009/10 as a result of an 
increasing deficit. Losses from associates reduced to £0.1m (2008 
re-presented: £0.4m) following the decision to close Emergent 
Respiratory Products (ERP). 

Profit before tax of £12.0m was 186% up on £4.2m in the prior period.
Profit after tax of special items and special items increased by 188% to 
£7.6m. Basic earnings per share therefore increased by 182% to 26.2p 
and adjusted basic earnings per share increased by 1% to 45.1p.

Profit after tax but before special items increased by 3% to £13.0m 
(2008: £12.7m). 

Taxation
Tax of £4.4m included a £1.4m charge relating to the abolition of 
Industrial Buildings Allowances, a non-cash adjustment. The underlying 
tax of £4.8m reflected a rate of 27.1% (2008: 27.9%). 

Dividend
The Board is recommending a maintained final dividend per share of 
12.1p (2008: 12.1p) such that the total dividend for the period amounts 
to 19.1p (2008: 19.1p). The final dividend will be paid on 23 October 
2009 to shareholders on the register on 25 September 2009. Dividend 
cover, based on earnings before special items, was 2.4 times (2008: 
2.3 times). At the 30 April 2009 share price of 390p this represented  
a yield of 4.9%.

Special items
Special items of £5.9m included £2.0m of continuing amortisation of 
intangible assets following the acquisition of King Systems in 2005 and 
£3.9m relating to the launch of the programme which is described in 
more detail below. 

The programme will remove significant amounts of costs from the 
business, is expected to deliver compelling returns and will position  
the Group to compete effectively in tougher markets. This three-year 
programme is centred on an extensive investment in automation of 
King Systems manufacturing but also includes restructuring costs in 
Bespak and IAC Ltd in response to changing market conditions and 
some non-cash impairments. In total the programme is expected to 
remove over £5m per annum of cost by 2011/12 for a total cash 
special item of £7.3m to be incurred over the next three years. The 
programme will deliver a wide range of benefits in addition to cost 
reduction: a capacity increase, improved quality, lower lead times  
and access to new potential markets for revenue growth. Capital 
expenditure on the automation programme will total around £6.6m  
over three years. This is not expected to lead to a significant increase  
in Group capital expenditure as Bespak’s capital needs are forecast  
to reduce. Non-cash items total £0.7m. The timing of expected costs 
and benefits are shown below:

Special charge Recognition period Cost reduction

Cash
Non- 
cash Total 08/09 09/10 10/11 09/10 10/11 11/12

7.3 0.7 8.0 3.9 1.9 2.2 1.2 3.3 5.3

King Systems automation
Throughout 2008/09 King Systems has been evaluating its 
manufacturing strategy in order to position the business for profitable 
growth in the coming years. The business is operating at close to 
capacity with highly manual processes so that incremental revenue is not 
as profitable as it could be. The inefficient use of space also means that 
the manufacturing facility is fully utilised. The investment programme will 
implement kanban assembly processes over the summer of 2009 which 
is expected to free up space for new equipment. Key manufacturing 
processes for circuits, masks and breathing bags are then to be 
automated over the next three years, with the first line being installed in 
Q1 2010. The non-cash items relate to the impairment of assets and 
inventory that will be affected by the programme. The cash items include 
redundancy and engineering costs. It is not possible to directly correlate 
cost reduction to anticipated earnings movements. However, it is 
believed that the programme will raise King Systems’ margins from  
a current level of 13.7% to a sustainable level >17%.

Bespak
The Bespak reorganisation costs have largely been incurred in Q1  
of the 2009/10 year in the integration of IAC Ltd and a programme  
of reorganisation which started in May 2009. The cost benefits are 
expected to allow Bespak to hold earnings level despite integration  



15Consort Medical plc Annual Report & Accounts 2009
F

in
a
n
c
ia

l S
ta

te
m

e
n
ts

G
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e

B
u
sin

e
ss R

e
v
ie

w

of the loss-making IAC Ltd and the impact of new terms from a key 
contract. The IAC Ltd non-cash item includes a write-back of the 
£2.4m impairment taken in 2008, offset by cash and non-cash 
impairments totalling £3.2m.

Other items
Other items includes a £1.3m non-cash impairment charge on  
the Milton Keynes property vacated by Bespak in July 2008. Poor 
commercial property market conditions make a sale unlikely in the  
near term, but the site continues to be marketed and represents an 
attractive opportunity for developers once confidence returns to the 
market. A final £0.1m charge was taken relating to the closure of ERP 
in April 2009. ERP was a business into which Consort Medical plc 
injected $3.1m of cash in April 2007 to secure a 51% stake, although 
control remained with the original board of directors and shareholders. 
Accordingly, it was accounted for as an associated undertaking. In the 
prior period accounts, the investment in ERP was impaired by £0.95m 
to a carrying value of £0.2m as market adoption of this new technology 
was proving lower than originally anticipated. In February 2009, with 
market conditions making it even harder to drive profitable growth, it 
was decided to wind up ERP in an orderly fashion. ERP ceased trading 
in April and a final impairment of £0.1m was taken to bring it to the net 
level of cash expected to be returned to shareholders upon liquidation.

Balance sheet
The Group continued to maintain a strong balance sheet, with over 
£19m of cash and net debt (£19m) of just 0.9 times EBITDA £22.0m. 
Gross assets increased in the period largely due to the translation 
benefit on King Systems’ US assets, offset by an increase in the 
translation of our US dollar borrowings. 

The pension deficit increased to £12.1m (2008: £7.8m) and is reviewed 
separately below.  

Following revaluation of the Milton Keynes site, the directors decided 
that it should be removed from being an asset held for sale. It has been 
transferred to the assets of Bespak Division where it will be maintained 
and used as an auxiliary warehouse until market conditions improve. 

Provisions fell from £5.7m at the beginning of the period to £4.2m at 30 
April 2009. The opening provisions included closure costs for the Milton 
Keynes facility which was completed on budget during the period.

Consolidation of IAC Ltd
As described above, the directors decided to retain IAC Ltd as an 
efficient sale process was not possible in the current environment. IAC 
Ltd was a loss-making manufacturer of key components for Bespak 
that the Group bought out of receivership in July 2007 in order to 
guarantee continuity of supply. Some investment was made to reduce 
losses in 2008/09 but further synergies are expected now that the 
business is to be integrated into Bespak. IAC Ltd contributed revenues 
of £6.6m (2008: £6.5m) and an operating loss before special costs of 
£0.4m (2008: profit £0.1m).

Cash flow, financing and liquidity
The Group’s Divisions are strongly cash-generative. EBITDA was 
£22.0m (re-presented 2008: £21.1m) and cash generated from 
continuing operations was £23.1m (re-presented 2008: £25.3m).  
The principal changes were decreases in receivables, in payables  
and in provisions. Capital expenditure of £8.4m was slightly below  
the previous period (2008: £8.6m). The majority of capital expenditure 
related to the completion of capacity expansion at Bespak. Future 
capital expenditure is expected to be mainly at King Systems to 
support the automation programme. Loan repayments totalled  

£4.3m (2008: £3.5m) and pension deficit payments £1.6m (2008: 
£1.7m). The Group’s borrowings are currently held in US dollars  
and qualify as an investment hedge against movements in the King 
Systems assets which they were used to acquire – hence all gains  
and losses are taken to exchange reserves within equity. At a constant 
currency, net debt fell by £3.6m to £10.1m (2008: £13.7m), but an 
adverse exchange impact on the closing debt of £8.8m led to the 
period end net debt of £18.9m.  Both loan repayments and interest  
are met by US dollar income from King Systems and Bespak. The 
Group has a revolver facility with the Royal Bank of Scotland for £40m 
or $55m, whichever is higher, against which $44m has been drawn. 
This facility expires on 31 December 2010. The Group has a further  
US dollar term loan of $12.25m with the Royal Bank of Scotland (RBS), 
which is being repaid in instalments to finish on 31 December 2010. 
We have not sought to refinance these facilities as the interest payable 
on the revolver facility is advantageous to the rates currently available 
and we are confident that these levels of borrowing can be comfortably 
renegotiated nearer the time. The Group additionally maintains levels  
of sterling cash sufficient to meet tax and dividend obligations and to 
be a reserve in case of an adverse event. These funds are invested  
with a range of reputable financial institutions approved by the Board.

Gearing at 30 April 2009 was 20% (2008: 16%) and the Group 
remains comfortably within both its headroom and its covenants. 
Taking into account the cash balances available, the total headroom 
at the period end was £32m (2008: £39.7m).

Foreign currency
The Group monitors its foreign currency exposures carefully and  
seeks to mitigate all material transactional exposures. The Group 
currently has low exposure to movements in the euro and only a 
modest exposure to US dollar movements. Where necessary we  
buy or sell forward currency to protect current period transactions. 
The Group has a translational exposure with its King Systems  
Division which is to some extent mitigated by maintaining  
borrowings in US dollars.

Pension scheme
Bespak operates a defined benefit pension scheme in the UK that is 
closed to new employees, who are eligible to join a defined contribution 
pension scheme. As at 30 April 2009 the deficit was £12.1m compared 
with £7.8m as at 3 May 2008. This was principally a result of a fall in  
the value of the scheme’s assets in line with difficult investment market 
conditions. During the period the Company consulted with employees 
and has implemented changes to the scheme going forward. The 
Company will reduce its contributions to current service and increase 
its repayment of the deficit.

Risk management
The Group considers effective risk management to be a high priority. 
Specific risk management activities are reviewed on pages 20-21 of  
the Directors’ Report. In late 2008/09 particular attention was paid  
to business risks arising from the crisis in the financial markets. As a 
result, the Group invested its funds across a wider range of leading UK 
financial institutions. We took early delivery of capital equipment where 
we believed that there was risk of supplier failure and we increased a 
range of raw material inventories in order to mitigate any supply risk. 
We are pleased to report that the Group incurred no material financial 
or business losses.

Toby Woolrych
Group Finance Director
23 June 2009
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Corporate Responsibility Review

Consort Medical plc recognises the importance of the impact  
its businesses can have on the environment, its customers, 
shareholders, employees and society at large and focuses  
where appropriate on opportunities that can have a positive  
impact in these areas.  

We seek to uphold the highest standards of ethical and professional 
behaviour and are committed to ensuring that our business is 
managed and developed in a responsible and sustainable manner 
that is aligned to our business objectives. This commitment is driven 
by the belief that significant benefits can be realised for all of our 
stakeholders by pursuing a proactive and consistent corporate 
responsibility (CR) strategy. 

The CR Committee is chaired by non-executive director Jim Dick  
and comprises the Group Chief Executive, the Managing Director  
and Chief Executive Officer of the Bespak and King Systems Divisions 
respectively and three members of the Company’s executive team. 
The Committee meets quarterly, to define strategy, set targets, 
monitor progress against these and to report back to the Board  
on a quarterly basis.  

Over the past year the Committee has met on four occasions and  
can report good progress in regard to the Company’s CR strategy. 
CR teams have been established in the Company’s Divisions and 
audits and risk assessment reviews have been undertaken to identify 
opportunities for improvement and further development.  

The CR Committee is responsible for reviewing and prioritising with 
the Divisions’ new programmes and initiatives to align to the Group’s 
overall strategy.

Key objectives established by the CR Committee for the 
following year include:
•  Completion of CR audit risk assessments together with 

reinforcement of current good CR practices within the Company
•  Prioritisation of new opportunities along with the development 

of appropriate performance measures
•  Alignment of CR programmes with the execution of the 

business strategy
•  Broader communication of CR programmes to help further 

develop employee understanding and involvement
•  Development of key performance indicators (KPIs) 
•  Identification and prioritisation of future programmes for ongoing 

CR development

Over the last 12 months the Group has focused on a number  
of key areas including employee policy and involvement, the 
environment, health and safety and charity support and is able  
to report the following developments:

Employment policy and employee involvement
Consort Medical plc pursues employment policies designed to 
attract, retain, motivate and develop employee talent to ensure  
that the Group develops the skills and competencies needed to 
deliver sustainable, profitable growth. 

Our employees are proud to work for the Group and of the 
contribution our products and services make to improve the  
quality of millions of lives each year. We strive to create a working 
environment which fosters mutual respect and teamwork.

Employee wellbeing is a priority for our business. A healthy, positive 
work environment is key to our success.

From helping with problems, through setting stringent health  
and safety standards, to supporting employees in their efforts  
to live healthier lives, we’re constantly looking for ways to make 
Consort Medical plc a better place to work.

Key developments include:
•  Continued our commitment to the Apprenticeship Scheme 

which provides a four-year training programme for engineers, 
maintenance personnel and toolmakers sourced from schools  
and colleges in the local community

•  Rewrote people policies so that they are easy to read and to apply, 
and made them freely available to all via the intranet

•  Established a Group-wide communications strategy designed to 
provide more formal and informal ways of communicating with 
employees, from employee meetings to suggestion schemes.  
We aim to ensure that our communications reflect our mission, 
purpose and values with our employees

•  Actively promoted wellbeing with our employees through
various initiatives including free on-site health checks and healthy 
eating days

•  Provided bespoke development plans for employees including 
coaching, skills development and technical training

•  Introduced a Give As You Earn (GAYE) facility for employees 
to contribute to charity directly through payroll

•  Promoted our Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) 
– confidential advice available to employees

•  Actively encouraged employees to play a positive role within our 
local communities through supporting involvement and sponsorship 
of local charity activities and developing strong links with local 
schools and colleges through mentoring relationships 

The highest standards of workplace behaviour are expected from 
everyone in the team and workplace discrimination is never tolerated. 
There is a whistle-blowing policy in place whereby completely 
confidential disclosures can be made on matters where inappropriate 
behaviour might be observed.

Health and safety
The Company places particular emphasis on the health and safety  
of all its employees. The Company takes steps to minimise risk to 
human health from carrying out its operations, including risks to all 
those who may come into contact with the business or its products. 

Responsibility for safety in the workplace rests with everyone in the 
business, with strong leadership from the Group Chief Executive  
and management team through to the shop floor. All directors and 
managers who direct and resource the safety programme ensure  
that incidents resulting in injury, damage or business interruption are 
prevented or kept to a minimum. All incidents of ‘lost time’ accidents 
are reviewed personally by the Group Chief Executive and the general 
manager of that business Division. 
•  This year the senior management team, led by the Group Chief 

Executive, took a full day out from normal business to focus 
specifically on health and safety training and awareness across  
the Company

•  In the last year, the Bespak Division reduced the number of lost 
time and reportable incidents by 17% over the previous period

•  New metrics for collecting and reporting incidents in the King 
Systems Division were put in place this year
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Environment
Consort Medical plc operates within highly regulated product and 
market categories and its policy, as a minimum, is to comply with  
all relevant industry and Government regulatory requirements. The 
environmental impact of the Group’s activities is reviewed monthly  
by the Executive Committee. This group monitors the findings of  
the divisional health, Safety and Environmental Committees which 
also carry out regular monthly reviews. 

The Company seeks to mitigate any adverse effects upon the 
environment that its operations may have by engaging in initiatives 
targeted in the following areas. 

Reducing consumption of natural resources  
and minimising wastage
•  The application of Six Sigma across the Group continues to yield 

savings in materials and reductions in all forms of waste including 
energy, water and manufacturing intermediates 

•  All plastic scrap material from Bespak’s European manufacturing 
sites, including packaging waste, is recycled

•  Over 90% of material destined for landfill sites is sent via a waste 
transfer station so that missed recyclable materials can be removed 
and also all cardboard, wood, paper, metal and other plastics 
recycled at this stage

•  The Group has consistently reduced landfill waste from an average 
42 tonnes per month in 2007 to 34 tonnes per month  
in 2008. In 2009 a further 30% reduction was achieved,  
bringing the amount down to a monthly average of 24 tonnes  
per month 

Sourcing raw materials and power from renewable sources 
wherever economic and practical to do so
•  The Group encourages responsible raw material sourcing both 

directly in its own activities as well as indirectly through responsible 
supply chain selection and management of its supply base

•  In Europe, Bespak purchases its power from suppliers who use 
wind and hydropower to generate electricity. The Company and  
its employees continually seek to reduce energy use

Bespak continues to meet the corporate social responsibility inclusion 
criteria for the FTSE4Good Index which indicates the commitment of 
the Group to globally recognised corporate responsibility standards.

Charitable and community involvement
Consort Medical plc is committed to supporting charities related to 
the Group’s environment, patient groups and communities local to  
its businesses. Special consideration is made towards those causes 
working to improve the health, wellbeing and education of the 
communities where our employees are drawn from. 

The Company has just completed a review of its charities policy  
which will now focus on the following areas:
•  Initiatives aimed at improving respiratory treatment and care
•  Charities, organisations and events within the local communities 

in which our employees live and work (whether or not aligned 
specifically to our businesses)

•  Charitable causes that are aligned to health, health education 
and welfare, and medically related scientific research

Donations
•  The Bespak Division made donations to the West Norfolk branch 

of Breathe for Life, a local charity that supports sufferers of lung 
diseases such as asthma and COPD. In addition donations have 
been made to the King’s Lynn Festival, Norfolk Wildlife Trust and  
to a number of schools in and around King’s Lynn to support 
science education 

•  King Systems is an annual contributor to the Anesthesia Patient 
Safety Foundation (APSF), Foundation for Anesthesia Education  
and Research (FAER), and the Society for Pediatric Anesthesia 
(SPA), as well as numerous smaller community-based foundations 
throughout the United States 

•  Each year King Systems contributes to the Hamilton Centers 
Youth Service Bureau. This charity provides programmes to meet 
the physical, social, emotional, educational and self-discovery  
needs of the troubled and at risk youth and families of Hamilton 
County, as well as surrounding counties 

Support for charities
•  King Systems provides much-needed products for medical 

missions throughout the world. These missions repair childhood 
facial deformities, restore vision, and provide other life-saving 
surgeries to children and adults who would not otherwise have 
access to such treatments. Larger, well-known organisations 
include Operation Smile and Smile Network International 

•  King Systems’ employees donate to a number of recognised 
charitable organisations each year. Raffles of Easter baskets put 
together and donated by employees, $5.00 Jeans Days, Walk-a-
Thons and 50/50 drawings are all fundraising opportunities  
where employees join together to raise money for such charitable 
organisations as March of Dimes, American Heart Association  
and United Way 

Local community
•  For the fourth successive year the Bespak Division supported the 

Bespak Grand East Anglia Run. This 10km race around historic 
King’s Lynn continues to be popular with professional runners, 
wheelchair athletes and fun-runners of all abilities. It is a vehicle  
for many to raise money for charities. This year more than 30 
Consort Medical employees took part and raised significant  
sums for charities, including Breathe for Life

•  King Systems hosts blood drives on a regular basis for the Indiana 
Blood Bank. Allowing the Blood Bank to set up an area within the 
plant and giving employees time during the work day to donate 
provides the Blood Bank with numerous pints of blood that might 
not otherwise be donated
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Board of Directors

1  Dr Peter Fellner (65) 
Chairman

Dr Peter Fellner was appointed Chairman in May 2009, having served 
as a director since November 2005. He is also Chairman of Vernalis 
plc and Astex Therapeutics Ltd. In addition he serves as a director of 
QinetiQ Group plc, the global biopharmaceutical company UCB SA 
and the European biotechnology company, Evotec AG. Dr Fellner 
previously served as Chairman of Celltech Group plc from 2003 to 
July 2004, having been CEO from 1990 onwards. Before joining 
Celltech he was CEO of Roche UK from 1986 to 1990. More recently 
he served as Chairman of Acambis plc from 2006 until its acquisition 
by Sanofi Aventis in 2008, and of Premier Research Group plc from 
2007 to 2008, when it was acquired by a private-equity backed 
group. Peter is Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

2  Jonathan Glenn (40)
Chief Executive

Jonathan Glenn was appointed Chief Executive in December 
2007 and before that had been Group Finance Director since 
September 2006. Prior to joining Consort Medical plc, Jonathan 
was global Head of Finance at Celltech Group plc and later Chief 
Financial Officer of Akubio Ltd, a Cambridge-based developer  
of instrumentation for the life sciences industry. He is a member  
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. 
Jonathan is a member of the Nomination Committee.

3  Toby Woolrych (42)
Group Finance Director

Toby Woolrych was appointed as Group Finance Director in 
October 2008. He was previously Chief Financial Officer and Chief 
Operating Officer at Acta SpA, a renewable energy company. 
Having qualified as a chartered accountant with Arthur Andersen 
in 1992 he became Finance Director of Medicom International  
Ltd, a medical publishing company. In 1997, he joined Johnson 
Matthey plc, initially as Corporate Development Manager and 
subsequently as Division Finance Director and then Managing 
Director of a global speciality chemicals business unit.

4  Paul Boughton (53)
Executive Director 

Paul Boughton was appointed as an executive director in June 
2006, having served as Corporate Development Director since 
August 2005. Prior to joining the Company, Paul was Corporate 
Development Director and a member of the board at Spectris  
plc. He has also served as a non-executive director of London 
Bridge Software plc and of Raymarine plc. Paul has more than 
20 years’ financial and business development experience in high 
technology manufacturing.

5  George Kennedy CBE (68)
Non-Executive Director

George Kennedy was appointed as a non-executive director in 
August 2006. He is currently Chairman of E2v Technologies plc, 
Deputy Chairman of Vernalis plc and Chairman of Eschmann 
Limited. A former Chairman of Smiths Industries Medical Group, 
George also served as Chairman of the Trade Advisory Group for 
Africa and the Middle East. He is an ex-Chair and current President 
of the Association of British Healthcare Industries. George was 
awarded the CBE in 1997 for services to the healthcare industry. 
George is the Senior Independent Director, Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee 
and the Nomination Committee. 

6  Chris Banks (59)
Non-Executive Director

Chris Banks was appointed as a non-executive director in April 
2006. He was Finance Director at the BIS Group from 1985 to 1991 
and at CMG plc from 1992 to 2000. He is currently Chairman of  
the Audit Committee, the senior independent director of Innovation 
Group plc and a trustee of the Barbara Ward Children’s Foundation. 
He is a chartered accountant and a member of the Association of 
Corporate Treasurers. Chris chairs the Audit Committee and is a 
member of the Nomination Committee.

7  Jim Dick (56)
Non-Executive Director

Jim Dick was appointed as a non-executive director in April 2006, 
having served as President of Smith & Nephew plc’s Wound 
Management Division since 1999. He is Chairman of Cat. Zero,  
a not-for-profit organisation aimed at changing the lives of young 
people who are not in education, employment or training. He is also  
a member of the Council of the University of Hull, Yorkshire Innovation 
and the Management Board of the Hull York Medical School. He also 
consults for private equity. Jim is Chairman of the CR Committee and 
a member of the Remuneration, Audit and Nomination Committees.

8  Dr William Jenkins (61)
Non-Executive Director

Dr William Jenkins was appointed as a non-executive director in  
May 2009 and is principal of William Jenkins Pharma Consulting. 
He has been advising a wide range of Pharma and biotech 
companies and investment and venture capital firms in the 
healthcare sector since 1999. Formerly head of Worldwide Clinical 
and Regulatory Affairs for Novartis Pharma AG and having held 
similar positions with Ciba Geigy AG and Glaxo, he is a director  
of BTG plc, Eurand Pharmaceutical Holdings B.V., Monogram 
Biosciences Inc and Vaximm AG. William is a member of the 
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

 

PDMRs

Robert Allnutt* 
Company Secretary and General Counsel
Joe Barry*
Managing Director, Bespak Division
Don Dumoulin* 
Chief Executive Officer, King Systems Division
Chris Hall*
Commercial Director, Bespak Division

Lisa King*
Group Director of Human Resources
Phil Lever* 
Director of Strategic Planning and Marketing 
Colin Leeder
Group Financial Controller

*Member of the Executive Committee
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The directors of Consort Medical plc (the “Company”) present their 
report (the “Report”) and the audited financial statements of the 
Group for the period ended 30 April 2009. This Report has been 
approved by the Board and prepared by the Company Secretary, 
Robert Allnutt, who has signed it on the Board’s behalf.

The divisional Operating Reviews, and other content of this Annual 
Report have been prepared solely for the shareholders of the 
Company as a body. To the extent permitted by law the Company,  
its directors, officers and employees disclaim liability to any other 
persons in respect of the information contained in this Annual 
Report. Sections may include statements containing risks and 
uncertainties facing the Group, and other forward-looking 
statements, which by their nature involve uncertainty since future 
events and circumstances can cause results and developments to 
differ materially from those anticipated. The Company undertakes  
no obligation to update any forward-looking statements.

Principal activities of the Group 
The principal activities of the Group are the design, development and 
manufacture of specialty medical drug delivery devices and services 
to the pharmaceutical industry and disposable airway management 
products for critical care settings in hospitals. Our products include 
metered dose inhalers, dry powder devices, actuators, compliance 
aids, disposable facemasks, breathing circuits and laryngeal tubes.

The Group operates through two Divisions: Bespak Division  
and King Systems Division.

A review of the Group’s business can be found on pages six to 13.  
This review includes a balanced and comprehensive analysis of the 
development and performance of the business of the Group and  
a description of the main trends and factors likely to affect the future 
development, performance or position of the business at the end  
of the period, using key performance indicators where appropriate. 

Since 30 April 2009 there have been no important events relating  
to the Group or likely important future developments, other than  
the transformation programme described in the divisional Operating 
Reviews and the Finance Review.

Principal risks and uncertainties
The Group has identified the following factors as principal potential 
risks to the successful operation of the business and has identified 
the steps it takes to manage those risks:

Reliance upon key customers
The Group has a degree of reliance on key customers but continues 
to take steps to diversify its customer base. There are significant 
barriers to entry in terms of high-volume manufacture in a regulated 
environment and also in bespoke company intellectual property  
and know-how. Customers are unable to quickly transfer business 
between suppliers and are often committed by long-term contracts.

Financing risk
The Group’s principal borrowing facilities with RBS are due to expire in 
December 2010. The Group has regular discussions with both RBS 
and other leading banks and is comfortable that the Group’s relatively 
low gearing and defensive market mean that banks are willing to 
renew these facilities at the time of the Group’s choosing. Given that 
the existing facilities are at attractive rates compared with current 
borrowing costs, we have not entered into substantive further 
negotiations concerning their renegotiation at the current time.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s policy is to convert a portion of its floating rate debt  
into fixed rate using interest rate swaps (note 29). Interest rates  
are accordingly not considered to be a material risk to the Group.

Supply chain
The Group works in partnership with key suppliers to manage the 
risks of delay or interruptions to supply. Commercial risk registers 
identify key elements of the supply chain and put in place mitigating 
actions, including additional capacity and strategic stocks, to 
minimise the risk of delay or interruptions in supply. The business  
has a continuity plan in the event of disruption and generally has 
terms in supplier contracts to ensure continuity of supply. Some 
products are dual sourced.

Liquidity risk
The Group ensures that its margins are sufficient to exceed normal 
operating costs and its major operating subsidiaries are cash-
generative. The Group generated a net cash inflow from operating 
activities of £18.1m (2008: £20.4m). The Group also has low 
borrowing such that interest costs are covered many times over  
by its operating profits. The Group maintains headroom within  
its borrowing facilities, a substantial level of cash for immediate 
expenditure and operates well within its borrowing covenants.

Regulatory risk
The operations of the Group are subject to various regulatory 
requirements. A strong compliance regime is in force and regular 
reviews and audits take place, not only by regulatory authorities such 
as the FDA, but also by customers. The Bespak Division is ISO 13485 
accredited. The Group considers its long history of operating within  
a strong regulatory environment as a core competence and has 
dedicated teams to ensure compliance.

Development risk
The Group is developing a range of products at any time, including 
novel devices for customers, new anaesthesia products, new valves 
and a mechanical dose counter, any of which may fail in clinical trials. 
The Group follows rigorous processes and is developing the technology 
as a platform for multiple programmes to reduce the exposure to any 
individual trial. Development and industrialisation of medical devices is 
regarded as a core competence of the Group. Delay is the more likely 
outcome of a programme rather than outright failure.

Key employee retention
The Group’s employment policies and remuneration and benefits 
packages are designed to attract and retain key staff. There is also 
investment in training and development of staff to this end. Annual 
turnover of Bespak Division employees is historically low. The 
transformation programme is expected to reduce staff turnover  
and risk.

Pension risk
Among the Group’s pension schemes is a defined benefit scheme. The 
liability of the Company under this scheme is subject to risks associated 
with the value of investments and returns derived from the investments 
and also from increases in life expectancy. The Company works closely 
with the trustees of the defined benefit scheme to manage the volatility 
of liabilities and to spread risk from investments. It also makes regular 
payments into the scheme to reduce the pension deficit. Changes were 
made to the benefits provided by the defined benefit scheme for future 
service with effect from 1 May 2009 (note 23) which will reduce future 
volatility in the scheme.

Directors’ Report
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Business continuity
A major incident or an event such as a flu pandemic, fire or accident 
at its ethanol plant could impact upon the ability of the Group  
to operate. The Group has plans to maintain continuity in  
such circumstances.

Product development and research investment
The Group has a programme of continuous investment in its product 
development activities. During the period, the Group invested £3.5m 
(2008: £4.3m) in research and development expenditure. 

Financial risk management
The Group’s operations expose it to a variety of financial risks.
1.  Credit risk – the Group has implemented policies that require 

appropriate credit checks on potential customers before sales over 
a certain limit are agreed. Credit limits and outstanding receivables 
are reviewed monthly and action taken if a new risk is identified. 
The Group has an excellent record on collection of receivables.

2.  Interest rate risk – the Group is subject to interest rate risk on its 
revolving bank facility, the terms of which are reviewed by the 
Board on a regular basis. The Group’s policy is to convert a portion 
of its floating rate debt into fixed rate using interest rate swaps.  
The impact of a reasonably foreseeable rise in interest rates on 
existing borrowing would not be material.

3.  Currency risk – the Group is a sterling denominated Group that 
receives some of its income in US dollars. It has hedging 
agreements in place to minimise currency fluctuation. 

4.  Liquidity risk – the Group has strong cash flows and good earnings 
visibility ensures that its margins are sufficient to exceed normal 
operating costs and its major operating subsidiaries are cash-
generative. Current borrowing levels can comfortably be supported 
by forecast cash flows.

5.  Price risk – the Group is not materially exposed to commodity  
price risk. 

6.  Cash-flow risk – the major operating subsidiaries are  
cash-generative.

More information on financial instruments is given in note 29  
to the accounts.

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining the Group’s 
system of internal controls and for reviewing the effectiveness of these 
controls. Internal control systems are designed to meet the particular 
needs of the Group and the risks to which it is exposed. By their 
nature, internal control systems are designed to manage rather than 
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can 
provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

In accordance with the Turnbull Guidance (2005) the Board has 
reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal systems of control 
as they have been operated within the period. It receives regular 
reports on areas of any significant risk and on related internal controls. 
The Board reviews the framework of internal controls annually.

The Board is satisfied that the Group operates under a system  
of control that includes but is not limited to:
•  Defined organisational structure
•  Appropriate delegation of authority to operational management
•  Preparation of annual budgets
•  Preparation of monthly management accounts, with comparison 

to budgets, reforecasts and last year
•  Investment evaluation procedure for approval of capital expenditure, 

customer-funded projects and capital disposals
•  Self-certification by general management and/or financial 

management of compliance and control issues
•  Identification, evaluation and management of significant risks, 

which are regularly reviewed by the Divisional operating boards  
and the Board

•  Clear authority limits reserved for discussion by the Board

The Group operates under a system of processes that includes,  
but is not limited to:
•  Monthly meetings by the Executive Committee to discuss and 

review operating performance, significant risks and key issues
•  Regular reports by the Chief Executive and Group Finance Director 

of performance, significant risks and key issues

The Company does not have a dedicated internal audit function, 
although internal reviews are undertaken periodically by senior 
financial staff and an external review has been conducted of both 
Divisions within the past two years. The Audit Committee and the 
Board have considered the need for an internal audit function and 
concluded that it is appropriate, given the Group’s size and structure, 
for internal audit processes to be developed as the size and 
complexity of the Group increases.

Deloitte were appointed during the period to look at internal controls 
within the King Systems Division and to report on these to the Board. 
A list of areas for improvement was generated. The Board confirms 
that necessary actions will be taken to implement improvements 
identified from the Deloitte review.

The Group has a programme of commercial insurance covering key 
risks such as product liability, product recall and business interruption. 
The Group has taken steps to mitigate the potential effects of an 
influenza pandemic.

The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, has conducted its 
annual review of the effectiveness of the system of internal controls 
based on a review of significant risks identified, internal reviews, 
external audits and reports from management.
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Results and dividends
The financial key performance indicators are revenue, operating  
profit, profit before tax and special items, earnings per share (all 
before special items) and operating cash flow. The Company has 
made good progress on these as shown in the Financial Review  
and Accounts and the divisional Operating Reviews.

The profit before tax for the period ended 30 April 2009 was £12m 
(re-presented 2008: £4.2m).

The directors propose a final dividend for the period of 12.1p per share 
(2008: 12.1p per share) to be paid on 23 October 2009 to shareholders 
on the register at close of business on 25 September 2009. An interim 
dividend of 7.0p per share (2008: 7.0p) was paid on 20 February 2009, 
making a total dividend for the period of 19.1p per share (2008: 19.1p).

Directors
The names of the directors as at the date of this Report, together  
with brief biographical descriptions, appear on page18.

John Robinson resigned as Chairman and director with effect  
from 30 April 2009, having acted as Chairman and director of the 
Company until that date. Dr Peter Fellner was appointed Chairman 
of the Board of Directors with effect from 1 May 2009.

Toby Woolrych was appointed Group Finance Director of the 
Company on 1 October 2008. 

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, all directors 
who held office at the time of the preceding Annual General Meeting 
and who did not retire by rotation or pursuant to Article 99, shall retire 
from office by rotation; however, as between those persons who 
became or were last re-appointed on the same day, those to retire 
shall be determined by lot. In accordance with determination by lot, 
Peter Fellner, George Kennedy and Jim Dick seek re-election as 
directors and Toby Woolrych and William Jenkins seek election as 
directors at the Annual General Meeting. The explanatory notes to  
the Notice of Annual General Meeting, to be sent to shareholders 
separately, state why the Board believes these directors should  
be elected or re-elected.

Details of the unexpired terms of the service contracts and 
arrangements of the directors standing for election and re-election 
can be found in the Remuneration Report on pages 26 and 30. 

Directors’ remuneration
The Remuneration Report, which includes information regarding 
directors’ service contracts, appointment arrangements and interests 
in share options, can be found on pages 26 and 30.

Directors and their interests
The beneficial interests of the directors on 30 April 2009 (including 
the beneficial interests of their spouses, civil partners, children  
and step children) in the ordinary shares of the Company are  
shown below:

Directors’ Report
continued

              Shares                 Options Performance shares/SARs/SAYE

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

J Robinson 16,458 16,458 – – – –

P Boughton 29,296 19,000 – – 87,722 
Performance 

shares
1,541 SAYE

68,069 
Peformance 

shares
1,541 SAYE

J Glenn 10,742 5,800 – – 101,583 
Performance 

shares
1,718 SAYE

49,500 
Performance 

Shares
1,718 SAYE

J Dick 7,500 7,500 – – – –

G Kennedy 2,000 2,000 – – – –

C Banks 15,000 13,000 – – – –

P Fellner 4,000 4,000 – – – –

T Woolrych 6,945 – – – 37,789 
Performance 

shares

–

On 23 January 2009 Paul Boughton acquired 15,069 shares awarded under the Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP), of which he retained 9,013 at a market price of £4.918,  
realising a gain of £74,102.

SAYE = Save As You Earn employee share option scheme. These options are not subject to performance conditions as this is an all-employee share scheme governed  
by specific tax legislation.

Since 30 April 2009, no directors have acquired interests in the ordinary shares of the Company.

None of the directors had a material interest at any time during the period in any contract of significance, other than a service contract, with the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
Insurance cover is in force in respect of the personal liabilities which 
may be incurred by directors and officers of the Group in the course 
of their service with the Group. There are no other third party 
indemnity provisions.

Share capital and issue of ordinary shares
The authorised and issued share capital of the Company is set out  
in note 26 to the accounts on page 71. 225,795 ordinary shares  
were issued during the period.

Major shareholdings
The following interests in the share capital of the Company have  
been notified to the Company as they stood at 8 June 2009 (in 
accordance with Rule 5 of the Disclosure and Transparency Rules 
and Part 22 of the Companies Act 2006).

Shareholder

Number of shares  
in which shareholder  

has an interest

Interest in  
issued share  

capital (%)

Schroder Investment 
Management

5,324,408 18.40%

Kaupthing Bank as 
principal

2,301,692 7.95%

M & G Investment 
Management

1,753,129 6.06%

F&C Asset Management 1,573,813 5.44%

Legal & General 
Investment Management

1,195,583 4.13%

Montanaro Investment 
Managers

1,194,000 4.13%

Hermes Pensions 
Management

1,116,422 3.86%

Invesco Perpetual 1,072,064 3.70%

Aviva Investors 1,018,014 3.52%

Payment policy
It is the Group policy to agree payment terms individually with 
suppliers and to abide by these terms subject to satisfactory 
performance of the relevant transaction. The Group’s average  
creditor payment period at 30 April 2009 was 41 days (2008: 31 
days) and that of the Company was 30 days (2008: 34 days).

Employees
The Group is an equal opportunities employer. It is committed to 
giving fair and equal treatment to all employees and job applicants  
in terms of recruitment, pay conditions, promotions, training and all 
employment matters regardless of their race, sex, ethnic background 
or religious beliefs, sexual preference or disabilities. An equal 
opportunities policy is in force. The Group also believes that  
all employees have a right to work in an environment free from 
discrimination and bullying. 

The Group is committed to maximising the level of employee 
involvement in its business at all levels. Appropriate training is  
given to staff and comprehensive learning resources are available  
to all employees. The performance review system allows employees  
to discuss career opportunities and development and to review 
guidance on achieving their goals. In addition employees are 
encouraged, through sponsorship or a contribution to costs,  
to study for job-related qualifications.

The Group is committed to achieving the highest levels of quality.  
The Bespak Division operates to the internationally recognised  
quality standard ISO 9001/9002 and the medical device standard  
ISO 13485. Staff work within a defined quality system and are  
trained in ‘Good Manufacturing Practice’. 

The Group takes a proactive approach to consultation with 
employees on a variety of work-related issues through the use of 
consultative forums whose members are elected by staff. Briefings 
are given to staff to keep them informed of matters concerning  
the business, including financial and economic factors affecting  
Group performance.

The Group operates share option schemes, performance-related 
bonus schemes and the Company share incentive plan, which 
employees are encouraged to join.

Information about environmental, social and community matters is  
set out in the Corporate Responsibility Review on pages 16 and 17.

Disability policy
The Group gives full and fair consideration to applications for 
employment from disabled persons. Opportunities also exist for 
employees of the Group who become disabled to continue in  
their employment or to be considered for other open positions  
in the Group.

Whistle-blowing policy
The Company is committed to the highest standards of openness, 
integrity and accountability. The Group operates a whistle-blowing 
policy so that employees can report confidentially any matter giving 
rise to concerns about the operation of the Group’s business.
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Charitable and political contributions
During the period the Group made donations to charitable 
organisations of £15,304 (2008: £74,837). Of the total, £2,602 (2008: 
£21,438) was donated to local charities and community development 
programmes, £8,562 (2008: £50,826) to healthcare-related charities 
and £4,140 (2008: £2,573) to local educational establishments.

The Company’s policy is that no contribution or expenditure is  
made to or on behalf of any political party. No such contribution  
or expenditure was made during the period or the prior period.

Takeover directive
Significant agreements – change of control
There are a number of agreements that take effect or terminate upon 
a change of control of the Company following a takeover bid, such as 
bank loan agreements. None are deemed to be significant in terms  
of their potential impact on the business of the Group as a whole.

A change of control is deemed to have occurred if any person acting in 
concert (as defined in the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers) at any 
time is/are or become(s) interested in above 50% of the issued ordinary 
share capital of the Company carrying more than 50% of the voting 
rights normally exercisable at a general meeting of the Company.

Appointment and replacement of directors
The rules on appointment and replacement of directors can be found  
in the Articles of Association of the Company.

Amendment of Articles of Association
The details of the rules for amendment of the Articles of Association 
are set forth in the Company’s Articles.

Share capital and control
Details of the Company’s issued share capital are set out on page 71. 
All of the Company’s issued share capital comprises ordinary 10p 
shares which are fully paid up and rank equally in all respects.

The ordinary shares are listed on the Official List of the London Stock 
Exchange and on techMARK. In addition the Company has entered 
into a Level 1 American Depositary Receipt (ADR) programme with  
the Bank of New York Mellon, under which the Company’s shares  
are traded on the over-the-counter market in the form of American 
Depositary Shares (ADS).

During the period ended 30 April 2009, options were exercised 
pursuant to the Company’s share option schemes, resulting in the 
allotment of 225,795 new ordinary shares. No new ordinary shares 
have been allotted under these schemes since the end of the  
financial period and up to the date of this report.

Rights attaching to shares
The rights attaching to the Company’s ordinary shares, in addition  
to those conferred by law, are set out in the Company’s Articles of 
Association, copies of which can be obtained from Companies House 
in the UK or from the Company Secretary. The holders of ordinary 
shares are entitled to receive the Company’s reports and accounts,  
to attend and speak at general meetings of the Company, to appoint 
proxies and to exercise voting rights.

Transfers of shares
There are no restrictions on the transfer of ordinary shares or on the 
exercise of voting rights attached to them save where the Company 
has exercised its rights to suspend their voting rights or to prohibit 
their transfer following the omission of their holder or any person 
interested in them to provide the Company with information 
requested by it in accordance with Part 22 of the Companies Act 
2006 or where their holder is precluded from exercising voting rights 
by the Financial Services Authority Listing Rules or the City Code  
on Takeovers and Mergers.

Purchase of own shares
At the Annual General Meeting on 24 September 2008 shareholders 
approved a resolution of the Company permitting it to purchase  
its own shares to a maximum of 2,885,135 ordinary shares. This 
resolution remains valid until the conclusion of this year’s Annual 
General Meeting. As at 23 June 2009 the directors had not used  
this authority. A resolution will be proposed at this year’s Annual 
General Meeting to renew this authority.

Issue of shares
At the 2008 Annual General Meeting, shareholders approved a 
resolution to give the directors authority to allot shares up to an 
aggregate nominal value of £9,617,117. In addition, shareholders 
approved a resolution giving the directors a limited power to allot 
shares for cash in other circumstances. These resolutions remain  
valid until the conclusion of this year’s Annual General Meeting to 
renew these authorities.

Further explanation of the resolutions will be included with the  
Notice of Annual General Meeting which will be circulated to 
shareholders separately.

Share schemes
A description of the share schemes operated by the Company  
is set out in the Remuneration Report on page 26 to 30.

Disclosure of information to auditors
In the case of each director, so far as each is aware, there is no 
relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are 
unaware. Each director has taken all the steps he ought to have  
taken as a director in order to make himself aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors  
are aware of that information.

Annual General Meeting
The 2009 Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held  
at Breakspear Park, Hemel Hempstead on 16 September 2009  
at 2.00pm. Details of the resolutions to be proposed, together with 
the notice of meeting, are being sent to shareholders separately  
and will be posted on the Company’s website.

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP are the Company’s auditors and  
a resolution to re-appoint them and to authorise the directors to set  
their remuneration will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

Directors’ Report
continued
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report,  
the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements  
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements 
for each financial year. Under that law the directors have elected  
to prepare the Group and parent Company financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
as adopted by the European Union. Under company law the directors 
must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group  
and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. 

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
•  Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently
•  Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable 

and prudent
•  State whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union 

have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed 
and explained in the financial statements

•  Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless 
it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue  
in business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the Company and the Group and enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements and the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the 
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are 
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the 
Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the 
Company’s website. The work carried out by the auditors does not 
involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors 
accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred  
to the financial statements since they were initially presented on the 
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation 
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation  
in other jurisdictions.

Each of the directors, whose names and functions are listed  
on page 18 confirm that, to the best of their knowledge:
•  The Group financial statements, which have been prepared in 

accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, give a true and fair 
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the Group

•  The Directors’ Report and the divisional Operating Reviews found 
on pages six to 14 include a fair review of the development and 
performance of the business and the position of the Group, together 
with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces

 
By order of the Board
Robert Allnutt
Company Secretary
23 June 2009
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Remuneration Report

The Remuneration Report covers the remuneration of both executive 
and non-executive directors, and certain senior executives, for the 
period ended 30 April 2009. The Report will be subject to approval by 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 16 September 2009. 
The Report, which was prepared by the Company Secretary, has 
been approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by George 
Kennedy, the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

Unaudited information
The role of the Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee, which consists of independent 
directors, determines and agrees with the Board the framework and 
policy for the remuneration of the Chairman, the Chief Executive, the 
executive directors, the Company Secretary and other members of  
the senior executive management of the Company. It also determines 
the policy for, and scope of, pension arrangements and approves the 
design of performance-related pay schemes, sets the targets for such 
schemes, and approves payments under such schemes.

The Committee reviews the design of all share incentive plans for the 
approval of the Board and the shareholders. It determines each year 
whether awards will be made and if so, the overall amount of such 
awards, the individual awards to be made to executive directors and 
other senior executives, and the performance targets to be used.

The full terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are 
published on the Company’s website.

Membership 
The Remuneration Committee was chaired by Peter Fellner until  
30 April 2009 and from 1 May 2009 by George Kennedy. John 
Robinson and Jim Dick were members of the Remuneration 
Committee. John Robinson retired on 30 April 2009. Dr William 
Jenkins joined the Committee on 6 May 2009.

No Remuneration Committee member has any day-to-day 
involvement in the running of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee met four times during the course  
of the period, attended by all its members in each case. The Chief 
Executive, the Company Secretary and the HR Director attended 
some or all of the meetings. In addition, the Company sought advice 
from Eversheds, Hymans Robertson and Hewitt Associates Limited 
on a variety of matters including headroom and dilution, termination 
payments, salary and bonus levels, long-term incentive plans, the 
ShareSave scheme and pensions.

Policy on executive directors’ and senior  
executives’ remuneration
The Committee’s policy on remuneration for executive directors  
and senior executives is to ensure that the components and  
overall value of the Company package will:
•  Attract and retain executives of the highest quality
•  Motivate them to achieve performance levels consistent with 

the best interests of the shareholders
•  Reflect annual and long-term performance of the Company 

as measured against targets set by the Committee 
•  Be appropriate by comparison with the remuneration of other 

groups of employees within the Company

During the period the Committee has:
•  Reviewed the terms of reference of the Committee
•  Considered and approved salary and bonus recommendations 

for the Chief Executive, the new Group Finance Director and 
members of the Group Executive Committee

•  Reviewed and approved the termination arrangements including 
termination payments made to the former Chief Executive  
of King Systems and the former Company Secretary

•  Reviewed and approved share awards under the Company’s 
LTIP to senior executives

•  Approved the Company’s policy on SAYE and SIP issues
•  Approved proposals for operation of the Company’s 

Management Incentive Plan
•  Evaluated its own performance
•  Approved amendments to the Rules of the LTIP 
•  Approved a new US employee Share Purchase Plan
 
Components of executive directors’ remuneration
Base salary
The annual salary of each executive director is determined by the 
Committee and is reviewed with effect from 1 August each year. As 
part of the annual review, the competitive position of each executive’s 
base salary is assessed against the appropriate market rate.

Annual bonus
An annual bonus is payable to the executive directors, calculated by 
reference to the performance of the Company, as measured against 
targets agreed by the Committee.

In the 2008/09 financial period, the maximum potential payout  
was 100% of base salary (applicable only to the Chief Executive), 
thereafter the maximum payout was 75% of base salary. The  
bonus plan covers overall Company financial performance in relation 
to the Chief Executive, Group Finance Director and the Executive 
Committee and in relation to other executives also covers Divisional 
growth targets and the achievement of operational factors covering 
corporate and personal objectives and leadership behaviours. In 
such cases payout against the plan is designed to reward the 
financial factors at 80% and the operational factors at 20%. The 
financial targets include the achievement of budgeted operating 
profit, and a stretch target over growth in operating profit. 

The Committee’s policy in respect of bonuses for the 2009/10 
financial period is again to base awards on a mix of financial and 
operating objectives.

Long-term incentives
The Company’s LTIP scheme, introduced in 2005, with the inclusion 
of guidelines on senior executive shareholding requirements, aligns 
the interests of senior executives with those of shareholders on  
a long-term basis. The Company’s policy is to reinforce such 
alignment of interests by making regular LTIP awards subject to future 
financial performance and to promote employee ownership through 
its share schemes and share incentive plan. Since the introduction  
of the 2005 LTIP, no further awards have been made under any 
Executive Share Option Schemes.
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The principal elements of the LTIP are:
•  Executive Directors are expected to accumulate a shareholding 

equivalent to one times annual salary over a five-year period, and  
to maintain this level of shareholding. Other senior executives  
are expected to accumulate a lower level of shareholding over  
a similar timeframe

•  Performance conditions are Total Shareholder Return (TSR) 
and Earnings Per Share (EPS) growth at stretch target levels  
over a three-year timeframe  
EPS provides a clear line of sight for management to growth  
in shareholder value and TSR ensures that executives are 
appropriately aligned with the interest of shareholders

•  LTIP payouts will be in the form of shares, providing a means 
for senior executives to achieve shareholding goals through  
the attainment of performance conditions

Under the LTIP scheme structure the Remuneration Committee  
is able to grant either Performance shares or share-settled Share 
Appreciation Rights (SARs) or a mixture of the two. The scheme 
confers the award of a number of Consort Medical plc shares  
which will vest at the end of a three-year performance period, 
subject to the performance conditions being met.

SARs comprise awards similar in design to share options. They give 
the executive the right to benefit from any increase in the value of a 
fixed number of shares calculated from the date the SAR is awarded 
to the date when the SAR is exercised. However, unlike a share 
option, the executive does not have to pay to acquire the shares 
when the SAR is exercised. Instead, the executive receives shares 
to the value of the aggregate price increase of the shares less any 
withheld to satisfy income tax and National Insurance obligations. 
This will be the current market value at the time of exercise minus 
the market value of the shares at the date of the award. A mixture  
of Performance shares and SARs provides a method of reducing  
the potential dilution arising from operating the plan and so is to  
the benefit of shareholders.

The Committee expects to maintain an emphasis on Performance 
share grants, with a move towards SARs as executive shareholdings 
achieve target levels. The maximum performance share grant level 
for executive directors is one times salary. The Company has been 
advised that a grant of SARs has a present value of approximately 
0.27 times the value of an equal number of performance shares. 
The Remuneration Committee takes professional advice at the  
time of each grant to re-assess the appropriate value ratio of  
share grants and SARs.

For the awards granted during the period there were two  
performance conditions:
1.  As a minimum, Consort Medical plc’s Total Shareholder Return  

(TSR) over the three-year performance period must at least  
match that of the FTSE Health Index over the period.  
If this threshold condition is not met the awards will lapse; and 

2.  Assuming the first condition is met, the awards will vest 
depending upon the achievement of EPS growth relative  
to the growth in the Retail Prices Index (RPI) as follows:
•  If EPS growth is less than RPI plus 3% a year growth 

over the performance period, the awards will lapse
•  If EPS growth is above 10% a year in excess of RPI, 

the awards will vest in full
•  If EPS growth is between 3% a year and 10% a year, 

the awards will vest pro rata between 25% at RPI plus  
3% a year and 100% at RPI plus 10% a year

The Remuneration Committee has discretion to amend the 
performance conditions in certain circumstances, for example  
where the performance conditions are determined to be impractical, 
provided always that the amended conditions equate to the original 
performance conditions. However, if this discretion is to be used to 
relax or increase the stringency of the performance conditions, this 
is subject to the prior approval of shareholders.

During the period, the Committee reviewed the individual 
shareholdings of executive directors and senior executives, and will 
continue to do so annually, to ensure that the guidelines contained  
in the LTIP scheme are being achieved.

2002 Executive Share Option Scheme
No further awards were made under the 2002 scheme following  
the adoption of the new LTIP described above. The operation of the 
scheme has been discontinued except in relation to options already 
granted at the time of discontinuance. The last options granted 
under the scheme were made on 12 July 2004.

1996 Executive and Company Share Option schemes
The operation of the 1996 share option schemes was discontinued 
except in relation to options already granted at the time of such 
discontinuance. Under the terms of the schemes the Company 
reserved the right to grant options subject to such objective 
performance conditions as the directors saw fit.

Pension and other benefits
The Company provides executive directors with a Group Personal 
Pension Plan, which includes the benefit of a life assurance policy. 
Other customary benefits such as car allowances, health benefits, 
the Share Incentive Plan and the UK Savings-Related Share Option 
Scheme (which are available to all eligible UK employees) are made 
available to executive directors. Benefits in kind are not pensionable. 
The Committee reviews the individual components and the balance 
of these components from time to time.

Components of senior executives’ remuneration.
There are nine members of the Group Executive Committee which 
includes the chief executives of the Bespak and King Systems 
Divisions. The reward structure of the senior executives is similar  
to that of the executive directors, although their level of bonus 
entitlement and long-term incentive awards differ.

Service contracts
All executive directors have contracts terminable by the Company 
on one year’s notice and with earlier termination for cause. The 
policy of the Remuneration Committee is to treat each case on its 
merits, in accordance with applicable law and any further policy that 
the Committee may adopt. In the event of early termination other 
than for cause, the relevant executive director’s current salary and 
contractual benefits would be taken into account in calculating the 
liability of the Company.

The principal contractual benefits provided in addition to salary  
are car allowance, pension and life assurance. Annual bonuses  
and long-term incentives are non-contractual and dealt with in 
accordance with the rules of the applicable schemes.



28 Consort Medical plc Annual Report & Accounts 2009

Remuneration Report
continued

Specific contracts
Paul Boughton’s contract is dated 1 August 2005 and can be 
terminated by the Company by giving one year’s notice and by  
Mr Boughton on six months’ notice.

Jon Glenn’s contract is dated 26 July 2006 and can be terminated 
by the Company giving one year’s notice and by Mr Glenn on six 
months’ notice.

Toby Woolrych’s contract is dated 24 June 2008 and can be 
terminated by the Company giving one year’s notice and by  
Mr Woolrych on six months’ notice.

There are no other provisions for compensation payable on  
early termination of the above contracts.

External appointments 
With the specific approval of the Board in each case, executive 
directors may accept external appointments as non-executive 
directors of other companies. None of the executive directors  
hold any external appointments. The directors are entitled to  
keep the fees from external appointments.

Policy on non-executive directors’ remuneration
The Board is responsible for determining the policy on remuneration 
of non-executive directors. The Company aims to attract  
non-executive directors who, through their experience, can further 
the interests of the Company and make an effective contribution to  
its strategic development. The Board’s policy for the forthcoming 
and subsequent years is to provide fees at a level commensurate 
with Consort Medical plc’s size. The Board does not grant share 
options to non-executive directors. It seeks to encourage non-
executive directors to hold shares in the Company, in accordance 
with legal and regulatory requirements. Non-executive directors are 
each paid a flat and equal fee. An additional sum comprising 10%  
of this flat fee is paid to those non-executive directors who also 
chair Board Committees in recognition of the additional time  
and commitment required for such a role. In the event that any  
non-executive director were to chair two Board Committees 
it has been agreed in principle that he would be entitled to two  
such additional sums.

Components of non-executive directors’ remuneration
Non-executive directors receive fees paid monthly or quarterly.  
Their travel and other reasonable expenses incurred in the course  
of performing their duties are reimbursed.

Terms of appointment of non-executive directors
The services of John Robinson were provided under a consultancy 
agreement which automatically ceased on his resignation as  
a director on 30 April 2009. All other non-executive directors  
have appointment letters, the terms of which recognise that their 
appointments are subject to the Company’s Articles of Association 
and their service is at the discretion of the shareholders. All 
non-executive directors submit themselves for election at the Annual 
General Meeting following their appointment and subsequently at 
intervals of no more than three years. The appointment letters for all 
non-executive directors, including the Chairman, provide for an initial 
three-year period of service, and may thereafter be renewed for 
further three-year terms, subject to the usual rights of removal by 
shareholders and termination under the Companies Act 2006 and 
the Articles of Association. 

The table below shows the effective dates and expiry dates  
of the non-executive directors of the Company:

Name
Effective date  
of appointment Expiry of appointment

J Robinson 20 January 2007 30 April 2009

P Fellner 14 November 2005 14 November 2011

J Dick 11 April 2006 11 April 2012

C Banks 26 April 2006 26 April 2012

G Kennedy 28 September 2006 28 September 2009

W Jenkins 6 May 2009 6 May 2012

Re-election of directors at the Annual General Meeting
At the Annual General Meeting Peter Fellner, George Kennedy  
and Jim Dick seek re-election as directors and Toby Woolrych  
and William Jenkins seek election as directors.

Consort Medical plc TSR
The graph below shows the growth in value of a hypothetical £100 
invested in Consort Medical plc ordinary shares on 1 May 2004  
over five years compared with £100 invested in the FTSE Healthcare 
Sector over the same period. It is considered that the FTSE 
Healthcare Sector is the appropriate benchmark Group since it 
comprises an index of similar companies to Consort Medical plc.

Total Shareholder Return
Source: Thomson Financial
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Audited information
Remuneration of directors

Directors’ benefits
Mr Robinson’s services were provided via a service company to which the Company paid fees.

Salary  
and fees

£000

Pension 
allowance/ 

contributions  
£000

Other  
benefits  

£000

2009  
bonus
£000

2009
Total
£000

2008
Total
£000

J Robinson (Chairman) (resigned 30 April 2009) 132 – – – 132 128

Executive

P Boughton 198 37 15 101 351 397

T Woolrych 117 20 7 60 204 –

J Glenn 312 55 15 212 594 441

M Throdahl (resigned 31 December 2007) – – – – – 839

Non-Executive

P Fellner 43 – – – 43 33

C Banks 39 – – – 39 33

J Dick 38 – – – 38 30

G Kennedy 34 – – – 34 30

Total 913 112 37 373 1,435 1,931
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Remuneration Report
continued

On 23 January 2009 Paul Boughton acquired 15,069 shares 
awarded under the LTIP, of which he retained 9,013 at a market 
price of £4.918, realising a gain of £74,102.

The closing price of the shares at 30 April 2009 was 390  
pence (3 May 2008: 616 pence). The highest and lowest  
middle market prices during the period were 630 pence and  
322 pence respectively.

At 30 April 2009 there were 1,777 shares in the Company’s  
share ownership trust (2008: no shares).

The Remuneration Report was approved by the Board and  
signed on its behalf.

George Kennedy
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
23 June 2009

Directors’ incentives

Name
Plan  
type

Outstanding 
awards as at  
3 May 2008

Awarded  
during

the period

Lapsed  
during  

the period

Acquired  
in the  

period

Outstanding 
awards as at  

30 April 2009

Market  
price  

at award
Expiry  

date

J Glenn 2005 LTIP 26,000  
Performance 

shares

_ _ _ 26,000  
Performance 

shares*

£6.145 September 
2009

2005 LTIP 23,500  
Performance 

shares

– _ _ 23,500  
Performance 

shares

£6.61 August 2010

2005 LTIP – 52,083  
Performance 

shares

– – 52,083  
Performance 

shares

£5.375 August 2011

P Boughton 2005 LTIP 15,069  
Performance 

shares

_ _ 15,069  
Performance 

shares

– £5.78 January 2009

2005 LTIP 28,000  
Performance 

shares

_ _ _ 28,000  
Performance 

shares*

£6.20 July 2009

2005 LTIP 25,000  
Performance 

shares

– _ _ 25,000  
Performance 

shares

£6.61 August 2010

2005 LTIP – 34,722  
Performance 

shares

– – 34,722  
Performance 

shares

£5.375 August 2011

T Woolrych 2005 LTIP – 37,789  
Performance 

shares

– – 37,789  
Performance 

shares

£5.23 October 2011

* These awards have subsequently lapsed due to failure to meet the performance condition.
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Corporate Governance

Consort Medical plc believes that an effective system of corporate 
governance underpins the achievement of its corporate aim to  
deliver consistent sales and earnings growth. The Board adheres  
to governance policies and procedures in accordance with the 
Combined Code on Corporate Governance 2006 (the ‘Combined 
Code’) which recognises the Board’s accountability to the Company’s 
shareholders while providing a flexible framework in which the Board 
can manage the Group.

The Board is committed to establishing and maintaining high 
standards of corporate governance. Its policy is to appoint directors 
with appropriate skills who have sufficient time to carry out their duties 
adequately. The Board provides opportunities through site visits and 
regular access to senior management to permit directors to familiarise 
themselves with the Company and the markets in which it operates.

The Board
The Board’s composition
As of 30 April 2009 the Board of the Company consisted of the 
Chairman, three executive directors and four non-executive directors. 
With effect from 30 April 2009 John Robinson resigned as Chairman 
and director. On 1 October 2008 Toby Woolrych was appointed as an 
executive director. The profiles of the Board members are set out on 
pages 18 and 19. No individual or group of individuals dominates the 
Board’s decision-making process. The non-executive directors occupy, 
or have occupied, senior positions in industry. Together they constitute 
a valuable body of relevant industry experience and expertise.

The role of the Board
Individual members of the Board have equal responsibility for the 
overall stewardship, management and performance of the Group  
and for the approval of its long-term objectives and strategic plans.

The Chairman
John Robinson was the Chairman of the Company until 30 April 2009 
and is succeeded by Peter Fellner. The Chairman is responsible for 
leading and managing the Board. He works closely with the Chief 
Executive on developing Group strategy, and provides general advice 
and support as well as participating in the dialogue between the 
Company and its major shareholders. Peter Fellner was appointed 
Deputy Chairman with effect from 13 February 2009. Any other 
significant commitments are listed in his biography on page 18.

The Chief Executive
Jonathan Glenn is the Company’s Chief Executive. His principal 
responsibility is to manage the Group’s business and to lead the senior 
management team to ensure that the Company meets its objectives.

The Senior Independent Director
Peter Fellner was the Senior Independent Director until 1 May 2009 
and is succeeded by George Kennedy with effect from 1 May 2009. 
The senior independent director is responsible for chairing meetings 
of the non-executive directors where the Chairman is not present  
and is available to meet with major shareholders.

The non-executive directors
Independence
Each of the non-executive directors (Peter Fellner, Jim Dick, George 
Kennedy, Chris Banks and, with effect from 6 May 2009, William 
Jenkins) are free from any relationship with the executive management 
of the Company and are free from any business or other relationship 
that could affect or appear to affect the exercise of their independent 
judgement. The Board considers that all of the Company’s non-
executive directors are independent directors, in both character  
and judgement, in accordance with the recommendations of the 
Combined Code.

Terms of appointment
All non-executive directors are appointed for an initial term of three 
years subject to satisfactory performance. After this time they may 
serve additional three-year terms following review by the Board. 
Further details of their terms and conditions are summarised in  
the Remuneration Report on pages 26 to 30 and the terms and 
conditions of appointment of the non-executive directors are  
available on the Company’s website.

Meetings of non-executive directors
The non-executive directors meet informally, without the Chairman 
being present, principally to appraise the Chairman’s performance 
and to review his remuneration. The Chairman holds meetings at  
least annually with the non-executive directors without the executive 
directors present.

Appointment of non-executive directors
Non-executive directors are appointed to the Board following a 
formal, rigorous and transparent process, usually involving external 
recruitment agencies, to select appropriate individuals who have  
a depth of relevant experience, thus ensuring that the selected 
candidates will be capable of making a considerable contribution to 
the Board. This process is monitored by the Nomination Committee.

The operation of the Board
Delegated authorities
The Board has the authority for ensuring that the Group is 
appropriately managed and achieves the strategic objectives it sets. 
To achieve this, the Board reserves certain matters to be determined 
by it including the following:
•  The strategic direction of the Group
•  Approval of the interim and final results
•  Dividend policy
•  Appointments to the Board
•  Approval of major items of capital expenditure
•  Acquisitions and disposals
•  Approval of the Group treasury policy, including foreign 

currency exposure
•  Approval of strategic contracts
•  Review of the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control 
•  Review of the Group’s risk management policy
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The Board performs its responsibilities through an annual programme 
of meetings, and by continuous monitoring of the performance of the 
Group as a whole. The Board also delegates the discharge of a 
number of its responsibilities to committees, and matters not listed 
above are usually delegated to management. The Board’s terms of 
reference and the full schedule of matters reserved to the Board are 
published on the Company’s website.

The various matters delegated by the Board to management include:
•  Maintaining systems that continually identify and evaluate significant 

risks affecting strategies and that apply to management’s areas of 
the business

•  Identification and evaluation of significant risks to management’s 
business area, together with the design of mitigating controls

•  Reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of internal control systems

Board meetings and attendance
Board meetings were held nine times during the year. The table  
below shows attendance at the meetings, whether in person or  
by telephone.

Name

Board 
meetings

(Total 9)

Nomination 
Committee 

meetings
(Total 2)

Remuneration 
Committee 

meetings
(Total 4)

Audit 
Committee 

meetings
(Total 3)

J Robinson 9 1 4 –

P Fellner 9 2 4 –

C Banks 9 2 – 3

J Dick 9 2 4 3

G Kennedy 8 2 – 3

P Boughton 9 – – –

J Glenn 9 2 – –

T Woolrych* 5 – – –

*Mr Woolrych attended all meetings since his appointment.

Board members are provided with appropriate documentation in 
advance of each Board and committee meeting. Senior executives 
below Board level are invited to attend Board meetings periodically for 
the purpose of making presentations on their areas of responsibility. In 
addition to formal Board meetings, the Chairman and Chief Executive 
meet frequently and make regular contact with other Board members. 
The Board and the senior executives meet formally once during each 
period to discuss corporate strategy.

Independent professional advice
The Board has approved a procedure whereby directors may  
consult the Company’s advisers and, if necessary, take independent 
professional advice at the Company’s expense, although not in 
respect of a director’s personal interests. Before seeking advice,  
the director concerned must notify the Chairman, or in his absence, 
the Senior Independent Director. No such advice was sought by  
any director during the period.

Company Secretary
Board members have access to the Company Secretary  
who attends all Board meetings and committee meetings. The 
appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject  
to the approval of the Board. During the period Jennifer Owen 
resigned and Robert Allnutt was appointed as Company Secretary.

Re-election of directors
The Company’s Articles of Association require a certain number of 
directors to retire and resubmit themselves for re-election each year. 
The number is made up initially from those directors who have not 
retired from office at the two preceding Annual General Meetings. 
Where this number is less than a third of all directors, those who have 
been longest in office since their last appointment or reappointment 
make the number up to one third. As between those who became 
appointed or were last appointed on the same day, those to retire  
are to be determined by lot. The directors subject to reappointment  
in 2009/10 are Peter Fellner, George Kennedy and Jim Dick.

Division of responsibilities
There is a clear division of responsibilities between the role of the 
Chairman and that of the Chief Executive of the Company and the 
roles are clearly set out in writing and reviewed by the Board. The 
primary responsibility of the Chairman is to lead and manage the 
Board and to promote high standards of corporate governance, and 
that of the Chief Executive is to manage the business of the Group.

Board effectiveness
Induction and professional development
Upon joining the Board, newly appointed directors receive induction 
comprising background information on the operation and activities  
of the Group, the role of the Board and those matters reserved for  
the Board’s decision, responsibilities of, and membership of, Board 
committees and the latest financial information on the Group. They 
are also encouraged to visit the sites at which the Group operates 
and are invited to meetings with relevant members of senior 
management. The directors are kept appraised of developments  
in legal, regulatory and financial matters affecting the Group by way  
of presentations from the Group Finance Director, the Company 
Secretary and the Group’s external auditors.

Performance evaluation
An evaluation of the Board is normally carried out each year in respect 
of each Board member and each Board committee. A Board evaluation 
for the period ended 30 April 2009 was carried out and completed  
on 27 May 2009 following a rigorous and formal examination requiring 
completion of a questionnaire relating to the performance of the Board 
and its committees and with regard to compliance with the Combined 
Code and Turnbull Guidance. As a result of such evaluation a list of 
action points has been generated and will be acted upon. 

Corporate Governance
continued



F
in

a
n
c
ia

l S
ta

te
m

e
n
ts

G
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e

B
u
sin

e
ss R

e
v
ie

w

33Consort Medical plc Annual Report & Accounts 2009

Board committees
The Board has the three main committees listed below. The current 
full terms of reference of each committee may be obtained from the 
Company Secretary or the Corporate Governance section of the 
Company’s website.

Remuneration Committee
During the period members of this committee were Peter Fellner 
(Chairman), Jim Dick and John Robinson (until 30 April 2009).  
George Kennedy succeeded Peter Fellner as Chairman of the 
committee with effect from 1 May 2009 and William Jenkins joined 
the Committee with effect from 6 May 2009. The Chief Executive 
attends by invitation where appropriate except where his own 
remuneration is being considered. The Chairman has not attended 
any part of any meeting at which his own service contract is discussed.

The Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible for determining 
the structure, components and level of the remuneration packages  
of the Chairman, the executive directors and designated members of 
the senior management team. Details of the role of the Remuneration 
Committee and attendance of Committee members are set out  
on page 26. The Remuneration Committee met four times during 
this period.

Nomination Committee
Members during the period were John Robinson (Chairman), Peter 
Fellner, Chris Banks, Jim Dick, Jonathan Glenn and George Kennedy. 
William Jenkins joined the Committee with effect from 6 May 2009.

The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for reviewing  
the membership of the Board and identifying suitable candidates  
for appointment and reappointment as directors. In addition the 
Board has delegated responsibility to the Nomination Committee  
for ensuring that succession planning both at Board and senior 
management level is undertaken. The inclusion of the Chief Executive 
in the membership of the Nomination Committee ensures that a 
balanced view is taken regarding the needs of the Group as a whole.

The Nomination Committee met twice during the period to consider 
and agree recommendations for the appointment of a new Chairman 
in succession to John Robinson and the appointment of a new 
non-executive director. Details of attendance of Committee members 
are set out on page 32.

Audit Committee
Members during the period have been Chris Banks (Chairman),  
Jim Dick and George Kennedy. Chris Banks is the individual with 
recent and relevant financial experience.

The external auditors’ lead partner and the Group Finance Director 
attend each meeting as requested by the Committee. The Board 
considers that the membership of the Committee as a whole has 
sufficient recent and relevant financial experience properly to 
discharge its functions. 

The Audit Committee met three times during the period. The 
meetings were fully attended. At each meeting the members of the 
Committee took the opportunity of meeting the external auditors 
without management being present.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing on behalf of the 
Board the Group’s financial and reporting practices and disclosures, 
reviewing the integrity of the financial statements, the Group’s internal 
controls, the work of the external auditors and Group compliance  
with financial policies, laws and regulations. 

The annual and half-yearly financial reports are reviewed by the 
Committee through a process which includes discussion with the 
Group Finance Director and the external auditors. The external 
auditors prepare reports to the Committee on significant accounting 
policies, issues and judgements applied in the preparation of the 
financial reports. The Audit Committee gives its recommendation  
to the Board concerning the adoption and publication of all financial 
reports to the shareholders.

In addition to the above matters the Audit Committee has  
considered the following:
•  The Group’s internal control systems
• The Group’s treasury policy and compliance with banking covenants
•  Directors’ expenses
•  The independence and objectivity of the auditors
•  Audit fees and the level of non-audit services provided by the auditors
• The need for an internal audit function
•  The Group’s processes of risk management and its risk registers

Non-audit services
In accordance with its policy on non-audit services provided by  
the Company’s auditors, the Committee reviews and approves the 
award of any such work. The Audit Committee refers to the Board  
for approval any work comprising non-audit services where the fees 
for such work will represent more than 25% of the annual audit fee.

Auditor independence
The Audit Committee keeps under review the scope and results of the 
external audit work, its cost and the independence and objectivity of 
the auditors. The Company’s external auditors are required to rotate  
the lead audit partner to the Group every five years. The Committee 
has considered the re-appointment of the auditors of the Group and 
recommended to the Board that PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP be 
proposed for re-appointment, having noted the scope and results of 
their work in relation to this period’s audit as well as their objectivity  
and independence. The Board endorsed this recommendation.

Internal audit
The Committee has considered whether there is a need for an internal 
audit function within the Group and has concluded that no internal  
audit function is immediately required. In reaching its conclusion, the 
Committee considered the size and structure of the Group and its 
finance function as well as the procedures, controls and mechanisms 
designed to monitor and control risk within the Group. The Committee 
also took into account the fact that the business operates within a 
highly regulated industry. 
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Corporate Governance
continued

Whistle-blowing
The Audit Committee has reviewed and approved the internal 
procedures whereby employees can raise concerns about possible 
financial or other irregularities. The policy gives guidance on the type 
of matters that staff may wish to disclose, and a means of doing so 
via an independent organisation in the event that any staff member 
feels that he or she cannot make a disclosure via the usual 
management channels. 

Other Committees
The Executive Committee
This Committee is responsible for the executive management of the 
Group. It comprises the Chief Executive, the Group Finance Director, 
the Corporate Development Director, the Company Secretary/General 
Counsel, the general managers of the Group’s businesses, the 
Director of Human Resources, the Director of Strategic Planning and 
Marketing and the Commercial Director of the Bespak Division. This 
Committee meets monthly to make decisions on operational matters 
other than those reserved to the Board.

The Corporate Responsibility Committee
The CR Committee is responsible for reviewing and prioritising the 
Group’s Corporate Responsibility activities, further details of which 
can be found in the CR Review on pages 16-17 of this report. It 
comprises non-executive director Jim Dick, the Chief Executive,  
the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Bespak  
and King Systems Divisions respectively and three other members  
of the Executive Committee.

Relations with shareholders
The Board regards relationships with shareholders as very important 
and it aims to encourage open dialogue with them through regular 
meetings with the Group’s institutional shareholders, including regular 
meetings following the announcement of the Company’s interim and 
annual results. Meetings are also held at other times with institutional 
investors and major shareholders at their request. The Chairman 
ensures that views expressed at these meetings are reported to  
the Board as a whole. The Company’s brokers also attend Board 
meetings at the request of the Chairman to provide feedback on 
shareholder opinion.

All shareholders have the opportunity of discussing the Group’s 
performance and development at the Annual General Meeting,  
which provides a forum for issues to be raised by shareholders with 
the Board. Members of the Remuneration, Nomination and Audit 
Committees will also be available at the Annual General Meeting  
so that shareholders may discuss any queries they may have.

Internal controls review
The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of its internal systems  
of control as they have been operated within the period. It receives 
regular reports on areas of any significant risk and on related internal 
controls. The Board reviews the framework of internal controls 
annually. Such systems can only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. A 
summary of the internal controls in place is set out in ‘Financial  
risk management’ on page 21 of the Directors’ Report.

Risk assessment
There is an ongoing internal process for identifying, evaluating and 
managing significant risks faced by the Company that is regularly 
reviewed first by the Executive Committee and then by the Board. 
This process has been in place throughout the period and up to  
the date of this report and accords with the Turnbull Guidance.  
The Executive Committee carries out a business risk assessment 
exercise to identify the key risks and establish means of monitoring 
and controlling risk. The Company’s strategic plan is reviewed 
annually at an off-site meeting between the Board and the Executive 
Committee. An annual budget is prepared by each of the operating 
Divisions of the Company and this is consolidated into a Group Plan, 
which is reviewed and approved by the Board.

Control procedures 
Progress against budget is monitored at operating business and 
Group levels throughout the Company via monthly reporting of actual 
financial performance against budget and prior period actual results. 
The Executive Committee also reviews monthly the key measures  
of operating performance.

The Group has clear authority limits deriving from the list of matters 
reserved for decision by the Board, including capital expenditure 
approval procedures.

Compliance with the Combined Code
The Company complied throughout the financial period with the 
provisions of Section 1 of the Combined Code. 

Going concern
The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group and  
the parent company have adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future and have therefore 
adopted the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.
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Consolidated Income Statement
 For the period from 4 May 2008 to 30 April 2009

Notes

2009
Before special 

items
£000

2009
Special items 

(note 6)
£000

2009
Total
£000

2008
Before special 

items
(Re-presented – 

note 1)
£000

2008
Special items 

(note 6)
(Re-presented – 

note 1)
£000

2008
Total

(Re-presented – 
note 1)

£000

Continuing operations

Revenue from products and services 2 120,343 – 120,343 126,917 – 126,917 

Revenue from tooling and equipment 2 9,560 – 9,560 6,034 – 6,034 

Revenue 2 129,903 – 129,903 132,951 – 132,951 

Operating expenses 3 (111,045) (5,775) (116,820) (113,846) (12,474) (126,320)

Operating profit 2 18,858 (5,775) 13,083 19,105 (12,474) 6,631

Finance income 7 843 – 843 737 – 737 

Finance expenses 8 (1,455) – (1,455) (1,886) – (1,886)

Other finance (expenses)/income 9 (276) – (276) 2 – 2 

Share of post-tax losses of associate 10 (111) – (111) (356) – (356)

Impairment of investment in associate 17 – (125) (125) – (953) (953)

Profit before tax 17,859 (5,900) 11,959 17,602 (13,427) 4,175

Taxation 11 (4,831) 450 (4,381) (4,906) 3,360 (1,546)

Profit for the financial period 13,028 (5,450) 7,578 12,696 (10,067) 2,629

Basic earnings per ordinary share 12 26.2p 9.3p 

Diluted earnings per ordinary share 12 26.0p 9.1p 

Dividends £000 £000 

Final dividend paid of 12.1p per share  
(2008: 12.1p)

3,502 3,453 

Interim dividend paid of 7.0p per share 
(2008: 7.0p)

2,026 1,998 

13 5,528 5,451 

Non-GAAP measures:

Continuing operations £000 £000 

Adjusted profit before tax 17,859 17,602 

Adjusted profit after tax 12 13,028 12,696 

Adjusted basic earnings per ordinary share 12 45.1p 44.7p 

Adjusted diluted earnings per  
ordinary share

12 44.8p 44.2p 
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
At 30 April 2009

Notes
2009
£000

2008
£000

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 14 49,758 47,947 

Goodwill 15 47,870 36,229 

Other intangible assets 16 11,959 10,454 

Investment in associates 17 67 243 

Deferred taxation 11 – 483 

109,654 95,356 

Assets classified as held for sale 18 – 2,647

Current assets

Inventories 19 12,107 8,694 

Trade and other receivables 20 16,056 18,348 

Cash and cash equivalents 21 19,195 18,287 

47,358 45,329 

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Borrowings 25 (34,545) (25,825)

Trade and other payables 22 (18,942) (17,851)

Current tax payable (2,725) (1,978)

Provisions and other liabilities 24 (4,186) (5,737)

(60,398) (51,391)

Liabilities of subsidiary held exclusively for resale 18 – (2,147)

(60,398) (53,538)

Net current liabilities (13,040) (8,209)

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 25 (3,543) (6,203)

Deferred taxation 11 (5,270) (4,328)

Defined benefit pension scheme deficit 23 (12,081) (7,759)

(20,894) (18,290)

Net assets 75,720 71,504

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 26 2,895 2,872 

Share premium 26 32,378 31,360 

Retained earnings 27 37,024 38,571

Other reserves 27 3,423 (1,299)

Total equity 75,720 71,504

The financial statements on pages 36 to 83 were approved by the Board on 23 June 2009 and signed on its behalf by:

Directors:
J.M. Glenn
T.R. Woolrych
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
 For the period from 4 May 2008 to 30 April 2009

Notes
2009
£000

2008
(Re-presented – 

note 1)
£000

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating profit from continuing operations 13,083 6,631 

Depreciation 6,524 6,038 

Amortisation 2,166 1,776 

Impairment charge 2,747 6,683 

Impairment (reversal)/charge against subsidiary held for resale (2,421) 2,421 

Losses of subsidiary originally held for resale – 570 

Allocation of customer settlement against impairment – (2,687)

(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (155) 240 

Loss on disposal of software 16 – 

Share-based payments 860 858 

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (992) 1,784 

Decrease in trade and other receivables 4,965 1,723 

Decrease in trade and other payables (2,193) (6,066)

(Decrease)/increase in provisions (1,302) 5,067 

(Increase)/decrease in financial instruments (181) 226 

Cash generated from continuing operations 23,117 25,264 

Interest paid (1,475) (1,742)

Tax paid (3,520) (3,131)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 18,122 20,391

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (8,433) (8,624)

Purchases of intangible assets (444) (136)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 384 36 

Allocation of customer settlement – 2,687 

Interest received 855 741 

Tax received – 2 

Acquisition of subsidiary held exclusively for resale – (91)

Loans to subsidiary held exclusively for resale – (3,409)

Net cash used in investing activities (7,638) (8,794)

Cash flows from financing activities

Net proceeds from issues of ordinary share capital 26 1,795 428 

Purchase of own shares (472) – 

Equity dividends paid to shareholders 13 (5,528) (5,451)

Repayment of amounts borrowed (4,208) (3,489)

Finance lease payments (67) – 

Payments to fund defined benefit pension scheme deficit 23 (1,595) (1,740)

Net cash used in financing activities (10,075) (10,252)

Net increase in cash and short-term borrowings 409 1,345 

Effects of exchange rate changes (7,105) (291)

Opening cash in subsidiary originally held for resale 103 – 

Cash and short-term borrowings at start of period (3,994) (5,048)

Cash and short-term borrowings at end of period (10,587) (3,994)

Cash and short-term borrowings consist of:

Cash and cash equivalents 21 19,195 18,287 

Bank overdrafts and short-term loans 25 (29,782) (22,281)

Cash and short-term borrowings at end of period 25 (10,587) (3,994)
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Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense
 For the period from 4 May 2008 to 30 April 2009

Notes
2009
£000

2008
£000

Fair value movements on cash flow hedges (503) (131)

Deferred tax on fair value movements on cash flow hedges 140 39 

Exchange movements on translation of foreign subsidiaries 6,422 208 

Deferred tax on exchange movements (30) – 

Current tax on exchange movements (1,307) (11)

Deferred tax on share-based payments (122) (349)

Current tax on share-based payments 18 126 

Actuarial (losses)/gains on defined benefit pension scheme 23 (5,392) 1,483 

Deferred tax on actuarial losses/(gains) 1,511 (566)

Net income recognised directly in equity 737 799 

Profit for the financial period 7,578 2,629 

Total recognised income for the period 8,315 3,428
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Company Balance Sheet
At 30 April 2009

Notes
2009
£000

2008
£000

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 14 147 2 

Investments 17 65,585 65,585 

Amounts receivable from Group undertakings 17 28,813 20,127 

Deferred taxation 11 348 292 

94,893 86,006 

Assets classified as held for sale 18 – 409 

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 20 255 1,101 

Amounts receivable from Group undertakings 20 31,781 24,266 

Current tax receivable – 504 

Cash and cash equivalents 21 17,240 16,305 

49,276 42,176 

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Borrowings 25 (34,412) (25,824)

Trade and other payables 22 (35,580) (31,271)

Current tax payable (122) – 

Provisions and other liabilities 24 (72) (243)

(70,186) (57,338)

Net current liabilities (20,910) (15,162)

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 25 (3,543) (6,203)

Amounts payable to Group undertakings (16,063) (16,063)

(19,606) (22,266)

Net assets 54,377 48,987 

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 26 2,895 2,872 

Share premium 26 32,378 31,360 

Retained earnings 27 19,104 14,755 

Total equity 54,377 48,987 

The financial statements on pages 36 to 83 were approved by the Board on 23 June 2009 and signed on its behalf by:

Directors
J.M. Glenn
T.R. Woolrych
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Company Cash Flow Statement
 For the period from 4 May 2008 to 30 April 2009

Notes
2009 
£000 

2008 
£000 

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating profit/(loss) from continuing operations 2,329 (2,962)

Depreciation 17 3 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 1 

Share-based payments 860 858 

Decrease in trade and other receivables 80 702 

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (574) 553 

Decrease in provisions (171) (27)

Increase in financial instruments 503 196 

Cash generated from continuing operations 3,044 (676)

Interest paid (2,695) (3,052)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 349 (3,728)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (162) – 

Interest received 2,449 3,279 

Tax received – 2 

Group relief payment from subsidiaries – 1,210 

Dividend received from subsidiaries 7,970 7,173 

Net cash generated from investing activities 10,257 11,664 

Cash flows from financing activities

Net proceeds from issues of ordinary share capital 1,795 428 

Purchase of own shares (472) – 

Equity dividends paid to shareholders (5,528) (5,451)

Net loans (to)/from subsidiaries (11,392) 5,211 

Repayment of amounts borrowed (4,208) (3,483)

Net cash used in financing activities (19,805) (3,295)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and short-term borrowings (9,199) 4,641 

Effects of exchange rate changes 2,725 105 

Cash and short-term borrowings at start of period (5,975) (10,721)

Cash and short-term borrowings at end of period (12,449) (5,975)

Cash and short-term borrowings consist of:

Cash and cash equivalents 21 17,240 16,305 

Bank overdrafts and short-term loans 25 (29,689) (22,280)

Cash and short-term borrowings at end of period 25 (12,449) (5,975)

Company Statement of Recognised Income and Expense
 For the period from 4 May 2008 to 30 April 2009

2009 
£000 

2008 
£000 

Deferred tax on share-based payments (8) (148)

Current tax on share-based payments 3 33

Net expense recognised directly in equity (5) (115)

Profit for the financial period 9,494 1,810 

Total recognised income for the period 9,489 1,695 



42 Consort Medical plc Annual Report & Accounts 2009

As previously 
reported

£000

Effect of change 
in classification

£000
Re-presented

£000

Revenue 126,465 6,486 132,951

Operating profit before special items 18,988 117 19,105

Profit before tax and special items 17,636 (34) 17,602

Special items (10,319) (3,108) (13,427)

Taxation (1,706) 160 (1,546)

Profit after tax from continuing operations 5,611 (2,982) 2,629

Loss from discontinued operations (2,982) 2,982 –

Profit for the financial period 2,629 – 2,629

Adjusted profit after tax 12,720 (24) 12,696

Adjusted basic earnings per ordinary share 44.8p (0.1p) 44.7p 

Adjusted diluted earnings per ordinary share 44.3p (0.1p) 44.2p 

1.  Presentation of the financial statements and accounting policies

Compliance with applicable laws and IFRS
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and International 
Accounting Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(collectively referred to as IFRS) and related interpretations, as 
adopted for use in the European Union in all cases.

Financial period
These financial statements cover the financial period from 4 May 
2008 to 30 April 2009 (259 trading days), with comparative figures  
for the 53 weeks ended 3 May 2008 (265 trading days). 

Accounting convention
The financial statements have been prepared using the historical  
cost convention, modified for certain items carried at fair value,  
as stated in the accounting policies.

Presentation of bank loan within current liabilities
Short-term loans include a revolving loan for $44m/£29.690m  
(2008: $44m/£22.278m) drawn against a $55m/£40m (whichever is 
the higher) facility that expires in December 2010. The loan is long-term 
in nature but is shown in the balance sheet as a current liability as the 
principal sum is rolled over on a quarterly basis.

Re-classification of business held for sale
The acquisition of Integrated Aluminium Components Limited in  
July 2007 was treated as a business acquired with a view to re-sale, 
accordingly it was not consolidated but treated as a discontinued 
operation under IFRS 5 ‘Non-current assets held for sale and 
discontinued operations’. In the 2009 financial period a decision was 
taken not to sell the business in the current markets but to restructure 
the business and retain it as part of the Group. As a result of this 
decision the purchase has been accounted for as an acquisition and 
the income statement for the prior period re-presented as shown in  
the following table. Under IFRS 5, the consolidated balance sheet  
has not been re-presented.

Accounting principles and policies
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. Critical accounting estimates and 
judgements are discussed further below.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with  
the Group’s accounting policies as approved by the Board. 

Revisions to IFRS adopted in 2008
No standards or interpretations that became effective during 2008 
had a significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Parent company financial statements
The financial statements of the parent company, Consort Medical plc, 
have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. On publishing the  
parent company financial statements together with the Group financial 
statements, the Company is taking advantage of the exemption in 
s408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to present its individual income 
statement and related notes that form a part of these approved 
financial statements.

Consolidation
The financial statements include the financial statements of the 
Company and all the subsidiaries and associated undertakings  
during the years reported for the periods during which they were 
members of the Consort Medical Group. Intra-group balances 
between Group undertakings are eliminated on consolidation.

Notes to the Accounts
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Legacy goodwill on adoption of IFRS was not restated. However for 
all acquisitions since 1 May 2005, assets and liabilities of subsidiaries 
have been measured at their fair values at the date of acquisition, with 
any excess of the cost of acquisition over this value being capitalised 
as goodwill.

Subsidiaries 
The consolidated financial statements combine the financial statements 
of the parent company and all its subsidiaries made up to 30 April 
2009. Subsidiaries are entities which are directly or indirectly controlled 
by the Group. Control exists where the Group has the power to govern 
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits 
from its activities, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than 
one half of the voting rights.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the 
acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisition  
is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments 
issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of completion, 
plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition 
date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of 
the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the 
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of 
acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary 
acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on 
transactions between Group undertakings are eliminated. Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated but considered an impairment indicator of 
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been 
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group.

Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant 
influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of 
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates 
are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and are 
initially recognised at cost. The Group’s investment in associates 
includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated 
impairment loss.
 
The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or  
losses is recognised in the income statement, and its share of  
post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. 
The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against  
the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of 
losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, 
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not 
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the associate.
 
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its 
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest  
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless  
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted  
by the Group.

Foreign currencies
Items included in the financial statements of each of Consort  
Medical plc’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates. The consolidated 
financial statements are presented in sterling, which is the parent 
company’s functional and presentational currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency 
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of 
such transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange 
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the consolidated income statement, 
except where hedge accounting is applied.
 
The results and financial position of all Group undertakings that have  
a functional currency different from the presentational currency are 
translated into the presentational currency with (i) assets and liabilities 
for each balance sheet translated at the closing rate at the date  
of that balance sheet; (ii) income and expenses for each income 
statement translated at average exchange rates for the period;  
and (iii) all resulting exchange differences recognised as a separate 
component of equity (cumulative translation adjustment).

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment 
in foreign entities, and of borrowings and other currency instruments 
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholders’ 
equity on consolidation.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition  
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 
entity and translated at the closing rate.

Revenue
Revenue from sales of products is recognised when the risk and 
rewards of ownership pass to the customer, and is stated net of  
value added tax and other sales taxes. Revenue from sales of 
services is recognised in the period in which the related chargeable 
costs are incurred or when revenue is earned under contractual 
obligations. Revenue from sales of tooling and equipment is 
recognised on acceptance by the customer.

Expenditure
Expenditure is recognised in respect of goods and services received 
when supplied in accordance with contractual terms. 

Segmental reporting
Business segments are distinguishable components of the Group  
that provide products or services that are subject to risks and rewards 
that are different to those of other business segments. Geographical 
segments provide products or services within a particular economic 
environment that is subject to risks and rewards that are different to 
those of components operating in other economic environments. 
Business segments are the primary reporting segments. Group  
costs are allocated to segments on a reasonable and consistent 
basis. Transactions between segments are generally accounted for  
in accordance with Group policies as if the segment were a stand-
alone business.

Research and development expenditure
In respect of internal product development expenditure, Consort 
Medical plc currently considers that it is not possible to demonstrate  
with sufficient certainty that a project will be commercially viable prior 
to customer and regulatory approval. Consequently, until customer 
and regulatory approval, expenditure on research and development  
is expensed as incurred. 
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Post-employment benefits
In respect of the Group’s defined benefit pension scheme, the 
employer’s portion of past and current service cost is charged as an 
operating expense, with the interest cost net of expected return on 
assets in the plans reported as a financing item. Actuarial gains or 
losses are recognised directly in full in the statement of recognised 
income and expense such that the consolidated balance sheet reflects 
the scheme’s full surplus or deficit as at the balance sheet date.

In respect of the Group’s defined contribution pension schemes, 
contributions to defined contribution plans are charged to operating 
profit as they become payable.

Share-based payments
The Group operates a number of executive and employee share 
schemes. For all grants of share options and awards, the fair value 
as at the date of grant is calculated using an option pricing model 
and the corresponding expense, together with the corresponding 
increase in equity, is recognised over the vesting period.

A charge is made by the parent company for the fair value of  
share-based awards in Consort Medical plc granted to employees 
of subsidiary companies.

Special items
To improve the understanding of the Group’s financial performance, 
items which do not reflect the underlying business are presented in 
special items. Currently, amortisation of acquisition-related intangibles, 
plant closure costs, including impairment of related fixed assets, and 
restructuring expenses are presented in special items.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost including any 
incidental costs of acquisition less accumulated depreciation.  
The cost of fixed assets (less the current expected residual value)  
is written off on a straight-line basis over their expected useful  
lives as follows:
– Freehold buildings and leasehold buildings 30 to 50 years
– Cleanrooms 20 years
– Building services 10 to 20 years
– Plant, equipment and vehicles 3 to 10 years

Cleanrooms and building services are categorised within plant  
and equipment. Land is not depreciated.

Assets under construction
The costs of property, plant and equipment are capitalised as 
incurred and are not depreciated until such time as the assets  
are commissioned, when the total costs are transferred to the 
appropriate asset category.

Goodwill
Goodwill on acquisition is initially measured at cost, being the 
excess of the cost of the business combination over the acquirer’s 
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities at the date of acquisition. Following initial 
recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses and, where applicable, retranslated at each 
balance sheet date. 

Other intangible fixed assets
Other intangible fixed assets, including purchased patents, know-how, 
trademarks, software licences and distribution rights are capitalised at 
cost and amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
economic lives. The estimated useful life of an intangible asset ranges 
from between 3 to 20 years, depending on its nature.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations
Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale and stated  
at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell if  
their carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use. A discontinued 
operation is a component of the Group’s business that represents  
a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations. 
Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or 
when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale.

Impairment of assets
Goodwill arising on acquisition is allocated to cash-generating  
units (equivalent to the reported primary business segments).  
The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which 
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or  
when events or changes in circumstance indicate that it might be 
impaired. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 
is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment, and intangible 
assets with finite lives, are reviewed for impairment when events  
or changes in circumstance indicate that the carrying value may  
not be recoverable. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of 
impairment loss. Where it is not possible to identify separate cash 
flows relating to individual assets, Consort Medical plc estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs.

Leasing commitments
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of 
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating 
leases. Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to 
income on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Leasing agreements which transfer to the Group substantially  
all the benefits and risks of ownership of an asset are treated as 
finance leases, as if the asset had been purchased outright. Assets 
held under finance leases are depreciated on a basis consistent  
with similar owned assets or the lease term if shorter. The interest 
element of the lease rental is included in the income statement.

Inventories
Inventories and work in progress are stated at the lower of  
cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises the direct cost of 
production and the attributable portion of overheads based on 
normal operating capacity appropriate to location and condition. 
Cost is determined on a first in, first out basis.

Cash and cash equivalents 
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash comprises cash  
in hand and on-demand deposits, and cash equivalents comprise 
highly liquid investments that are convertible into cash with an 
insignificant risk of changes in value with original maturities of  
less than three months. Bank overdrafts are shown within 
borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

Notes to the Accounts
 continued
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Finance income and expenses
Interest receivable and payable on bank deposits and borrowings  
is credited or charged to finance income and expenses as incurred. 

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation 
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable  
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. Where the Group expects some or 
all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance 
contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset,  
but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense 
relating to any provision is presented in the income statement net  
of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is 
material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected 
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, 
the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the 
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised 
as other finance expenses.

A contingent liability is disclosed where the existence of an obligation 
will only be confirmed by future events or where the amount of the 
obligation cannot be measured with reasonable reliability. Contingent 
assets are not recognised, but are disclosed where an inflow of 
economic benefits is probable.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables do not carry interest and are stated at their  
initial value reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts. A provision for impairment of trade 
receivables is established when there is objective evidence that  
the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according  
to the original terms of the receivables.

Trade payables
Trade payables on normal terms are not interest-bearing and are 
stated at their nominal value. 

Dividends
Dividends are recorded in the financial statements in the period in 
which they are approved by the Company’s shareholders. Interim 
dividends are recorded in the period in which they are approved  
and paid.

Taxation
The charge for current taxation is based on the results for the  
period as adjusted for items that are non-assessable or disallowed.  
It is calculated using rates that have been enacted, or substantially 
enacted, by the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxation is accounted for in full using the balance sheet 
liability method in respect of temporary differences arising from 
differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities  
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used  
in the computation of taxable profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences except in respect of investments in subsidiaries where 
Consort Medical plc is able to control the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary 
difference can be utilised. Their carrying amount is reviewed at each 
balance sheet date on the same basis.

Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis, and at the  
tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which the  
asset or liability is settled. It is recognised in the consolidated income 
statement except when it relates to items credited or charged directly 
to shareholders’ equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt 
with in shareholders’ equity.

Share capital and share premium
Share issue costs are incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issue of new shares or options or the acquisition of a business and 
are shown as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging
Derivative financial instruments are used to manage exposure  
to market risks from treasury operations. The principal derivative 
instruments used by the Group are interest rate swaps and forward 
foreign exchange contracts. The Group does not hold or issue 
derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the balance 
sheet at cost and then re-measured at subsequent reporting dates to 
fair value. Hedging derivatives are classified on inception as fair value 
hedges, cash flow hedges or net investment hedges. Changes in the 
fair value of derivatives designated as fair value hedges are recorded 
in the income statement, with the changes in the fair value of the 
hedged asset or liability. 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow 
hedges are recognised in equity. Amounts deferred in equity  
are transferred to the income statement in line with the hedged 
forecast transaction.

Hedges of net investments in foreign entities are accounted for  
as cash flow hedges.

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not 
qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the 
income statement.

New accounting policies and future developments
Published standards that have not been enacted because  
the implementation date has not been reached are reviewed  
as part of the Group’s ongoing IFRS compliance process.

Forthcoming accounting standards
The following IFRS and IFRIC interpretations have been issued by  
the IASB and are likely to affect future Annual Reports, although  
none is expected to have a material impact on the results or  
financial position of the Group.

IFRS 8 ‘Operating segments’ was issued in November 2006 and  
is required to be implemented by Consort Medical plc from 1 May 
2009. This standard replaces IAS 14 and aligns the segmental 
reporting requirements with those of the equivalent US standard.  
The new standard adopts a ‘management approach’ under which 
segmental information is to be disclosed on the same basis as that 
used for internal reporting purposes.
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IAS 23 (Revised) ‘Borrowing costs’ was issued in March 2007 and will 
be implemented prospectively from 1 May 2009. It requires borrowing 
costs attributable to the acquisition or construction of certain assets 
to be capitalised. The option currently taken by Consort Medical plc 
of expensing such costs as incurred will no longer be available.

IAS 1 (Revised) ‘Presentation of financial statements’ was issued  
in September 2007 and will be effective from 1 May 2009. The 
amendments to the Standard mandate various presentation formats 
and disclosures, many of which are already adopted by Consort 
Medical plc. Movements in equity will be presented in a statement of 
changes in equity rather than as a note to the financial statements.

An amendment to IFRS 2 ‘Share-based payment’ relating to vesting 
conditions and cancellations was issued in January 2008. The 
amendment will apply retrospectively from 1 May 2009 and specifies 
that all cancellations of share-based payment arrangements, including 
those by an employee or other counterparty, should receive the  
same accounting treatment of requiring immediate recognition in  
the income statement of the charge that would otherwise have  
been recognised over the remainder of the service period.

IFRS 3 (Revised) ‘Business combinations’ was issued in January 
2008 and will apply to business combinations arising from 1 May 
2010. Amongst other changes, the new Standard will require 
recognition of subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent 
consideration in the income statement rather than against goodwill, 
and transaction costs to be recognised immediately in the income 
statement. Fair value gains or losses on existing investments in an 
acquired company will be recognised in the income statement at  
the date of acquisition.

IAS 27 (Revised) ‘Consolidated and separate financial statements’ 
was issued in January 2008 and will be implemented at the same 
time as IFRS 3 (Revised). In respect of transactions with non-
controlling interests in Group entities that do not result in a change  
of control, the revised Standard requires that the difference between 
the consideration paid or received and the recorded non-controlling 
interest is recognised in equity. In the case of divestment of a 
subsidiary, any retained interest will be re-measured to fair value  
and the difference between fair value and the previous carrying  
value will be recognised immediately in the income statement.

IAS 23 (Revised), IFRS 3 (Revised) and IAS 27 (Revised) will be applied 
prospectively to transactions occurring after the implementation date.  
It is therefore not possible to assess in advance their impact on the 
financial statements of the Group.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
IFRS requires the Group to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of policies and reported amounts. Estimates 
and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors including expectations of future  
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and 
assumptions which have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities are 
discussed below:

A Impairment of goodwill
The Group tests, at least annually, whether goodwill has suffered  
any impairment in accordance with the accounting policy above. The 
recoverable amount is determined based on value in use calculations.
The use of this method requires the estimation of future cash flows 
and the choice of a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the 
present value of these cash flows. Actual outcomes could vary.

B Post-employment benefits
The determination of the pension cost and defined benefit obligation 
of the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes depends on the 
selection of certain assumptions which include the discount rate, 
inflation rate, salary growth, mortality and expected return on scheme 
assets. Differences arising from actual experiences or future changes 
in assumptions will be reflected in subsequent periods. See note 23 
for further details.

C Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment if events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable. When a review for impairment is conducted, the 
recoverable amount is determined based on value in use calculations 
prepared on the basis of management’s assumptions and estimates.

D Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation is provided so as to write down the assets to their 
residual values over their estimated useful lives as set out above.  
The selection of these estimated lives requires the exercise of 
management judgement. 

E Provisions for sales returns
Provisions for sales returns are estimated on the basis of historical 
returns and are recorded so as to allocate them to the same period  
in which the original revenue is recorded. Actual returns could vary 
from these estimates.

F Income taxes
The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. 
Significant judgement is required in determining the Group provision 
for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for 
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary 
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax 
audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be 
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the 
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such 
determination is made.

Non-GAAP performance measures
The directors believe that the ‘adjusted’ profit and earnings per share 
measures provide additional useful information for shareholders on 
the underlying performance of the business. These measures are 
consistent with how business performance is measured internally. The 
adjusted profit before tax measure is not a recognised profit measure 
under IFRS and may not be directly comparable with ‘adjusted’ profit 
measures used by other companies. The adjustments made to 
reported profit before tax are to exclude the following special costs:
•  Exceptional income and charges. These are largely one-off in 
nature and therefore create volatility in reported earnings

•  Amortisation of acquisition-related intangible assets

Notes to the Accounts
 continued



F
in

a
n
c
ia

l S
ta

te
m

e
n
ts

G
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e

B
u
sin

e
ss R

e
v
ie

w

47Consort Medical plc Annual Report & Accounts 2009

2. Segmental information

These business segments are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment information. Business sector results include an 
allocation of corporate costs to each business on an appropriate basis. Revenue between inhaled drug delivery and anaesthesia is at market 
value, established before the acquisition of the anaesthesia business. 

For the period from 4 May 2008 to 30 April 2009

Bespak – Inhaled 
Drug Delivery

£000

King Systems –  
Anaesthesia

£000
Unallocated

£000
Total
£000

Revenue from products and services 81,232 39,387 – 120,619 

Revenue from tooling and equipment 9,560 – – 9,560 

Total revenue 90,792 39,387 – 130,179 

Intra-segmental revenue (276) – – (276)

Revenue by business segment 90,516 39,387 – 129,903 

Segment result before special items 13,476 5,382 – 18,858 

Special items (2,864) (885) – (3,749)

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets – (2,026) – (2,026)

Segment result 10,612 2,471 – 13,083 

Finance income 843 

Finance expenses (1,455)

Special items (276)

Share of post-tax losses of associate (111)

Impairment of investment in associate (125)

Profit before tax 11,959 

Taxation (4,381)

Profit for the financial period 7,578 

Assets and liabilities

Allocated assets 60,781 76,969 – 137,750 

Unallocated assets:

Investment in associates – – 67 67 

Cash and cash equivalents – – 19,195 19,195 

Segment assets 60,781 76,969 19,262 157,012 

Allocated liabilities (18,263) (4,865) – (23,128)

Unallocated liabilities:

Borrowings – – (38,088) (38,088)

Current tax payable – – (2,725) (2,725)

Deferred taxation – – (5,270) (5,270)

Defined benefit pension scheme deficit – – (12,081) (12,081)

Segment liabilities (18,263) (4,865) (58,164) (81,292)

Other segment information

Capital expenditure

Property, plant and equipment (note 14) 6,919 1,071 – 7,990 

Intangible asset additions (note 16) 444 – – 444 

Total capital expenditure 7,363 1,071 – 8,434 

Amortisation of intangible assets (note 16) 140 2,026 – 2,166 

Depreciation (note 14) 5,757 767 – 6,524 

Impairment charge against tangible fixed assets (note 14) 2,338 409 – 2,747 

Reversal of impairment charge against subsidiary held for resale – – (2,421) (2,421)

Profit on disposal of fixed assets (note 3) (149) (6) – (155)

Loss on disposal of software (note 3) 16 – – 16 

Trade receivables impairment (note 20) 95 (13) – 82
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2. Segmental information continued

These business segments are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment information. Business sector results include  
an allocation of corporate costs to each business on an appropriate basis. Revenue between inhaled drug delivery and anaesthesia  
is at market value, established before the acquisition of the anaesthesia business.

53 weeks ended 3 May 2008

Bespak – Inhaled 
Drug Delivery

(Re-presented – 
note 1)

£000

King Systems –  
Anaesthesia

£000
Unallocated

£000

Total
(Re-presented – 

note 1)
£000

Revenue from products and services 95,231 31,913 – 127,144

Revenue from tooling and equipment 6,034 – – 6,034 

Total revenue 101,265 31,913 – 133,178 

Intra-segmental revenue (227) – – (227)

Revenue by business segment 101,038 31,913 – 132,951 

Segment result before special items 14,342 4,763 – 19,105 

Special items (10,299) (510) – (10,809)

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets – (1,665) – (1,665)

Segment result 4,043 2,588 – 6,631 

Finance income 737 

Finance expenses (1,886)

Other finance income 2 

Share of post-tax losses of associate (356)

Impairment of investment in associate (953)

Profit before tax 4,175 

Taxation (1,546)

Profit for the financial period 2,629 

Assets and liabilities

Allocated assets 62,708 58,964 – 121,672 

Unallocated assets:

Investment in associates – – 243 243 

Assets classified as held for sale 2,647 2,647 

Taxation – – 483 483 

Cash and cash equivalents – – 18,287 18,287 

Segment assets 62,708 58,964 21,660 143,332 

Allocated liabilities (19,733) (3,855) – (23,588)

Unallocated liabilities:

Borrowings – – (32,028) (32,028)

Current tax payable – – (1,978) (1,978)

Liabilities of subsidiary held exclusively for resale – – (2,147) (2,147)

Deferred taxation – – (4,328) (4,328)

Defined benefit pension scheme deficit – – (7,759) (7,759)

Segment liabilities (19,733) (3,855) (48,240) (71,828)

Other segment information

Capital expenditure

Property, plant and equipment (note 14) 8,692 567 – 9,259 

Intangible asset additions (note 16) 136 – – 136 

Acquisition of subsidiary held for resale 91 – – 91 

Total capital expenditure 8,919 567 – 9,486 

Amortisation of intangible assets (note 16) 111 1,665 – 1,776 

Depreciation (note 3) 5,490 648 – 6,138 

Impairment charge against tangible fixed assets (note 14) 6,683 – – 6,683 

Impairment charge against subsidiary held for resale – – 2,421 2,421 

Loss on disposal of fixed assets (note 3) 235 5 – 240 

Trade receivables impairment 25 (14) – 11

Notes to the Accounts
 continued
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2. Segmental information continued

The Group’s operations are based in the UK and the USA.

Revenue by origin

Total  
2009  
£000  

Total
2008  

(Re-presented – 
note 1)

£000  

United Kingdom 90,792 101,265 

United States of America 39,387 31,913 

Total revenue 130,179 133,178 

Intra-segmental revenue (276) (227)

Revenue 129,903 132,951 

Other segment information

Allocated assets

United Kingdom 60,781 62,708 

United States of America 76,969 58,964 

Total segment assets 137,750 121,672 

Unallocated assets 19,262 21,660 

Total assets 157,012 143,332 

Capital expenditure (including acquisitions)

Property, plant and equipment – United Kingdom 6,916 8,692 

Property, plant and equipment – United States of America 1,074 567 

Intangible asset additions – United Kingdom 444 136 

Acquisition of subsidiary – 91 

Total capital expenditure 8,434 9,486 

Revenue by destination

United Kingdom 31,949 29,799 

United States of America 46,608 59,791 

Europe 40,529 35,279 

Rest of the World 10,817 8,082 

Revenue 129,903 132,951
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3. Operating expenses

Total 
2009  
£000  

Total  
(Re-presented – 

note 1)
2008  
£000  

Raw materials and consumables 38,756 37,546 

Other external charges 26,805 28,425 

Staff costs (note 4) 40,459 47,434 

Depreciation (see note below) 6,524 6,138 

Amortisation of software 140 111 

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 2,026 1,665 

Impairment charge 2,747 6,683 

Impairment (reversal)/charge against business held for sale (2,421) 2,421 

Negative goodwill on acquisition of business – (54)

(Profit)/loss on disposal of fixed assets (155) 240 

Loss on disposal of software 16 – 

Losses from onerous contracts 2,155 460 

Allocation of customer settlement – (4,433)

Own work capitalised (214) (211)

Exchange (gains) and losses (471) 136 

116,367 126,561 

Decrease/(increase) in stock of finished goods and work in progress 453 (241)

116,820 126,320 

Operating expenses include the following:

Operating lease rentals

– plant and machinery 177 256 

– other 452 77 

Research and development 3,528 4,323 

Trade receivables impairment 82 11 

Property, plant and equipment repairs and maintenance 2,214 2,918 

Services provided by the Company’s auditor

Audit services

– Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the parent company and consolidated accounts 13 18 

Non-audit services – fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other services:

–  The audit of accounts of associates of the Company pursuant to legislation (including that of other countries  
and territories outside Great Britain)

175 177

– Other services supplied pursuant to legislation 14 18 

– Tax advisory services 31 13 

– Other services – 14 

Depreciation as originally stated (as shown in cash flow statement and fixed asset note) 6,038 

Depreciation charge in respect of subsidiary originally held for resale 100 

Depreciation charge re-presented within operating expenses    6,138 

Exchange rate information

Average exchange rate USD: £ Sterling 1.68 2.01

Closing exchange rate USD: £ Sterling 1.48 1.98

Notes to the Accounts
 continued
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4. Employees 

Staff costs and the average monthly number of employees analysed by activity, including directors, are shown below:

Group

Total
2009 
£000 

Total
(Re-presented – 

note 1)
2008 
£000 

Employee benefit costs:

Wages and salaries 32,718 36,398 

Redundancy and other severance costs (note 6) 1,249 3,996 

Social security costs 3,125 3,307 

Pension costs (note 23) 2,507 2,875 

Share-based payments (note 30) 860 858 

40,459 47,434 

Group Number Number

Production 938 1,016 

Sales and marketing 61 58 

Administration and support services 122 122 

Engineering and product development 129 210 

1,250 1,406 

Staff costs and the average monthly number of employees employed by the Group, analysed by activity, including directors,  
are shown below.

2009  
£000  

2008  
£000  

Employee benefit costs:

Wages and salaries 1,691 2,288 

Redundancy and other severance costs 350 428 

Social security costs 209 273 

Pension costs 211 199 

Share-based payments 392 359 

2,853 3,547 

The average monthly number of employees of Consort Medical plc, including directors, was 13 (2008: 13).

5. Directors’ emoluments

2009  
£000  

2008  
£000  

Directors

Aggregate emoluments 1,323 1,790 

Company contributions to money purchase and personal pension schemes 112 141 

1,435 1,931 

Further information is disclosed in the Remuneration Report.
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Total
2009
£000 

Total  
(Re-presented – 

note 1)
2008 
£000 

Impairment charge against fixed assets (2,733) (6,683)

Employee severance costs (1,044) (3,996)

Plant restructuring costs (2,393) (1,807)

Impairment reversal/(charge) against subsidiary originally held for resale 2,421 (2,421)

Allocation of customer settlement – 4,433 

Supplier costs incurred following purchase of business – (389)

Negative goodwill on acquisition of business – 54 

(3,749) (10,809)

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets (2,026) (1,665)

Special items charged to operating expenses (5,775) (12,474)

Impairment of investment in associate (125) (953)

Special items before taxation (5,900) (13,427)

Tax on special items 1,833 3,360 

Special tax item (1,383) – 

Total tax expense in special items 450 3,360 

Special items after taxation (5,450) (10,067)

The impairment charge against fixed assets arises on the property at Milton Keynes where manufacturing ceased in June 2008, on the fixed 
assets at Integrated Aluminium Components Limited, and on certain assets at King Systems.  

Employee severance costs are in respect of the closure of the facility at Milton Keynes, restructuring of the Bespak Division at King’s Lynn and 
at Integrated Aluminium Components Limited, the change of company secretary and a restructuring at the King Systems Division in the USA.  
 
Plant restructuring costs include settlement of contractual obligations with suppliers and customers, the costs associated with moving 
products to Bespak’s King’s Lynn facility or alternative suppliers, decommissioning costs of remaining equipment and provision for an onerous 
contract, including a property lease and certain costs associated with the restructuring at King Systems.

In the period ended 3 May 2008 an impairment charge of £2.421m was made against the carrying value of Integrated Aluminium Components 
Limited, a business acquired with a view to re-sale (note 28). As a result of the decision to retain the Integrated Aluminium Components Limited 
business the impairment charge of £2.421m was reversed in the accounting period ended 30 April 2009.

The impairment of investment in associate reduces the value of the investment in Emergent Respiratory Products Inc. to its expected net 
realisable value (note 17).
  
There is a special tax charge for the period of £1.383m relating to the change in legislation on industrial buildings allowances (see note 11).

7. Finance income  

2009 
£000 

2008 
(Re-presented – 

note 1)
£000 

Interest on deposits 788 650 

Interest on tax 55 87 

Finance income 843 737 

Notes to the Accounts
 continued

6. Special items



F
in

a
n
c
ia

l S
ta

te
m

e
n
ts

G
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e

B
u
sin

e
ss R

e
v
ie

w

53Consort Medical plc Annual Report & Accounts 2009

2009 
£000 

2008 
(Re-presented – 

note 1)
£000 

Bank overdraft and loans (1,435) (1,872)

Finance leases (20) (14)

Finance expenses (1,455) (1,886)

9. Other finance (expenses)/income

2009 
£000 

2008 
£000 

Interest on defined benefit plan liabilities (3,410) (2,991)

Expected return on defined benefit plan assets 3,134 2,993 

Net interest (expenses)/income on defined benefit scheme (note 23) (276) 2 

10. Share of post-tax losses of associate

2009 
£000 

2008 
£000 

Share of post-tax losses of associate (111) (356)

Summarised income statement information in respect of the Group's associate is set out below: 

Share of turnover of associate (not included in Group revenue) 792 749 

The Group’s share of the results of associates is in respect of Emergent Respiratory Products Inc., and is based upon unaudited  
management information to 30 April 2009. An impairment charge of £125,000 (2008: £953,000) has been made against the carrying  
value of the investment (note 17).

8. Finance expenses
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11. Taxation 

Taxation charge based on profits for the period
The major components of income tax expense for the period from 4 May 2008 to 30 April 2009 and for the 53 weeks ended 3 May 2008 are:

2009 
£000 

2008 
(Re-presented – 

note 1)
£000 

Current income tax

UK corporation tax at 28.00% (2008: 29.83%) 2,112 2,485 

Adjustments in respect of prior periods 334 (7)

Overseas taxation 1,856 1,180 

Overseas taxation – adjustments in respect of prior periods (1,372) (529)

2,930 3,129 

Deferred income tax

UK origination and reversal of timing differences 17 (1,263)

Adjustments in respect of prior periods 51 (221)

Impact of change in tax law 1,383 –

Impact of change in tax rates – (99)

1,451 (1,583)

Income tax expense reported in the consolidated income statement 4,381 1,546 

The tax charge is analysed between:

Tax on profit before special items 4,831 4,906 

Tax on special items (1,833) (3,360)

Special tax item (see note 6) 1,383 – 

4,381 1,546 

Tax on items taken to equity

Current tax:

Share-based payments (18) (126)

Exchange movements recognised in reserves 1,307 11 

1,289 (115)

Deferred tax:

Actuarial gains and losses on pension schemes (1,511) 566 

Share-based payments 122 349 

Exchange movements recognised in reserves 30 – 

Cash flow hedges (140) (39)

(1,499) 876 

Total tax (credited)/charged to equity (210) 761 

Reconciliation between tax expense and the Group’s profit on ordinary activities before taxation

The reconciliation of the UK statutory tax charge to the Group’s profit on ordinary activities before taxation is as follows:

2009 
£000 

2008 
(Re-presented – 

note 1)
£000 

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 11,959 4,175 

Taxation charge at UK corporation tax rate of 28.00% (2008: 29.83%) 3,349 1,245 

Adjustments in respect of prior periods (987) (757)

Tax effect of non-deductible or non-taxable items 221 1,324 

Impact of change in tax law 1,383 – 

Impact of change in tax rates – (99)

Impact on deferred taxes of impairment following change in manner of recovery – (242)

Difference in average tax rates in overseas countries 415 75 

4,381 1,546 

Notes to the Accounts
 continued
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11. Taxation continued

There is an one-off tax charge of £1,383,000 arising in the Group’s tax charge due to the UK Government’s abolition of industrial buildings 
allowances, which is a non-cash adjustment to deferred tax balances within the financial statements.

Unrecognised tax losses
The Group has capital losses which arose in the UK of £24,707,000 (2008: £27,313,000) and in the US of £2,031,000 (2008: £nil) that  
are available for offset against future chargeable gains in the UK and US groups respectively. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised  
in respect of these losses as it is not reasonably foreseeable that these will be utilised.

Deferred tax assets of £191,000 (2008: £143,000) in respect of tax losses carried forward have not been recognised due to insufficient 
certainty over their recoverability. Of the £191,000 of US tax losses, £91,000 are due to expire in 2017 and the balance by 2020.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities  
and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority.

Deferred tax
 Group  Company

2009
£000

2008
£000

2009
£000

2008
£000

Deferred tax liabilities

Accelerated tax depreciation (10,120) (8,204) – – 

(10,120) (8,204) – – 

Deferred tax assets

Tax losses 7,933 7,829 6,918 7,671 

Less not recognised (7,913) (7,814) (6,918) (7,671)

Tax losses recognised 20 15 – – 

Share-based payments 405 572 138 179 

Excess depreciation over tax allowance – 6 – 6 

Provisions 790 1,258 42 80 

Other timing differences 168 58 168 27 

Retirement benefit obligations 3,467 2,450 – – 

4,850 4,359 348 292 

Net deferred tax (liability)/asset (5,270) (3,845) 348 292 

Assets – 483 348 292 

Liabilities (5,270) (4,328) – – 

Net deferred tax (liability)/asset (5,270) (3,845) 348 292 

Provision for deferred tax

At 4 May 2008 (3,845) (4,496) 292 494 

Charged to the income statement

Adjustments to prior period:

– Provisions (33) 227 (40) – 

– Other – 17 – (30)

– Accelerated capital allowances (18) (23) – – 

Current period charge (17) 1,263 104 67 

Impact of change in tax law (1,383) – – – 

Credit/(charge) to equity 1,499 (876) (8) (239)

Effects of exchange rate changes (1,473) (56) – – 

Effects of changes in tax rates – 99 – – 

At 30 April 2009 (5,270) (3,845) 348 292
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12. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number  
of ordinary shares in issue during the period, excluding those held in the employee trusts, which are treated as cancelled.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue to assume conversion  
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Group has two classes of dilutive potential ordinary shares; those share options granted  
to employees where the exercise price is less than the average market price of the Company’s ordinary shares during the period  
and contingently issuable shares under the Long-Term Incentive Plan.

2009 
£000 

2008 
(Re-presented – 

note 1)
£000 

Profit for the financial period 7,578 2,629 

Profit for the period from continuing operations 7,578 2,629 

Add back: Special items after taxation 5,450 10,067 

Adjusted profit for the financial period 13,028 12,696 

2009 
Number

2008 
Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 28,902,773 28,373,853 

Weighted average number of shares owned by Employee Share Ownership Trust (417) –

Average number of ordinary shares in issue for basic earnings 28,902,356 28,373,853 

Dilutive impact of share options outstanding 198,506 369,173 

Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 29,100,862 28,743,026 

2009 
Pence 

2008 
(Re-presented – 

note 1)
Pence 

Basic earnings per ordinary share 26.2 9.3 

Adjusted basic earnings per ordinary share 45.1 44.7 

Diluted earnings per ordinary share 26.0 9.1 

Adjusted diluted earnings per ordinary share 44.8 44.2 

No options over ordinary shares have been exercised since 30 April 2009.

13. Dividends

Dividends declared and paid during the period:

2009 
£000 

2008 
£000 

Final dividend for 2008 of 12.1p per share (2008: final dividend for 2007 of 12.1p per share) 3,502 3,453 

Interim dividend paid of 7.0p per share (2008: 7.0p) 2,026 1,998 

5,528 5,451 

In addition, the directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the period ended 30 April 2009 of 12.1p per share, which will absorb an 
estimated £3.502m of shareholders’ equity. It will be paid on 23 October 2009 to shareholders who are on the register on 25 September 2009.

Notes to the Accounts
 continued
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14. Property, plant and equipment

Group

Land and
buildings

£000 

Plant,
equipment

and vehicles
£000 

Assets
under

construction
£000 

Total
£000 

Cost

At 4 May 2008 28,506 83,262 4,799 116,567 

Effects of exchange rate changes 1,383 1,194 71 2,648 

Recategorisation of fixed assets in subsidiary originally held for resale – 1,442 – 1,442 

Additions 1,457 4,830 1,703 7,990 

Reclassifications 272 3,776 (4,048) – 

Transfers to other intangible assets – (148) – (148)

Disposals – (16,450) – (16,450)

At 30 April 2009 31,618 77,906 2,525 112,049 

Depreciation and impairment

At 4 May 2008 8,874 59,746 – 68,620 

Effects of exchange rate changes 110 439 – 549 

Recategorisation of depreciation in subsidiary originally held for resale – 100 – 100 

Charge for the period 695 5,829 – 6,524 

Impairment charge 1,324 1,423 – 2,747 

Transfers to other intangible assets – (35) – (35)

Disposals – (16,214) – (16,214)

At 30 April 2009 11,003 51,288 – 62,291 

Net book amount at 30 April 2009 20,615 26,618 2,525 49,758 

The book value of leased assets within plant and equipment at 30 April 2009 was £133,000 (Cost £143,000, accumulated depreciation £10,000).

Net book value of land and buildings comprised:
Group
£000 

Freehold land and buildings 17,711 

Long-term leasehold property 2,789 

Short-term leasehold property 115 

At 30 April 2009 20,615 

The impairment charge of £1.324m on land and buildings arose on the Group’s property at Milton Keynes, which was closed as a manufacturing 
facility in June 2008. An independent valuation was carried out on 2 May 2009, which determined that a further impairment charge was required 
due to the poor market conditions for commercial property.

The impairment charge of £1.423m on plant, equipment and vehicles arose in the Integrated Aluminium Components Limited business, 
which was loss-making in the year, and on certain assets at Bespak and King Systems. 

Company

Short-term 
leasehold

improvements
£000

Plant and  
equipment

£000
Total
£000 

Cost

At 4 May 2008 – 40 40 

Additions 78 84 162 

At 30 April 2009 78 124 202 

Depreciation

At 4 May 2008 – 38 38 

Charge for the period 5 12 17 

At 30 April 2009 5 50 55 

Net book amount at 30 April 2009 73 74 147 



58 Consort Medical plc Annual Report & Accounts 2009

14. Property, plant and equipment continued

Group

Land and
buildings

£000 

Plant,
equipment

and vehicles
£000 

Assets
under

construction
£000 

Total
£000 

Cost

At 29 April 2007 28,172 77,468 4,277 109,917 

Effects of exchange rate changes 52 47 3 102 

Additions 228 4,290 4,741 9,259 

Reclassifications 54 4,168 (4,222) – 

Disposals – (2,711) – (2,711)

At 3 May 2008 28,506 83,262 4,799 116,567 

Depreciation and impairment

At 29 April 2007 6,784 51,525 – 58,309 

Effects of exchange rate changes 5 20 – 25 

Charge for the period 784 5,254 – 6,038 

Impairment charge 1,301 5,382 – 6,683 

Disposals – (2,435) – (2,435)

At 3 May 2008 8,874 59,746 – 68,620 

Net book amount at 3 May 2008 19,632 23,516 4,799 47,947

There were no leased assets within plant and equipment at 3 May 2008.

Net book value of land and buildings comprised:
Group
£000 

Freehold land and buildings 17,592 

Long-term leasehold property 1,989 

Short-term leasehold property 51 

At 3 May 2008 19,632 

Company

Plant and  
equipment

£000 

Cost

At 29 April 2007 137 

Disposals (97)

At 3 May 2008 40 

Depreciation

At 29 April 2007 131 

Charge for the period 3 

Disposals (96)

At 3 May 2008 38 

Net book amount at 3 May 2008 2 

Notes to the Accounts
 continued
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15. Goodwill

2009
£000

Cost

At 29 April 2007 35,792 

Effects of exchange rate changes 437 

At 3 May 2008 36,229 

Effects of exchange rate changes 11,641 

At 30 April 2009 47,870 

Net book value

At 29 April 2007 35,792 

At 3 May 2008 36,229 

At 30 April 2009 47,870 

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of King Systems Corporation and is allocated to the anaesthesia business in the segmental information 
(note 2). Goodwill is not amortised but is tested for impairment annually. Value in use calculations are generally utilised to calculate 
recoverable amount. Value in use is calculated as the net present value of the projected risk-adjusted, post-tax cash flows of the cash 
generating unit in which the goodwill is contained, applying a discount rate of the Group post-tax weighted average cost of capital, 
calculated to be approximately 8%, adjusted where necessary for country-specific risks. This approximates to applying a pre-tax discount  
to pre-tax cash flows.

During the period, the carrying value of goodwill was tested for impairment. A value in use calculation was prepared and approved by the 
Board based upon the first three years of the Group’s strategic plan, which takes into account both past performance and expectations 
for future market development. Cash flows beyond this period are extrapolated using an annual growth rate of 2%. The conclusion of this 
exercise was that there had been no impairment.
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16. Other intangible assets

Computer 
software

£000 

Patented and 
unpatented 

technology and 
know-how

£000 

Trademarks and 
trade names

£000 

Customer 
contracts and 

relationships
£000 

Distribution 
agreements

£000 
Total
£000 

Cost

At 4 May 2008 1,787 4,513 4,142 2,640 2,797 15,879 

Effects of exchange rate changes – 1,501 1,378 880 930 4,689 

Transfers from property, plant and equipment 148 – – – – 148 

Additions  444 – – – – 444 

Disposals (1,016) – – – – (1,016)

At 30 April 2009 1,363 6,014 5,520 3,520 3,727 20,144 

Amortisation

At 4 May 2008 1,443 1,060 974 633 1,315 5,425 

Effects of exchange rate changes – 414 381 248 515 1,558 

Transfers from property, plant and equipment 35 – – – – 35 

Disposals (999) – – – – (999)

Charge for the period 140 540 495 322 669 2,166 

At 30 April 2009 619 2,014 1,850 1,203 2,499 8,185 

Net book amount at 30 April 2009 744 4,000 3,670 2,317 1,228 11,959 

Cost

At 29 April 2007 1,651 4,457 4,090 2,609 2,762 15,569 

Effects of exchange rate changes – 56 52 31 35 174 

Additions  136 – – – – 136 

At 3 May 2008 1,787 4,513 4,142 2,640 2,797 15,879 

Amortisation

At 29 April 2007 1,332 602 553 359 747 3,593 

Effects of exchange rate changes – 14 14 10 18 56 

Charge for the period 111 444 407 264 550 1,776 

At 3 May 2008 1,443 1,060 974 633 1,315 5,425 

Net book amount at 3 May 2008 344 3,453 3,168 2,007 1,482 10,454 

Computer software is amortised over 4 years.

Other than computer software, intangible assets arose from the purchase of 100% of the shares of King Systems Corporation  
on 22 December 2005. The assessed useful lives of the identified intangible assets are:

Useful lives:

Patented and unpatented technology and know-how 10 years

Trademarks and trade names 10 years

Customer contracts and relationships 5 years

Distribution agreements 2-11 years

Notes to the Accounts
 continued
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17. Investments

Group
2009
£000 

2008
£000 

Investments in associate at start of period 243 1,555 

Effects of exchange rate changes 60 (3)

Share of retained losses for the period (note 10) (111) (356)

Impairment charge (note 10) (125) (953)

Investments in associate at end of period 67 243 

Summarised balance sheet information in respect of the Group’s associate is set out below:

2009
£000 

2008
£000 

Total assets 350 2,692 

Total liabilities (67) (314)

Net assets 283 2,378 

Group's share of associate’s net assets 144 1,213 

Less provision against carrying value (77) (970)

Net book amount 67 243 

Company

Investments in
subsidiary

undertakings
2009 
£000 

Cost and net book value at 4 May 2008 and at 30 April 2009 65,585 

£000 

Long-term loans to Group undertakings

At 4 May 2008 20,127 

Additions during the period 1,582 

Transfer of loan previously treated as part of asset held for sale 409

Effects of exchange rate changes 6,695 

Net book value at 30 April 2009 28,813 

Interest is charged on long-term loans to subsidiaries at rates linked to LIBOR.
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18. Disposal groups

2009
£000

2008 
£000 

Assets of subsidiary held exclusively for resale (see notes 1 and 28)  – 2,647 

Liabilities of subsidiary held exclusively for resale (see notes 1 and 28)  – (2,147)

 – 500 

In the company balance sheet at 3 May 2008 the assets held for sale of £409,000 are made up of loans to the subsidiary held for resale  
of £3.551m less an impairment provision of £3.142m.

19. Inventories

 Group  Company

2009
£000

2008
£000

2009
£000

2008
£000

Raw materials and consumables 5,959 3,760  –  – 

Work in progress 1,443 1,552  –  – 

Finished goods 4,705 3,382  –  – 

12,107 8,694  –  – 

The difference between the purchase price or production cost of stocks and their replacement cost is not material.

20. Trade and other receivables
 Group  Company

2009
£000

2008
£000

2009
£000

2008
£000

Trade receivables 13,979 15,436 – – 

Less: Provision for impairment of receivables (135) (26) – – 

Trade receivables – net 13,844 15,410 – – 

Amounts receivable from Group undertakings – – 31,781 24,266 

Amounts receivable from associated undertaking 21 – 21 – 

Other receivables 861 1,732 – 754 

Other taxation 251 294 111 170 

Derivative financial instruments (note 29) 178 – – – 

Prepayments and accrued income 901 912 123 177 

16,056 18,348 32,036 25,367 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The Group 
does not hold any collateral as security.

Amounts receivable from Group undertakings include short-term loans on which interest is charged at rates linked to LIBOR.

As at 30 April 2009, trade receivables of £2,047,000 (2008: £3,462,000) were past due and a provision of £135,000 (2008: £26,000)  
was made in respect of these. The ageing of these trade receivables is as follows:

Notes to the Accounts
 continued
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 Group

2009
£000

2008
£000

Up to 3 months 1,889 3,420 

3 to 6 months 2 14 

Over 6 months 156 28 

2,047 3,462 

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and other receivables is denominated in the following currencies:
 Group

2009
£000

2008
£000

Sterling 8,274 12,288 

US dollars 5,934 4,423 

Euro 1,848 1,637 

16,056 18,348 

Movements on the Group provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:
 Group

2009
£000

2008
£000

At 4 May 2008 26 74 

Transfer from business originally held for resale 25 – 

Provision for impairment of receivables/(reversal of provision no longer required) 82 (14)

Receivables written off in the period (4) (34)

Exchange movement 6 – 

At 30 April 2009 135 26 

Amounts are written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash. The other classes within trade and other receivables  
do not contain impaired assets.

20. Trade and other receivables continued
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21. Cash and cash equivalents
 Group  Company

2009
£000

2008
£000

2009
£000

2008
£000

Cash at bank and in hand 152 271 6,303 17 

Short-term deposits 19,043 18,016 10,937 16,288 

19,195 18,287 17,240 16,305 

The weighted average interest rate of short-term deposits was 1.15% (2008: 4.91%) and the weighted average period to maturity  
was 34 days (2008: 31 days).

22. Trade and other payables

 Group  Company

2009
£000

2008
£000

2009
£000

2008
£000

Amounts falling due within one year

Trade payables 7,559 7,389 120 90 

Amounts payable to Group undertakings – – 33,668 29,268 

Amounts payable to subsidiary held for resale – 56 – – 

Other taxation and social security 624 729 60 37 

Derivative financial instruments (note 29) 602 102 602 99 

Other creditors 3,014 3,582 15 – 

Accruals and deferred income 7,143 5,993 1,115 1,777 

18,942 17,851 35,580 31,271 

Loans from Group undertakings have no fixed date of repayment. Interest is charged at rates linked to LIBOR.

23. Pensions and other post-employment benefits

Pension costs
2009
£000

2008 
(Re-presented – 

note 1) 
£000

UK defined benefit scheme 1,622 1,997 

UK defined contribution schemes 812 760 

Contributions to personal pension plans – 69 

Overseas schemes 73 49 

Total charged to operating expenses (note 4) 2,507 2,875 

Interest on defined benefit plan liabilities 3,410 2,991 

Less: expected return on defined benefit plan assets (3,134) (2,993)

Net interest included in other finance expenses/(income) (note 9) 276 (2) 

Total cost of pensions charged to income statement 2,783 2,873 

Notes to the Accounts
 continued
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23. Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued

Actuarial gains and losses in respect of the defined benefit scheme are recognised in full through the statement of recognised  
income and expense.

The Group operates pension schemes in the UK and a smaller defined contribution scheme in the USA to provide pensions to retired 
employees. UK pension benefits are provided by a defined benefit scheme, whereby retirement benefits are based on employee 
pensionable remuneration and length of service, and by defined contribution schemes, whereby retirement benefits are determined by  
the value of funds arising from contributions paid in respect of each employee. The defined benefit scheme was closed to new entrants  
with effect from 30 June 2002.

Changes were made to the benefits provided by the defined benefit scheme for future service with effect from 1 May 2009. These changes 
did not impact the Scheme’s deficit, but did reduce the future service cost of the Scheme. The rate at which pension is accrued in future 
was reduced and the increases to pensions in payment in respect of future service were capped at 2.5% pa. In addition the members’ 
share of the cost of the Scheme was increased to 8% of pensionable salaries, but this will be paid via a ‘salary sacrifice’ arrangement. 
Under this arrangement members will no longer contribute to the Scheme and so the Group meets the full cost of accrual, but members  
will receive a reduction in their salary equal to their share of the cost of the Scheme. Members have the right to opt out of this arrangement 
if they wish to receive their full salary and contribute to the Scheme, in which case the Group’s contributions to the Scheme will reduce.

Contributions to defined benefit schemes are determined in accordance with the advice of an independent, professionally qualified actuary. 
Pension costs of defined benefit schemes for accounting purposes have been assessed in accordance with independent actuarial advice, 
using the projected unit method. Liabilities are assessed annually in accordance with the advice of an independent actuary. Formal, 
independent, actuarial valuations of the Group’s defined benefit scheme are undertaken, normally every three years.

The following information relates to the Group’s UK defined benefit pension scheme, the Bespak plc Staff Retirement Benefits Scheme  
(“the Scheme”).

2009
£000

2008
£000

Change in defined benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at start of period 56,227 56,862 

Current service cost 1,622 1,997 

Interest cost 3,410 2,991 

Member contributions 377 481 

Actuarial gains (5,351) (4,959) 

Benefits paid (782) (1,145)

Benefit obligation at end of period (partly funded plan) 55,503 56,227 

Change in fair value of plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at start of period 48,468 46,093 

Expected return on plan assets 3,134 2,993 

Actuarial losses (10,743) (3,476) 

Regular employer contributions 1,373 1,782 

Employer contributions – deficit funding 1,595 1,740 

Member contributions 377 481 

Benefits paid (782) (1,145)

Fair value of plan assets at end of period 43,422 48,468 

Defined benefit pension scheme deficit recognised (partly funded plan) 12,081 7,759 
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23. Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued

Components of defined benefit pension cost

 Period to
30 April 2009

£000

Period to
3 May 2008

£000

Current service cost 1,622 1,997 

Interest cost 3,410 2,991 

Expected return on plan assets (3,134) (2,993)

Total defined benefit pension cost recognised in the income statement 1,898 1,995 

Actuarial losses/(gains) immediately recognised 5,392 (1,483) 

Total pension cost/(income) recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense 5,392 (1,483) 

Cumulative amount of actuarial losses immediately recognised 11,602 6,210 

The actual return on plan assets in the period to 30 April 2009 was a loss of £7.609m (2008: loss £0.483m).

Five-year history
2009
£000

2008
£000

2007
£000

2006
£000

2005
£000

Benefit obligation at end of period (55,503) (56,227) (56,862) (51,191) (37,811) 

Fair value of plan assets at end of period 43,422 48,468 46,093 39,189 22,108 

Deficit (12,081) (7,759) (10,769) (12,002) (15,703)

Difference between expected and actual return of scheme assets: 

Amount (£000) (10,743) (3,476) 1,032 4,948 (249)

Percentage of scheme assets (25%) (7%) 2% 13% (1%)

Experience gains and losses to scheme liabilities:

Amount (£000) (270) – – (408) –

Percentage of scheme liabilities 0% – – (1%) –

Contributions
Under the Schedule of Contributions agreed with the Scheme’s trustees in place at the time this disclosure was prepared, the Group expects 
to contribute approximately £4.3m to the defined benefit scheme in the 2010 financial year.

Explanation of the relationship between Consort Medical plc and the trustees of the Scheme
The Scheme assets are held in a separate trustee-administered fund to meet long-term pension liabilities to past and present employees.  
The trustees of the Scheme are required to act in the best interests of the Scheme’s beneficiaries. The appointment of trustees to the Scheme 
is set out under Rule A16 of the Scheme’s trust deed and rules dated 14 March 1997. The Scheme has a policy that one-third of all trustees 
should be nominated by members of the Scheme.

Disclosure of principal assumptions
The principal actuarial assumptions adopted at the balance sheet date were:

30 April 2009 3 May 2008

Discount rate 6.4% pa 6.0% pa

Future inflation 3.6% pa 3.7% pa

Future salary increases 4.35% pa 4.7% pa

Future pension increases (where increases are in line with inflation subject to a maximum of 5% pa) 3.5% pa 3.7% pa

Expected return on plan assets 6.4% pa 6.3% pa

The IAS 19 accounting standard ‘Employee benefits’ requires that the discount rate used be determined by reference to market yields at  
the balance sheet date on high quality fixed income investments. The currency and term of these should be consistent with the currency  
and estimated term of the post-employment obligations. 

Notes to the Accounts
 continued
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23. Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued

The discount rate has been developed from a spot yield curve based on UK Government bonds, adjusted to reflect the credit spread  
between AA-rated corporate bonds and Government bonds.

The expected rate of inflation is an important building block for the salary growth and pension increase assumption. A rate of inflation  
is ‘implied’ by the difference between the yields on fixed-interest and index-linked Government bonds.

For the majority of members, pension accrued before 6 April 1997 does not receive any guaranteed increases and it is assumed that no 
discretionary increases will be awarded. Pension accrued after 6 April 1997 receives increases in line with inflation subject to a maximum  
of 5% per annum. Some members receive fixed increases of 3% per annum on pension accrued before 6 April 1997 and increases in line  
with inflation subject to a minimum of 3% per annum and a maximum of 5% per annum on pension accrued after 6 April 1997 (for which  
the Company has assumed future increases will be 3.9% per annum). 

One of the key assumptions made in valuing the pension scheme’s liabilities are the mortality rates used to assess how long pensions will  
be paid for. The mortality rates used to calculate the Scheme’s liabilities were updated as part of the Scheme’s actuarial valuation in 2008  
to reflect the results of surveys that have highlighted that people are living longer. The mortality rates now used in calculating the Scheme’s 
liabilities are based on data collected between 1991 and 1994, but allow for the accelerated improvements in longevity witnessed since  
that time and also allow for these accelerated improvements to continue in the future with a minimum annual rate of improvement of 1%  
per annum. These mortality tables are referred to 110% of the PA92 long cohort tables with a 1% per annum underpin.

The current life expectancies (in years) underlying the value of the accrued liabilities for the Scheme are:

 30 April 2009  3 May 2008

Life expectancy at age 65 Male Female Male Female

Member currently aged 65 23.2 26.4 22.0 24.9

Member currently aged 45 25.2 28.5 23.1 25.9

The overall expected return on assets has been calculated as the weighted average of the expected return for the principal asset categories, 
net of investment expenses, held by the plan as follows. 

Asset category

 30 April 2009  3 May 2008

Weighting Expected return * Weighting Expected return *

Gilts 22% 4.6% 21% 4.30%

Corporate bonds 26% 6.4% 21% 6.30%

Equities 42% 7.6% 47% 7.20%

Hedge funds 10% 6.6% – 6.10%

Cash – – 11% n/a

Overall 100% 6.4%* 100% 6.30%*

 
*Net of investment expenses and based on the agreed target allocation

Sensitivity analysis of the principal assumptions used to measure Scheme liabilities
The sensitivity of the Scheme’s liabilities to changes in the principal assumptions used to measure these liabilities is illustrated below. The 
illustrations consider the single change shown with the other assumptions assumed to be unchanged. In practice, changes in one assumption 
may be accompanied by offsetting changes in another assumption (this is not always the case).

The Group liability is the difference between the Scheme liabilities and the Scheme assets. Certain changes in the assumptions will be as a 
result of changes in market yields. Where this is the case the market value of Scheme assets may change simultaneously, which may or may 
not offset the change in assumptions. For example, a fall in interest rates will increase the Scheme liability, but may also trigger an offsetting 
increase in the market value of assets so that the net effect on the Group liability is reduced.
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23. Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued

Assumption Change in assumption Impact on Scheme’s accrued liabilities

Discount rate Increase by 0.1% pa Decrease by 2.7%

Rate of inflation Increase by 0.1% pa Increase by 2.1%

Rate of salary growth Increase by 0.1% pa Increase by 1.0%

Rate of mortality Members assumed to live one year longer Increase by 2.0%

How the liabilities arising from the Scheme are measured
The Group provides retirement benefits via the Scheme to some of its former employees and approximately 50% of current UK employees. The 
level of retirement benefit is principally based on salary earned in the final three years of employment and period of service as a Scheme member.

The projected liabilities of the Scheme are apportioned between members’ past and future service using the projected unit actuarial cost 
method. The deficit in the consolidated balance sheet is the difference between the projected liability allocated to past service (the defined 
benefit obligation) and the market value of the assets of the Scheme. The defined benefit obligation makes allowance for future earnings 
growth. If all active members were assumed to leave the Group and the allowance for future earnings growth was replaced by an allowance  
for statutory revaluation, the liabilities would reduce by approximately £3.6m.

An alternative measure of liability is the cost of buying out benefits at the balance sheet date with a suitable insurer. This amount represents  
the amount that would be required to settle the Scheme liabilities at the balance sheet date rather than the Group continuing to fund the 
ongoing liabilities of the Scheme. The latest estimate of the amount required to settle the Scheme’s liabilities was calculated at 30 April 2008. 
This indicated that the amount required was £29.9m in excess of the assets held by the Scheme. 

Future funding obligations in relation to the Scheme
The trustees have selected a funding target based on the Scheme being closed to new members but with active members continuing to 
accrue benefits. The agreed funding objective is to reach and then maintain assets equal to 100% of the value of the projected past service 
liabilities, assessed on an ongoing basis, allowing for future salary increases for active members.

The most recently completed triennial actuarial valuation of the Scheme was performed by an independent actuary for the trustees of the 
Scheme and was carried out as at 30 April 2008. Following the valuation and changes to the Scheme’s benefits for future service the Group 
agreed to pay contributions of (on average) 16.7% of members’ pensionable salaries per annum to fund the accrual of future benefits and 
£238,000 per month with the intention of funding the Scheme’s deficit on an ongoing basis by 30 April 2013. The Group contribution rate  
will be lower for members who opt out of the ‘salary sacrifice’ arrangement.

Nature and extent of the risks arising from financial instruments held by the Scheme
The expected return on the Scheme’s assets is based on market expectations at the beginning of the financial period for returns over the  
life of the related obligation. The expected yield on bond investments with fixed interest rates can be derived exactly from their market value.  
Some of these bond investments are issued by the UK Government and the risk of default on these is very small. The trustees also hold bond 
investments issued by public companies. There is a more significant risk of default on these which is assessed by various rating agencies. 
The trustees also have a substantial holding of equity and hedge fund investments, with a target of 60% of the Scheme’s assets being invested 
in these funds. The investment return related to these is variable, and they are generally considered much “riskier” investments. It is generally 
accepted that the yield on these investments will contain a premium (“the equity risk premium”) to compensate investors for the additional risk 
of holding this type of investment. There is significant uncertainty about the likely size of this risk premium. 

The majority of the equities held by the Scheme are in international blue chip entities. The aim is to hold a globally diversified portfolio of 
equities, with a target of 50% of equities being held in the UK, 18.75% in the rest of Europe, 13.75% in North American equities, 7.5%  
in each of Japanese and Pacific Basin equities and 2.5% in emerging markets.

As part of the investment strategy review conducted in 2007/8, the trustees, in conjunction with the Group, have carried out an asset-liability 
review for the Scheme. These studies are used to assist the trustees and the Group in determining the optimal long-term asset allocation with 
regard to the structure of liabilities within the Scheme. The results of the study are used to assist the trustees in managing the volatility in the 
underlying investment performance and the risk of a significant increase in the Scheme’s deficit by providing information used to determine  
the pension scheme’s investment strategy.

Notes to the Accounts
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24. Provisions and other liabilities

Plant  
restructuring

£000 

Employee 
benefits

£000 

Other  
provisions

£000 
Total
£000 

Group

At 4 May 2008 3,998 243 1,496 5,737 

Provided in the period 2,155 – 1,758 3,913 

Released in the period (180) (85) (1,409) (1,674)

Utilised in the period (3,704) (86) – (3,790)

At 30 April 2009 2,269 72 1,845 4,186 

To be settled within one year 2,269 72 1,845 4,186 

Company

At 4 May 2008 – 243 – 243 

Released in the period – (85) – (85)

Utilised in the period – (86) – (86)

At 30 April 2009 – 72 – 72 

To be settled within one year – 72 – 72 

The plant restructuring provision at 30 April 2009 comprises an onerous property lease and certain costs associated with the  
restructuring at Bespak.

Employee benefits represents a provision for national insurance contributions on share options and other share-based payments.

Other provisions are in respect of product quality issues.
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25. Net debt

 Group  Company

2009
£000

2008
£000

2009
£000

2008
£000

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 19,195 18,287 17,240 16,305 

19,195 18,287 17,240 16,305 

Short-term borrowings:

Overdrafts and short-term loans repayable within one year (unsecured) (29,782) (22,281) (29,689) (22,280)

Bank term loan payable within one year (4,723) (3,544) (4,723) (3,544)

Obligations under finance leases (40) – – – 

(34,545) (25,825) (34,412) (25,824)

Long-term borrowings

Bank term loan repayable within five years (USD, unsecured) (8,266) (9,747) (8,266) (9,747)

Less: payable within one year 4,723 3,544 4,723 3,544 

(3,543) (6,203) (3,543) (6,203)

Total borrowings (38,088) (32,028) (37,955) (32,027)

Net debt (18,893) (13,741) (20,715) (15,722)

Cash and short-term borrowings 
For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and short-term borrowings comprise cash and cash equivalents less  
bank overdrafts and short-term loans.

Short-term loans include a revolving loan for $44m/£29.690m (2008: $44m/£22.278m) drawn against a $55m/£40m (whichever is  
the higher) facility that expires in December 2010. The loan is long-term in nature but is shown in the balance sheet as a current liability  
as the principal sum is rolled over on a quarterly basis.

 Group  Company

2009
£000

2008
£000

2009
£000

2008
£000

Cash and cash equivalents 19,195 18,287 17,240 16,305 

Bank overdrafts and short-term loans (29,782) (22,281) (29,689) (22,280)

Cash and short-term borrowings (10,587) (3,994) (12,449) (5,975)

All borrowings and loans are unsecured. The bank loans and overdrafts are subject to cross-guarantees between Group undertakings.

Bank loans are denominated in USD and bear interest linked to USD LIBOR. In December 2005, as part of interest rate management 
strategy, the Company entered into an interest rate swap for the notional value of the five-year term loan. Under this swap, the Company 
receives interest on a variable basis and pays interest fixed at 5.51%. In March 2008 a second interest swap was taken out for $20m until 
December 2010 at a rate of 3.475%. Interest on the remaining balance of the revolving credit facility is charged at LIBOR plus 0.65% and 
on UK overdrafts at 1% above UK base rate.

Notes to the Accounts
 continued
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26. Share capital and share premium account

Group and Company Number

Ordinary shares 
of 10p each

£000

Share  
premium

£000

Share capital authorised

At 4 May 2008 and 30 April 2009 40,000,000 4,000 –

Share capital issued and fully paid

At 4 May 2008 28,718,127 2,872 31,360 

Issued under share option schemes 225,795 23 1,018 

At 30 April 2009 28,943,922 2,895 32,378 

30 April  
2009

3 May
2008

Number of shares issuable under outstanding options 1,148,443 1,440,883 

153,130 ordinary shares of 10p were issued as a result of exercises under the Bespak Executive Share Option Scheme for total 
consideration of £726,000. 

72,665 ordinary shares of 10p were issued as a result of exercises under the Bespak Savings-Related Share Option Scheme  
for total consideration of £315,000.

£754,000 was received in May 2008 for options exercised in the previous financial period.
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27. Movements in equity

Group

Share
capital

£000

Share
premium

£000

Retained
earnings

£000

Other
reserves*

£000
Total
£000

Balance at 29 April 2007 2,845 30,205 39,841 (1,404) 71,487 

Profit for the financial period – – 2,629 – 2,629 

Fair value movements on cash flow hedges – – – (131) (131)

Deferred tax on fair value movements on cash flow hedges – – – 39 39 

Exchange movements on translation of foreign subsidiaries – – – 208 208 

Current tax on exchange movements – – – (11) (11)

Deferred tax on share-based payments – – (349) – (349)

Current tax on share-based payments – – 126 – 126 

Actuarial gains on defined benefit pension scheme – – 1,483 – 1,483 

Deferred tax on actuarial gains – – (566) – (566)

Recognition of share-based payments – – 858 – 858 

Proceeds from exercise of employee options 27 1,155 – – 1,182 

Equity dividends – – (5,451) – (5,451)

Balance at 4 May 2008 2,872 31,360 38,571 (1,299) 71,504 

Profit for the financial period – – 7,578 – 7,578 

Fair value movements on cash flow hedges – – – (503) (503)

Deferred tax on fair value movements on cash flow hedges – – – 140 140 

Exchange movements on translation of foreign subsidiaries – – – 6,422 6,422 

Deferred tax on exchange movements – – – (30) (30)

Current tax on exchange movements – – – (1,307) (1,307)

Deferred tax on share-based payments – – (122) – (122)

Current tax on share-based payments – – 18 – 18 

Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension scheme – – (5,392) – (5,392)

Deferred tax on actuarial losses – – 1,511 – 1,511 

Recognition of share-based payments – – 860 – 860 

Consideration paid for purchase of own shares (held in trust) – – (472) – (472)

Proceeds from exercise of employee options 23 1,018 – – 1,041 

Equity dividends – – (5,528) – (5,528)

Balance at 30 April 2009 2,895 32,378 37,024 3,423 75,720

*Other reserves expanded

Cash flow
hedge 

reserve
£000

Translation
reserves

£000
Total
£000

Balance at 29 April 2007 21 (1,425) (1,404)

Total recognised income and expense for the period (92) 197 105 

Balance at 4 May 2008 (71) (1,228) (1,299)

Total recognised income and expense for the period (363) 5,085 4,722 

Balance at 30 April 2009 (434) 3,857 3,423 

Investment in own shares represents the purchase of shares by an Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT) to satisfy entitlements under 
the Group’s Long-Term Incentive Plan. The ESOT was financed by a repayable-on-demand loan from the Company of £0.47m (2008: £nil). 
As at 30 April 2009 the ESOT held a total of 1,777 ordinary shares (2008: nil shares) at a cost of £9,000 and market value of £7,000.

Notes to the Accounts
 continued
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27. Movements in equity continued

Company

Share
capital

£000

Share
premium

£000

Retained
earnings

£000
Total
£000

Balance at 29 April 2007 2,845 30,205 17,653 50,703 

Profit for the financial period – – 1,810 1,810 

Deferred tax on share-based payments – – (148) (148)

Current tax on share-based payments – – 33 33 

Recognition of share-based payments – – 858 858 

Proceeds from sale of shares for employee options 27 1,155 – 1,182 

Equity dividends – – (5,451) (5,451)

Balance at 4 May 2008 2,872 31,360 14,755 48,987 

Profit for the financial period – – 9,494 9,494 

Deferred tax on share-based payments – – (8) (8)

Current tax on share-based payments – – 3 3 

Recognition of share-based payments – – 860 860 

Consideration paid for purchase of own shares (held in trust) (472) (472)

Proceeds from sale of shares for employee options 23 1,018 – 1,041 

Equity dividends – – (5,528) (5,528)

Balance at 30 April 2009 2,895 32,378 19,104 54,377

Profit for the financial period
As permitted by s408 of the Companies Act 2006, the holding company’s profit and loss account has not been included in these financial 
statements. The profit on ordinary activities after taxation for the financial period dealt with in the accounts of the holding company was 
£9.494m (2008: profit £1.810m).

28. Acquisition

On 13 July 2007, the Group formed a new subsidiary, Integrated Aluminium Components Limited, to acquire certain assets from the 
administrators of Decorpart Limited. The acquisition was made to secure the supply chain for components used in the manufacture 
of metered dose inhaler valves. The business was acquired with a view to resale; accordingly, it was not consolidated but treated as a 
discontinued operation under IFRS 5. The assets and liabilities of the business were shown as separate lines in the Group balance sheet. 
The change in fair value from the date of acquisition to the balance sheet date was shown as a loss from discontinued operations.

In the 2009 financial period a decision was taken not to sell the business in the current markets but to restructure the business and retain  
it as part of the Group. As a result of this decision the purchase has been accounted for as an acquisition and the income statement for  
the prior period re-presented (see note 1). Under IFRS 5 the consolidated balance sheet for the prior period is not re-presented.

The cost and fair values of the assets acquired are shown in the following table.

Cost of assets 
acquired

£000

Fair value  
adjustments

£000
Fair values

£000

Plant and equipment 825 – 825 

Inventory 675 145 820 

Net assets acquired 1,500 145 1,645 

Negative goodwill (54)

Total cash consideration 1,591

The negative goodwill has been credited to the income statement within special items.
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29. Financial instruments and related disclosures

Financial risk management
Consort Medical plc reports in sterling and pays dividends out of 
sterling profits. A function of Group Finance is to manage and monitor 
the Group’s external and internal funding requirements and financial 
risks in support of Group corporate objectives. Treasury activities are 
governed by policies and procedures approved by the Board and 
monitored by Group Finance.

Group Finance maintains treasury control systems and procedures  
to monitor foreign exchange, interest rate, liquidity, credit and other 
financial risks.

Consort Medical plc uses a variety of financial instruments, including 
derivatives, to finance its operations and to manage market risks  
from these operations. Financial instruments include cash and liquid 
resources, borrowings, forward foreign exchange contracts and 
interest rate swaps.

Liquid assets surplus to the immediate operating requirements of 
Group undertakings are generally invested and managed centrally  
by Group Finance. 

External borrowings, mainly managed centrally by Group Finance, 
comprise a combination of long and short-term finance.

Consort Medical plc does not hold or issue derivative financial 
instruments for trading purposes and the Group’s Treasury policies 
specifically prohibit such activity. All transactions in financial 
instruments are undertaken to manage the risks arising from 
underlying business activities, not for speculation.

Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide 
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may 
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital  
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Selling margins are sufficient to cover normal operating costs and the 
Group’s operating subsidiaries are cash-generative. None of the entities 
in the Group is subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Operating cash flow is used to fund investment in new product 
development as well as to make the routine outflows of capital 
expenditure, tax, dividends and repayment of maturing debt.

The Group’s policy is to borrow centrally to meet anticipated  
funding requirements.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This  
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is 
calculated as borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total  
capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated  
balance sheet plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 30 April 2009 and 3 May 2008 (re-presented, 
note 1) were as follows:

2009
£000

2008
£000

Total borrowings   38,088   32,028

Less: cash and cash equivalents  (19,195)  (18,287)

Net debt   18,893   13,741

Total equity   75,720   71,504

Total capital 94,613   85,245

Gearing ratio 20% 16%

The Group also monitors two widely used ratios to measure our ability 
to service our debt. Both net debt/EBITDA and EBITDA interest cover 
were ahead of target in 2009.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The table entitled ‘Fair value of financial assets and liabilities’ presents the 
carrying amount and the fair values of the Group’s financial assets and 
liabilities under IFRS. Where available, market values have been used to 
determine fair values. Where market values are not available, fair values 
are determined using the prevailing interest and exchange rates. 

The methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair values  
of financial instruments are as follows:
•  Forward exchange contracts – The fair value of the Group’s forward 

exchange contracts is based on market prices and exchange rates  
at the balance sheet date

•  Interest rate swaps – The fair value of the Group’s interest rate 
swaps is based on the market values at the balance sheet date

•  Other – the fair value of other assets and liabilities approximates 
to the carrying amount reported in the balance sheet

Fair value and cash flow hedging activities
Under IFRS, all derivative financial instruments are recognised as assets 
or liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet at fair value. Gains and 
losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement unless 
they are designated as hedging instruments and tested to be effective 
under IAS 39 ‘Financial instruments – Recognition and measurement’, 
in which case the element of gains and losses that fulfil the hedge 
effectiveness criteria are taken directly to equity.

Consort Medical plc’s hedging strategy is unchanged in respect of 
covering the transactional risk of foreign currency sales and purchases 
and hedging the net investment position of foreign subsidiaries.

Interest rate risk management
The Group’s policy is to convert a portion of its floating rate debt into 
fixed rate debt using interest rate swaps. The Group designates these 
as cash flow hedges of interest rate risk. 57% (2008: 62%) or $32.25m  
of the Group’s USD denominated debt at 30 April 2009 (total $56.25m) 
is at fixed rates. The fair value of the interest rate swaps at 30 April 
2009 was a liability of £602,000 (2008: liability £99,000). The 
movement in the period has been included in the consolidated 
statement of recognised income and expense. 

Based on the USD denominated floating rate debt at the period end,  
a 100 basis point movement in US interest rates would have a £0.2m 
impact on the Group’s interest expense (2008: £0.1m). A 100 basis 
point movement in UK interest rates would have a £0.2m impact on the 
Group’s interest income based on the cash balances at 30 April 2009 
(2008: £0.2m).

Notes to the Accounts
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29. Financial instruments and related disclosures continued

The Group manages centrally the short-term cash surpluses  
or borrowing requirements of subsidiary undertakings. 

Foreign exchange risk management
The Group’s principal currency exposure is movement between  
Sterling and the US dollar.

Transactional exposure
The Group uses forward contracts to hedge transactional currency 
exposures. As a result there were no material net monetary assets or 
liabilities in foreign currencies, having taken into account the effect of 
forward exchange currency contracts that have been used to match 
foreign currency exposures. 

The Group hedges a proportion of forecast foreign currency transaction 
exposure generally extending up to 12 months. At 30 April 2009, the 
Group held forward contracts to hedge the equivalent of £1.2m of 
forecast foreign currency transaction exposures (2008: £0.7m). The  
fair value of the forward exchange contracts was an asset of £178,000 
at 30 April 2009 (2008: liability £3,000). The Group currently does not 
designate these forward contracts as cash flow hedges and gains  
and losses are recognised in the income statement.

The primary exposures in the UK business are transactions 
denominated in the USD and the Euro. Based on the net exposures 
in these currencies at the period end, a 10% decline in Sterling 
against the USD and the Euro would increase operating profit by 
£0.1m (2008: £0.2m). A 10% increase in the value of Sterling would 
have a similar but opposite effect.

Translational exposure
The income statement of the Group’s US business is converted into 
Sterling each month for reporting purposes at the average exchange 
rate throughout the period. Consequently, there is a translational 
exposure arising from movements in the Sterling/US$ exchange  
rate. The Group does not hedge this translation exposure.

Included in loans at 30 April 2009 was a borrowing of $56.25m/£38.0m 
(2008: $63.25m/£32.0m) which has been designated as a hedge of 
the Group’s net investments in the United States and is being used to 
hedge the exposure to foreign exchange risks on these investments. 
Gains or losses on the retranslation of this borrowing are transferred to 
equity to offset any gains or losses on translation of the net investments 
in the subsidiaries. In the period ended 30 April 2009 there was a gain 
of £6.4m taken to equity on retranslation of the Group’s net investment 
in its US business (2008: gain of £0.2m).

A decline of 10% in the value of Sterling at the period end would 
increase the value of the Group’s net assets and equity by £3.3m 
(2008: increase of £2.0m). A 10% increase in the value of Sterling  
would have a similar but opposite effect.

Committed facilities
As part of its financial risk management policy the Group has 
committed facilities available at floating rates that expire within one 
year. In addition the Group has a £40m/$55m (whichever is the 
higher) revolving credit facility that expires in December 2010.

Market risk of financial assets
The Group invests centrally managed liquid assets in short-term 
investments with banks at floating rates measured against LIBID. 
These investments are classified as cash and cash equivalents.

Credit risk
The Group is exposed to a concentration of credit risk in respect of  
its major customers such that, if one or more of them is affected by 
financial difficulty, it could materially and adversely affect the Group’s 
financial results. However, the Group generally does not expect its 
customers to fail to meet their obligations.

The Group does not believe that it is exposed to major concentrations 
of credit risk on other classes of financial instruments. The Group  
is exposed to credit-related losses in the event of non-performance 
by counterparties to financial instruments, but does not expect any 
counterparties to fail to meet their obligations.

The Group applies Board-approved limits to the amount of credit 
exposure to any one counterparty and employs strict minimum 
creditworthiness criteria as to the choice of counterparty. Additionally, 
the Group takes out credit insurance cover against the majority of 
export sales.

Liquidity
The Group operates internationally, primarily through subsidiary 
companies established in the markets in which the Group trades. 
Selling margins are sufficient to exceed normal operating costs  
and the Group’s operating subsidiaries are cash-generative.

Operating cash flow is used to fund investment in the research and 
development of new products as well as routine outflows of capital 
expenditure, tax, dividends and repayment of maturing debt. The 
Group may, from time to time, have additional demands for finance, 
such as acquisitions. 
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29. Financial instruments and related disclosures continued

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The following table sets out the classification of financial assets and liabilities. Receivables and payables have been included to the  
extent that they are classified as financial assets and liabilities in accordance with IAS 32. Provisions have been included where there is a 
contractual obligation to settle in cash. Where appropriate, currency and interest rate swaps have been presented alongside the underlying 
principal instrument. The carrying amounts of these instruments have been adjusted for the effect of the currency and interest rate swaps 
acting as hedges.

                  At 30 April 2009                     At 3 May 2008

Book
value
£000 

Fair
value
£000 

Book
value
£000 

Fair
value
£000 

Cash and cash equivalents 19,195 19,195 18,287 18,287 

Current asset financial instruments 19,195 19,195 18,287 18,287 

Short-term borrowings and overdrafts (29,782) (29,782) (22,281) (22,281)

Long-term borrowings (8,266) (8,266) (9,747) (9,747)

Finance leases (40) (40)  – – 

Interest rate swaps (602) (602) (99) (99)

Total borrowings and related swaps (38,690) (38,690) (32,127) (32,127)

Forward exchange contracts 178 178 (3) (3)

Total trade receivables, payables and related swaps 178 178 (3) (3)

Total financial assets and liabilities (19,317) (19,317) (13,843) (13,843)

Total financial assets 19,373 19,373 18,287 18,287 

Total financial liabilities (38,690) (38,690) (32,130) (32,130)

Short-term loans include a revolving loan for $44m/£29.690m (2008: $44m/£22.278m) drawn against a £40m/$55m (whichever is the 
higher) facility that expires in December 2010. The loan is long-term in nature but is shown in the balance sheet as a current liability as  
the principal sum is rolled over on a quarterly basis.

Notes to the Accounts
 continued
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29. Financial instruments and related disclosures continued

Interest rate profile of financial assets and liabilities
The interest rate profile of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group at 30 April 2009 is as follows:

At 30 April 2009
Financial assets

Cash and
cash 

equivalents
£000 

Forward  
exchange  
contracts  

£000
Total
£000 

Less than one year 19,195 178 19,373

Total interest earning 19,195 178 19,373

Analysed as:

Floating rate interest 17,381 – 17,381

Total interest earning 17,381 – 17,381

Non-interest earning 1,814 178 1,992

Total 19,195 178 19,373

At 30 April 2009
Financial liabilities

Short-term
borrowings

and overdrafts
£000 

Long-term
borrowings

£000 

Effect of
interest rate

swaps
£000 

Obligations 
under finance 

leases
£000 

Total
£000 

Less than one year (29,782) (4,723) (421) (40) (34,966)

Between one and two years – (3,543) (181) – (3,724)

Between two and three years – – – – – 

Between three and four years – – – – – 

Total interest earning (29,782) (8,266) (602) (40) (38,690)

Analysed as:

Fixed rate interest – (8,266) (602) (40) (8,908)

Floating rate interest (29,782) – – – (29,782)

Total interest earning (29,782) (8,266) (602) (40) (38,690)

Non-interest earning – – – – – 

Total (29,782) (8,266) (602) (40) (38,690)

At 3 May 2008
Financial assets

Cash  
and cash 

equivalents
£000 

Total
£000 

Less than one year 18,287 18,287

Total interest earning 18,287 18,287

Analysed as:

Floating rate interest 17,339 17,339

Total interest earning 17,339 17,339

Non-interest earning 948 948

Total 18,287 18,287

At 3 May 2008
Financial liabilities

Short-term
borrowings

and overdrafts
£000 

Long-term
borrowings

£000 

Effect of
interest rate

swaps
£000 

Forward  
exchange  
contracts

£000 
Total
£000 

Less than one year (22,281) (3,544) (52) (3) (25,880)

Between one and two years – (3,544) (33) – (3,577)

Between two and three years – (2,659) (14) – (2,673)

Total interest earning (22,281) (9,747) (99) (3) (32,130)

Analysed as:

Fixed rate interest – (9,747) (99) – (9,846)

Floating rate interest (22,281) – – – (22,281)

Total interest earning (22,281) (9,747) (99) – (32,127)

Non-interest earning – – – (3) (3)

Total (22,281) (9,747) (99) (3) (32,130)
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29. Financial instruments and related disclosures continued

Currency profile of the financial assets and liabilities
The currency profile of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group at 30 April 2009 is as follows:

At 30 April 2009
Sterling

£000

US  
dollar
£000

Euro
£000

Swiss  
franc
£000

Indian  
rupee
£000

Total
£000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 16,271 2,857 61  – 6 19,195 

Forward exchange contracts  –  – (4) 182 – 178

16,271 2,857 57 182 6 19,373

Financial liabilities

Short-term borrowings and overdrafts (93) (29,689)  –  –  – (29,782)

Term-loan  – (8,266)  –  –  – (8,266)

Effect of interest rate swaps  – (602)  –  –  – (602)

Obligations under finance leases –  –  (40)  –  – (40) 

(93) (38,557) (40)  –  – (38,690)

At 3 May 2008
Sterling

£000

US  
dollar
£000

Euro
£000

Swiss  
franc
£000

Indian  
rupee
£000

Total
£000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 15,693 1,429 120 1,045  – 18,287 

15,693 1,429 120 1,045  – 18,287 

Financial liabilities

Short-term borrowings and overdrafts (2) (22,278)  –  – (1) (22,281)

Term-loan  – (9,747)  –  –  – (9,747)

Effect of interest rate swaps  – (99)  –  –  – (99)

Forward exchange contracts  – (2) (1)  –  – (3)

(2) (32,126) (1)  – (1) (32,130)

Notes to the Accounts
 continued
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29. Financial instruments and related disclosures continued

Borrowing facilities
At 30 April 2009, the Group had the following undrawn committed borrowing facilities available at floating rates:

2009 
£000 

2008 
£000 

Expiring within one year 12,818 21,319 

Derivative financial instruments
The table below sets out the net principal amounts and fair value of derivative contracts held by Consort Medical plc.

Contract or 
underlying 

principal amount
£000

 Fair value

Assets
£000

Liabilities
£000

At 30 April 2009

Foreign exchange contracts 1,158 178 –

Interest rate swaps 21,761 – (602)

Total derivative financial instruments 22,919 178 (602)

At 3 May 2008

Foreign exchange contracts 679 – (3)

Interest rate swaps 9,747 – (99)

Total derivative financial instruments 10,426 – (102)

Hedges
Cash flow hedges
The Group has entered into two interest rate swaps for a nominal value of $32.25m (2008: $39.25m) that are designated as cash flow 
hedges to cover changes in cash flows due to changes in interest rates on its USD floating rate loans. The first swap was taken out in 
December 2005 and matches the USD term loan of $12.25m at 30 April 2009 (2008: $19.25m). In line with the term loan the swap  
reduces by $1.75m per quarter. The interest cost of this swap is 5.51%. The second swap is for $20m and was taken out in March 2008  
at a cost of 3.475%. Both swaps mature in December 2010. The fair value of the swaps at 30 April 2009 was a net liability of £602,000 
(2008: liability £99,000).

Net investment hedges
The Group has designated its USD denominated term loan and revolving credit loan as a net investment hedge in respect of the foreign 
currency translation risk arising on consolidation of the Group’s net investments in the United States. The fair value of the USD borrowings 
at 30 April 2009 was £38.0m (2008: £32.0m). The foreign exchange loss of £10.1m (2008: loss £0.4m) on translation of the borrowing  
into Sterling has been recognised in exchange reserves.
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30. Employee share schemes

Share options
The Group operates share award schemes whereby awards are granted to employees to acquire shares in Consort Medical plc at  
no cost, subject to the achievement by the Group of certain specified performance targets. It also offers savings-related share option  
schemes. Since the introduction of the 2005 LTIP scheme no further awards have been made under any Executive Share Option Scheme.

Grants of share awards are normally exercisable at the end of the three year vesting/performance period. Grants under savings-related 
share option schemes are normally exercisable after three years’ saving. Grants under share option schemes are normally exercisable 
between three and ten years from the date of grant. Options under the share option schemes are normally granted at the market price  
ruling at the date of grant. The majority of options under the savings-related share option schemes are now granted at the market price 
ruling at the date of grant.

Share options awarded to the directors are subject to performance criteria as laid out in the Remuneration Report.

Share-based compensation recognised in the income statement
The share-based compensation charge has been recorded in the income statement as follows:

2009
£000

2008
£000

Staff costs (see note 4) 860 858 

Option pricing
For the purposes of valuing options to arrive at the stock-based compensation charge, the Black-Scholes option pricing model has been 
used. The assumptions used in the model are as follows:

All share 
schemes 

2008

Risk-free interest rate 3.99% to 5.1%

Dividend yield 2.9% to 3.4%

Volatility 28% to 30%

Expected lives of options granted under:

Savings-related share option schemes 3 years

Share appreciation rights 3 years

Weighted average share price for grants in the period:

Savings-related share option schemes – market and option price 558.5p to 606.5p

Share appreciation rights – market and option price 661p 

The expected volatility is based on historical volatility over the last three years. The expected life is the average expected period to exercise. 
The risk-free rate of return is the yield on zero-coupon UK Government bonds of a term consistent with the assumed option life.

Share option
schemes – 

shares

Savings-related
share option 

schemes

Options outstanding Number

Weighted
exercise

price Number

Weighted
exercise

price

At 4 May 2008 634,500 492p 265,951 530p 

Options exercised (153,130) 474p (72,665) 434p 

Options forfeited (239,120) 537p (34,504) 567p 

At 30 April 2009 242,250 460p 158,782 566p 

For share options exercised in the period, the weighted average share price at the date of exercise was 461p per share.

The number of shares exercisable at the end of the period was as follows; SAYE nil (2008: 73,955) and ESOS 211,500 (2008: 541,500).

Notes to the Accounts
 continued
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30. Employee share schemes continued

Outstanding options granted under all schemes are as follows:

                  Number of options
Weighted average remaining 

                    contractual life (years)

PriceOptions granted 2009 2008 2009 2008

Savings-related share option schemes

February 2005  – 73,955  – 0.1  – 

September 2006 25,437 35,014 0.5 1.5 606.5p 

April 2008 133,345 156,982 2.0 3.0 558.5p 

Total 158,782 265,951 1.8 2.0 566.2p 

Company and executive share option schemes

July 2001 6,000 156,000 2.2 3.2 583.5p 

September 2002 41,000 97,000 3.4 4.4 443.0p 

December 2002 10,000 10,000 3.7 4.7 443.0p 

September 2003 93,000 157,500 4.4 5.4 412.5p 

July 2004 92,250 214,000 5.2 6.2 509.0p 

Total 242,250 634,500 4.5 5.0 459.9p

Performance Share Plan and Share Appreciation Rights (LTIP)
The Group operates a Performance Share Plan and Share Appreciation Rights Scheme whereby awards are granted to directors and 
senior management at no cost. The percentage of each award that vests is based upon the performance of the Group over a three-year 
measurement period. The performance conditions consist of two parts. Condition one is satisfied if the total shareholder return (TSR) of 
Consort Medical plc is equal to or exceeds the TSR of the FTSE All Share Health Index. If condition one is not satisfied the awards lapse.  
If condition one has been satisfied then the table below sets out the percentage of an award that vests or becomes exercisable.

Percentage per annum by which Consort Medical plc’s growth in EPS exceeds the growth  
in the Retail Prices Index (RPI) over the performance period Proportion of award that vests

Less than 3% pa Nil

Between 3% and 10% pa (EPS% – RPI% – 3%) x 10.71 + 25%

10% pa or more 100%

During the period awards of performance shares were granted to a number of employees. The fair value per performance share granted  
has been calculated using a Monte Carlo share pricing model. The assumptions used in the calculation are as follows:

Grant date 1 August 2008 6 October 2008

Share price at grant date 537.5p 523.0p

Shares under option 303,788 77,572 

Vesting period 3 years 3 years

Volatility 35.95% 37.54%

Dividend yield 3.55% 3.65%

Risk-free rate 4.84% 3.70%

Fair value per performance share 260.8p 247.9p 

Number of shares issuable Number

Weighted 
average exercise 

price

Performance shares

At 4 May 2008 391,759  –

Awards granted 381,360  –

Awards vested (98,360)  –

Awards forfeited (76,021)  – 

At 30 April 2009 598,738 – 

Share appreciation rights

At 4 May 2008 148,673 628p 

At 30 April 2009 148,673 628p 
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31. Commitments and contingent liabilities

 Group  Company

2009 
£000 

2008 
£000 

2009 
£000 

2008 
£000 

(i) Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided in the accounts 562 3,598  –  – 

(ii) Commitments under operating leases:

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

No later than one year 564 89  –  – 

Later than one year and no later than five years 1,887 204  –  – 

Later than five years and no later than 25 years 2,250  –  –  – 

4,701 293  –  – 

(iii) Cross-guarantees

There is a guarantee agreement from Group undertakings to the Royal Bank of Scotland plc in respect of the Group's bank borrowings which amounted to £38.0m 
(2008: £32.0m) at 30 April 2009.

Notes to the Accounts
 continued
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32. Related party transactions
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Group and Company and the principal subsidiaries  
listed in the following table:

Subsidiaries
Country of registration (or 

incorporation) and operation

% of ordinary 
shares held by 
the Company

% of ordinary 
shares held by 

the Group Nature of business

Bespak Europe Limited United Kingdom 100 100 Drug delivery device manufacturer

Integrated Aluminium Components 
Limited

United Kingdom – 100 Manufacturer of anodised parts and pressings

Bespak, LLC USA – 100 Commercial services

King Systems Corporation USA – 100 Anaesthesia equipment manufacturer

H&M Rubber Inc USA – 100 Elastomer component manufacturer

Associate
Emergent Respiratory Products Inc.
The Group has a 51% holding in Emergent Respiratory Products Inc., a manufacturing company registered in California, USA.  
Emergent Respiratory Products Inc. reports to 31 December.

The following table provides the total amount of transactions which have been entered into with related parties for the relevant financial 
period. The Group table for 2008 includes amounts owing by and to Integrated Aluminium Components Limited (IACL) which were not 
consolidated in the consolidated balance sheet at 3 May 2008.

Group Sale of goods and services Purchase of goods and services Amounts owed by related parties Amounts owed to related parties

2009
£000

2008
£000

2009
£000

2008
£000

2009
£000

2008
£000

2009
£000

2008
£000

IACL – – – – – 3,551 – 56 

 

Company Sale of goods and services Purchase of goods and services Amounts owed by related parties Amounts owed to related parties

2009
£000

2008
£000

2009
£000

2008
£000

2009
£000

2008
£000

2009
£000

2008
£000

Subsidiaries 4,642 5,556 1,256 1,323 64,208 47,944 49,731 45,331

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
The sales to and purchases from related party receivables or payables are made at normal market prices. Outstanding balances that  
relate to trading balances are unsecured, interest-free and settlement occurs in cash. Long-term loans owed to and from the Company  
by subsidiary undertakings generally bear market rates of interest in accordance with the intercompany loan agreements. There have been 
no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables. No other provisions have been made for doubtful debts 
relating to amounts owed by related parties (2008: £nil). This assessment is undertaken each financial period through examining  
the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
Key management personnel includes directors (executive and non-executive), members of the Executive Committee and the Company Secretary.

The compensation of the key management personnel of the Group is set out below in aggregate for each of the categories specified in IAS 24 
‘Related party disclosures’. For further information about the remuneration of individual directors please see the Remuneration Report.

 Group  Company

2009
£000

2008
£000

2009
£000

2008
£000

Short-term employee benefits 2,693 2,596 1,864 1,665 

Post-employment benefits 203 210 150 163 

Termination benefits 725 354 303 354 

Share-based payments 580 533 382 264 

4,201 3,693 2,699 2,446 
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Independent Auditors’ Report
 to the members of Consort Medical plc

We have audited the financial statements of Consort Medical plc  
for the period ended 30 April 2009 which comprise the Consolidated 
Income Statement, the Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets, 
the Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements, the 
Consolidated and Company Statements of Recognised Income and 
Expense and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European 
Union and, as regards the parent company financial statements, as 
applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors 
As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’ responsibilities 
set out on page 25, the directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give  
a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require  
us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards 
for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only 
for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Sections 
495 to 497 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. 
We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility 
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is 
shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly 
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate  
to the Group’s and the parent company’s circumstances and  
have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the 
directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements.
 
Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion: 
•  The financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of 

the Group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 30 April 
2009 and of the Group’s profit and Group’s and parent company’s 
cash flows for the period then ended

•  The Group financial statements have been properly prepared 
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union 

•  The parent company financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European 
Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2006

•  The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards  
the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the lAS Regulation

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion: 
•  The part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has 

been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006
•  The information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial 

period for which the financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the financial statements 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following: 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you  
if, in our opinion: 
•  Adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent 

company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us

•  The parent company financial statements and the part of 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not  
in agreement with the accounting records and returns 

•  Certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by 
law are not made 

•  We have not received all the information and explanations 
we require for our audit 

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review: 
•  The Statement of directors’ responsibilities, set out on page 25, 

in relation to going concern
•  The parts of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to 

the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2006 
Combined Code specified for our review

Jackie Bradshaw (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Milton Keynes
23 June 2009
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Five-Year Summary

2009 
£000 

2008
(Re-presented)

£000 
2007 
£000 

2006 
£000 

2005 
£000 

Revenue from products and services (continuing) 120,343 114,109 102,233 80,156 68,274 

Revenue from products and services (discontinued) – 12,808 21,454 6,252 9,620

Revenue from tooling and equipment 9,560 6,034 2,793 1,152 1,492 

Revenue 129,903 132,951 126,480 87,560 79,386 

Operating expenses (111,045) (113,846) (106,955) (72,815) (68,831)

Operating profit after special items 18,858 19,105 19,525 14,745 10,555 

Exceptional operating (expenses)/income (3,749) (10,809) – 901 (6,066)

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets (2,026) (1,665) (1,752) (659) – 

Operating profit 13,083 6,631 17,773 14,987 4,489 

Finance income 843 737 601 825 894 

Finance expenses (1,455) (1,886) (2,017) (1,030) (157)

Other finance (expenses)/income (276) 2 (433) (501) (393)

Share of joint ventures and associates (111) (356) (27) 10 (17)

Impairment of investment in associate (125) (953) (242) – – 

Profit before tax 11,959 4,175 15,655 14,291 4,816 

Taxation (4,381) (1,546) (4,213) (3,570) (2,498)

Profit for the financial period 7,578 2,629 11,442 10,721 2,318 

Loss for the period from discontinued operations – – (1,635) (399) – 

Profit for the financial period 7,578 2,629 9,807 10,322 2,318 

Basic earnings per share 26.2p 9.3p 34.8p 37.9p 8.7p 

Diluted earnings per share 26.0p 9.1p 34.2p 37.3p 8.5p 

Adjusted earnings per share 45.1p 44.7p 44.3p 37.4p 31.3p 

Dividends declared 19.1p 19.1p 19.1p 19.1p 19.1p 

Notes:
1. The financial information has been extracted from the audited accounts for 2005 to 2009 inclusive. 
2. The results for 2005 have not been re-presented for discontinued operations.
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Website
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Auditors
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Principal bankers
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Investec Bank (UK) Ltd
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www.capitaregistrars.com
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Financial Calendar

Period end

30 Apr 2009

2008/09 2009/10

Announcement of half-year results

 Dec 2009
Annual General Meeting

16 Sept 2009
Ex-dividend date

23 Sept 2009

Interim dividend date

 Feb 2010

Record date

25 Sept 2009

Year end

30 Apr 2010

Payment of final dividend

23 Oct 2009
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